Public Document Pack

Planning Agenda
Thursday, 6 June 2019 at 6.00 pm
Council Chamber, Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings, TN34 3UY.
Please enter the building via the Tourist Information Centre entrance.
For further information, please contact Coral Harding on 01424 451764 or email:
charding@hastings.gov.uk
Page No.
1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Declarations of Interest

3.

Minutes of previous meeting

4.

Notification of any additional urgent items

5.

Planning applications attracting a petition

6.

1 - 12

(a) Harrow Lane Playing Fields, Harrow Lane (HS/OA/17/00901)
(S Wood, Principal Planner)
http://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/onlineapplications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_H
STBC_DCAPR_114697

13 - 44

(b) Land to the rear of 5-7 Combermere Road (HS/FA/18/00825)
(S Wood, Principal Planner)
http://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/onlineapplications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_H
STBC_DCAPR_115709

45 - 60

Other Planning Applications
(a) Land to the rear of 419 to 447 Bexhill Road (HS/OA/19/00153)
(S Wood, Principal Planner)
http://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/onlineapplications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_H
STBC_DCAPR_116169

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

61 - 88

7.

(b) 19 Moorhurst Road (HS/FA/18/00924)
(E Meppem, Senior Planning Officer)
http://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/onlineapplications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_H
STBC_DCAPR_115808

89 - 98

(c) 817 The Ridge (HS/FA/19/00179)
(E Meppem, Senior Planning Officer)
http://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/onlineapplications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_H
STBC_DCAPR_116195

99 - 110

(d) 12-13 York Buildings (HS/CD/18/00487)
(S Wood, Principal Planner)
http://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/onlineapplications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_H
STBC_DCAPR_115371

111 - 120

(e) 12-13 York Buildings (HS/CD/18/00490)
(S Wood, Principal Planner)
http://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/onlineapplications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_H
STBC_DCAPR_115374

121 - 134

Planning Appeals and Delegated Decisions

135 - 138

Agenda Item
3 Document Pack
Public
PLANNING

1 MAY 2019
Present: Councillors Roberts (Chair), Davies (Vice-Chair), K Beaney (substitute for
Councillor Edwards), Beaver, Bishop, O’Callaghan, Cox, Marlow-Eastwood, Scott,
Webb
119.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies received from Councillor Edwards (substituted by Councillor K Beaney)
120.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor
Beaver

Minute
5a

Beaver

Webb

All – relating to
highways
All – relating to
highways
6a

O’Callaghan

6a

K Beaney

6a

Beaver

6a

Scott

All – relating to
highways
6b

Webb

Beaney, Beaver,
Marlow-Eastwood

Interest
Personal – doctor’s
surgery part of wider
site
Personal - ESCC
councillor
Personal - ESCC
councillor
Prejudicial – Agent
helping him organise
an event
Prejudicial – son
recently srarted
employment at
Hastings Pier
Personal – met the
applicant in June last
year. Did not discuss
the application.
Personal – The agent
is known to him as a
resident. Maintains an
open mind.
ESCC councillor
Personal Conservative party
headquarters in the
same area.

Councillor Alan Roberts added that due to an ongoing standards
complaint against him regarding the Pier application he would not take

PagePC.
11

PLANNING
1 MAY 2019

part in the application and would leave the chamber for the discussion
and voting of item 6a. Councillor Davies will take over as Chair for that
item.
121.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 3 APRIL 2019

RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting held on 3 April 2019 be approved
by the Chair as a true record.
122.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS ATTRACTING A PETITION

122.1 The Ice House, Rock-a-Nore Road (HS/FA/18/00850)
Proposal

Application number
Conservation area
Listed Building
Consultation

Proposed change of use from existing
garage (ground floor of Block D) to
Tapas restaurant (A3 use), including
external alterations to front elevation.
HS/FA/18/00850
Yes - Old Town
No
Yes - 6 letters of objection and 1 petition
of objection received.

Richard Temple, Principal Planning Officer, presented the application for a proposed
change of use from existing garage to Tapas restaurant (A3 use). He commented that
objections have been received and through consultation with Environmental Health
they have advised a condition be imposed to limit noise which is condition 4. The main
concerns from the objections are noise and pollution via smells so conditions have
been added (condition 3 and 4). He advised that the site is in a Conservation Area
however the Conservation Officer does not object but has asked for more information
regarding the security shutters.
Councillors were shown plans, photographs and elevations of the application site.
The petitioner, Mr Oliver, was present and spoke against the application. He
commented that residents need parking for their vehicles and that the applicant did not
inform residents of his plan to change the use of the garage. There would be an
increase in noise pollution directly under his property floor and outside his balcony. He
commented that he was careful not to purchase a property above a commercial
property initially as customers coming and going and smokers outside will cause a
disturbance. Most shops in the area are closed by 6pm to limit impact on residents.
The report states that the plan shows a lift however the lease agreed by the
freeholders includes the lift so there would be no way to access the waste storage
area due to commercial use. There will be a removal of security and safety of the
entrance for residents.

PC. 2

Page 2

PLANNING
1 MAY 2019
Councillors asked Mr Oliver if the conditions had gone any way to addressing the
issues he had outlined. Mr Oliver responded that the coming and going of people is
the main issue as it is intrusive and intimidating.
The applicant, Mr Murdoch, was present and spoke in support of the application. He
commented that when the apartments were purchased there was already planning
permission for use as a hotel and restaurant and the owners were aware at this time.
The points raised were relevant then but not now and if the owners didn’t complain
then then they shouldn’t complain now. The building next door has A3 use; both sides
of apartments C and B have A3 use. Next door which is around 11 inches away is
licensed until 1am. There are no problems and very little trouble. He commented that
he had never offered the garage to residents for use. He also commented that
residents have complained about it being a Spanish style restaurant but it will not be a
Spanish style restaurant it will be a Tapas restaurant that will purchase fish locally and
prepare it off site. It will serve hot and cold tapas on site but it is microwaved so will
not generate much smell.
Councillors asked Mr Murdoch if he would be able to manage the smokers outside to
help the residents. Mr Murdoch answered that it is a human right and he cannot stop
people, there is already a restaurant about 10 inches away so this won’t change
anything.
The Ward Councillor, Councillor Bacon, was present and spoke against the
application. He stated that there is significant objection from residents from the ice
house and beyond. The area of Rock-A-Nore contains family attractions and is a
Conservation Area. Although permission was already granted for a restaurant do we
really need more of these? With addition of a doctor surgery soon in the area there will
be much more traffic and the noise will affect the residents. Having smokers outside of
their homes is not conducive to a healthy lifestyle; residents want sea air and not
cigarette smoke. Police have had reservations about this application as it would attract
anti-social behaviour. There has been a lack of consultation with the residents and a
lack of knowledge of the area. The state of the bins in the area should raise deep
concerns. This application should be rejected.
Richard Temple, Principal Planning Officer, spoke on some of the points raised.
Regarding the police they initially expressed concerns when it was proposedto be a
bar but not now that A3 use has been confirmed. There is a strict condition regarding
waste (condition 6) that will not allow the restaurant to open until the Council are
happy with the waste disposal scheme. The objections received for the application all
appear to be local. The conditions in this application are standard for this type of use
and prevent opening or operating until they are met. The Conservation Officer has had
no objection to this application.
Councillors discussed the application. Members asked if the Police were now happy
with the application as A3 use. The Principal Planning Officer answered that they did
not go back to the Police as the A3 use had met their concern already. Councillors
asked if the smoking area could be limited to outside the existing restaurant but were
told that limitations of the space meant that it would not be possible. Councillors asked
if an informative could be added to requiring the applicant to put up signage
PC. 3

Page 3

PLANNING
1 MAY 2019
requesting customers to respect the amenity of neighbouring dwellings when exiting
the tapas restaurant.
Councillor Davies proposed a motion, seconded by Councillor Beaver, to grant the
application as set out in the resolution below including the additional informative 6.
RESOLVED – (9 for, to 1 against) that Full Planning Permission be granted
subject to the following conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans:
736-01, 736-002C, 736-03A, 736-04A, 736-05A, 736-06A, 736-07A, 736-08A, 736010, and 736-011.
3. The A3 restaurant hereby approved shall not be open to customers until a scheme
of suitable sound insulation has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority and the approved details have been carried out to the satisfaction
of the Local Planning Authority. The submitted scheme shall ensure that noise and
music arising from the premises shall be not exceed 45db between the hours of 07:0022:00 and not exceed 35db after 22:00. In assessing this noise level, noise shall
include that arising from all mechanical and electrical equipment used by the
premises, as well as noise arising from customers in the premises.
4. Notwithstanding the details submitted, before the restaurant hereby approved is first
open to customers a detailed scheme of any external extraction, and duct / ventilation
system(s) (for heating plant system, toilet ducts, any proposed kitchen cooking / food
preparation extraction system to the outside and ventilation/ extract ventilation to
outside for waste storage facility), and maintenance of each, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The system(s) as approved must
be implemented before the restaurant is first opened to customers.
5. Prior to the restaurant being open to customers full details of the design of the
proposed open grille restaurant security shutters and colour shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and thereafter the security shutters
as approved shall be installed before the restaurant is opened to customers.
6. Before the restaurant hereby approved is first open to customers a detailed scheme
for the storage, management and collection of commercial waste shall be submitted to
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the agreed scheme
shall be implemented at all times unless otherwise first agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority.
7. The premises shall not be used except between the following hours:12:00 noon - 22.30 Monday - Sunday inclusive.
PC. 4

Page 4

PLANNING
1 MAY 2019
8. Deliveries and private waste collections to and from the premises shall not take
place outside the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 Monday to Friday, 08:00 to
13:00 on Saturday and at no time on Sundays or Public/Bank Holidays.
Reasons:
1. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3. To control potential noise nuisance in compliance with policy DM6 of Hastings
Development Management Plan, and to protect the amenity of neighbouring
properties.
4. To protect the amenity of neighbouring residential properties.
5. To protect the character of the conservation area and in accordance with
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) - Shopfronts and Advertisements.
6. To safeguard local amenity and in the interests of Highway Safety.
7. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residents and as advised by East Sussex
Police.
8. To protect residential amenity.
Notes to the Applicant
1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result in
enforcement action without further warning.
2. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive and
proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.
3. FOOD SAFETY
The applicant is strongly advised to contact the Environmental Health Team before
services, fixtures and fittings etc. are installed for advice on satisfying the
requirements of food safety law. The Food Business Operator will be required to
register the establishment with the Local Council 28 days prior to opening. The
registration form can be found online at
http://www.hastings.gov.uk/environmentalhealth/food_safety/businesses/foo
dpacks/caterers/
HEALTH AND SAFETY
PC. 5

Page 5

PLANNING
1 MAY 2019
The applicant is strongly advised to contact the Environmental Health Division before
services, fixtures and fittings etc. are installed for advice on satisfying the
requirements of Health and Safety Law.
4. Signage for the restaurant hereby approved is likely to require an application for
advertisement consent. Applications for express advertisement consent may be made
on-line using the following link:
https://www.hastings.gov.uk/planning/advice/planning_advertising/
5. A3 restaurant use will require a premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003 to
authorise the sale by retail of Alcohol for consumption on the premises.
6. The applicant is advised to display internal signage requiring customers to respect
the amenity of neighbouring dwellings when exiting the tapas restaurant.
123.

OTHER PLANNING APPLICATIONS

123.1 Hastings Pier, White Rock (HS/FA/18/00896)
Councillors Webb and O’Callaghan left the chamber due to their prejudicial interest in
item 6a. Councillor Roberts also left the chamber and Councillor Davies as Vice-Chair
chaired the meeting during consideration of item 6(a).
Proposal

Application number
Conservation area
Listed Building
Consultation

Change of use from internal visitor centre
function room into a family
entertainments centre (Sui Generis) to
include amusement arcade machines
HS/FA/18/00896
Yes - Eversfield Place
Yes - Grade II
Yes - 34 letters of objection and 2 letters
of support received.

Stephanie Wood, Principal Planner, presented the application. She updated that
Historic England had confirmed that it is not the intention of the listing to designate the
visitor centre, and that post 2016 structures are not considered to contribute to the
special architectural or historic interest of the Pier. Three late objections had been
received. Mrs Wood commented that the application is for a change of use and not for
any external changes as this would require a separate application. Historic England
and the Conservation Officer had raised no objection. The application would allow for
family orientated amusements and would require additional licensing for any changes.
This application is not for adult gambling use, it is not harmful to the listed structure as
it is just a change of use. It should increase the footfall on the Pier and help with its
viability.
Councillors were shown plans, photographs and elevations of the application site.
Councillors discussed how the machines were confirmed to be family orientated but
the number was unknown. The Principal Planner commented that the number of
machines is not required information and the building regulations will cover the
PC. 6

Page 6

PLANNING
1 MAY 2019
amount that the building can safely house. Councillors discussed the family
amusements and if over 18’s attractions could be added at a later date. The Principal
Planner added that this application is not for over 18’s attractions. Councillors
discussed some concerns with the application such as noise and signage for the
amusements. Also the loss of other forms of income such as the weddings and events
held on the pier. The Principal Planner added that any signage would require separate
planning permission but the noise is not something that can really be dealt with due to
the small nature of the site compared to other arcades like the flamingo arcade.
Councillor Beaver proposed a motion, seconded by Councillor Marlow-Eastwood, to
grant the application as set out in the resolution below:
RESOLVED – (6 for, to 1 against) that Full Planning Permission be granted
subject to the following conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans:
02, 09A, 10A
3. The premises shall not be used except between the following hours:9am - 9pm Monday - Sunday (including Bank Holidays)
Reasons:
1. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining and future residents.
Notes to the Applicant
1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result in
enforcement action without further warning.
2. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive and
proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.
3. The applicant is advised that any external alterations may require full planning
and/or listed building consent.
123.2 22 Theaklen Drive (HS/FA/18/01041)
PC. 7

Page 7

PLANNING
1 MAY 2019
Councillors Webb, Roberts and O’Callaghan returned to the chamber.
Proposal
Application number
Conservation area
Listed Building
Consultation

Change of use for existing first floor from
B1/B2
to D2 (gymnasium)
HS/FA/18/01041
No
No
Yes - 5 letters of objection received.

Stephanie Wood, Principal Planner, presented the application for the change of use to
a gym. Five letters of objection had been received and the application is on council
owned land. The application is only for the first floor. The building has traditionally
been for Business / Industrial use, Council policy requires the applicant to submit
evidence to show that it is no longer viable. If B1/B2 use isn’t viable then next they
look at mixed use. The ground floor is still B1/B2 use and there is parking in the
basement beneath. There are other gym competitors nearby but that is not a planning
consideration. The occupants of the ground floor have expressed concerns regarding
vibrations from above on their work and the effect that may have on their business.
Environmental Health have been consulted.
Councillors were shown plans, photographs and elevations of the application site.
Councillors asked questions of the Principal Planner, including how the property was
marketed and if there is any other entrance to the floor outside of the stairs shown in
the drawing. The Principal Planner answered that it was marketed on the council
website and with local agents and there is a lift for access as well as the stairs.
Councillors spoke about the loss of employment space, but mentioned that an
employment space for 7 staff is better than a vacant building. They also commented
that they were reassured by the consultation with the Environmental Health Team.
Parking was also discussed including shared space with ASDA. The Principal Planner
commented that the applicants have already discussed with ASDA. Councillors
discussed adding a note about parking but were informed by the Principal Planner that
on-site parking had already been agreed as acceptable including by ESCC.
Councillor Beaver proposed a motion, seconded by Councillor Davies, to grant the
application as set out in the resolution below:
RESOLVED – (7 for, to 3 against) that Full Planning Permission be granted
subject to the following conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans:
CHE2732-01, CHE2732-02, CHE2732-03, CHE2732-04, CHE2732-05 and CHE273206
PC. 8

Page 8

PLANNING
1 MAY 2019
3. Prior to the operation of the proposed use a full noise report covering the whole site
in accordance to BS 4142: 2014 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, noise shall include that arising
from all mechanical or electrical equipment used in the premises. Any noise mitigation
measures recommended in the submitted noise report shall be installed prior to the
commencement of the proposed use and shall be retained thereafter.
4. Details, including acoustic specifications of all fixed plant machinery and equipment
associated with air moving equipment, including fans, ducting and external openings,
installed within the site which has the potential to cause noise disturbance to any
noise sensitive receivers, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to installation.
5. No part of the development shall be occupied until the car parking has been
constructed and provided in accordance with the approved plans. The areas shall
thereafter be retained for that use and shall not be used other than for the parking of
motor vehicles.
6. No part of the development shall be occupied until covered and secure cycle
parking spaces have been provided in accordance with plans and details submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The areas shall thereafter be
retained for that use and shall not be used other than for the parking of cycles.
7. No part of the development shall be occupied until the vehicle turning space has
been constructed within the site in accordance with the approved plans. This space
shall thereafter be retained at all times for this use.
Reasons:
1. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3. To prevent potential noise nuisance from the activities that are to take place in the
proposed fitness centre.
4. To prevent potential noise nuisance from the activities that are to take place in the
proposed fitness centre.
5. To provide car-parking space for the development.
6. To provide alternative travel options to the use of the car in accordance with current
sustainable transport policies.
7. In the interests of road safety.
Notes to the Applicant
PC. 9

Page 9

PLANNING
1 MAY 2019
1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result in
enforcement action without further warning.
2. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive and
proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.
3. The applicant is advised that the access into the basement car park should be
widened to avoid conflicting movements that may occur given the current single
access width.
123.3 Proposed Catering Unit, Upper Promenade, Marina (HS/FA/19/00107)
Proposal

Application number
Conservation area
Listed Building
Consultation

Variation of condition 2 (location times) &
3 (removal of catering unit) of Planning
Permission HS/FA/17/00885 - Change of
use of land to concession site for
stationing of catering vehicle (nonpermanent) - Amendment
- vehicle to be located on site from
Thursday to Sunday, with revised trading
hours 12 - 9pm Thursday to Sunday
(including public holidays)
HS/FA/19/00107
Yes - Burtons' St. Leonards
No
Yes – None received

Stephanie Wood, Principal Planner, presented the application regarding a change of
use of the land. The owners want to vary conditions to keep the van there Thursday to
Sunday and increase the opening hours by an hour.
Councillors were shown plans, photographs and elevations of the application site.
Councillors discussed adding wording to condition 3 that the site is left ‘clean’.
Councillor Davies proposed a motion, seconded by Councillor Roberts, to grant the
application as set out in the resolution below with the addition of the word ‘clean’ to
Condition 3:
RESOLVED – (Unanimously) that Full Planning Permission be granted subject
to the following conditions:
1. Only one catering unit shall be stationed on the site at any one time and any
associated vehicles required to move the unit shall only be on the promenade at dropoff and collection times and at no point parked on the promenade.
PC. 10

Page 10

PLANNING
1 MAY 2019
2. The catering unit shall not be open for customers outside the following hours:
12.00 - 21.00 Thursday to Sunday
12.00 - 21.00 Public Holidays
3. The catering unit is to only be located on site from Thursday to Sunday and on
public holidays with the site being left clean, clear of litter and refuse associated with
the associated use, at all times.4. Details of any proposed external illumination of the
catering unit is to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to installation. These details shall include the siting, size, appearance,
materials, colours and finishes of the proposed lighting and only the lighting approved
is to be installed on site
5. Prior to any replacement or new catering unit being used or stationed on site, full
details of the unit are to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to first use.
Reasons:
1. To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the character and
amenity of the conservation area and surrounding listed buildings.
2. To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the character of the
conservation area and surrounding listed buildings and the amenities of the local
residential properties.
3. To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the character of the
Conservation Area and surrounding Listed Buildings and the amenities of the local
residential properties.
4. To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the character and
amenity of the Conservation Area and surrounding Listed Buildings.
5. To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the character and
amenity of the Conservation Area and surrounding Listed Buildings.
Notes to the Applicant
1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result in
enforcement action without further warning.
2. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive and
proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.
3. Any proposed catering unit is strongly advised to contact the Environmental Health
Division for advice on satisfying the requirements of food safety law.
4. The Food Business Operator will be required to register the food establishment with
Hastings Borough Council 28 days prior to opening. The registration form can be
PC. 11

Page 11

PLANNING
1 MAY 2019
found online at
http://www.hastings.gov.uk/environmentalhealth/food_safety/businesses/foodpacks/ca
terers/
5. Any proposed catering unit is strongly advised to contact the Environmental Health
Division before services, fixtures and fittings etc. are installed for advice on satisfying
the requirements of Health and Safety Law.
6. All trade business must have the correct commercial waste disposal receptacle and
contractor in place to fulfil their 'duty of care' (sec 34 EPA 1990).
124.

PLANNING APPEALS AND DELEGATED DECISIONS

Mrs Wood the Principal Planner presented that 2 appeals have been dismissed, being
35 Norman Road and Salmon Close. She stated that there are several more appeals
processing so there will be more updates at the next Planning Committee.

(The Chair declared the meeting closed at. 7.42 pm)

PC. 12

Page 12

TH E

Hall

213

3

GE

779

1

6

56
5

20
7

591

209

57
9

209
a

Shelter

RID

8

The Hollies

Shelter

777

2

±

Agenda
Item
5a rights [2019]. OS [100021328]
© Crown Copyright
and database

Old Quarry

Conveyor
Works
Tanks

40

F
EN

20

22

18

31

17

17
12 1
4

16

37

E
GR

E

0

20 15 16
40

1

4

m

OS
CL

39

17

2

m
Su

DS
IEL

21

60

11

80
Meters
9

HARR

21
19

Application No. HS/OA/17/00901

W

lls
hi
er

1

ROAD

Date: May 2019

O
KN

5

36

7

107

1

Sta

38

IELD

6

CO
Y
E
SL 1

T
UR

House

32

23

F
FAIR

12

El

4

7

26

5
1

Harrow Lane Playing Fields
Harrow Lane
St Leonards-on-sea

Scale: 1:2,500

18

14

RISE
TON
WEL

1

7

117

CL 14 1
SE
O 5
RI
SE
N
TO
EL
W

28

49

9

Alpine House 7 to 12
Crusader House
22

10

2

26

38

41 43

CLOSE

Shelter

The Fitness Loft

27
25

21

70

33

35

MISTRAL

Ashdown House

29

48

O W LA

NE

52

Outline application,(seeking approval of Access) for the erection of 140
residential units (22 no. 4-bed, 61 no. 3-bed, 36 no. 2-bed, 21 no.
1-bed units) of which fifty six are 'affordable homes', public open space,
access and landscaping at Harrow Lane Playing Fields,
St Leonards-on-sea.

Assistant Director Housing & Built Environment
Hastings Borough Council,
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451090
email: dcenquiries@hastings.gov.uk

Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

AGENDA ITEM NO: 5(a)
Report to:

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting:

06 June 2019

Report from:

Assistant Director of Housing and Built Environment

Application Address:

Application No:

Harrow Lane Playing Fields, Harrow Lane, St
Leonards-on-sea
Outline application,(seeking approval of
Access) for the erection of 140 residential units
(22 no. 4-bed, 61 no. 3-bed, 36 no. 2-bed, 21 no.
1-bed units) of which fifty six are 'affordable
homes', public open space, access and
landscaping at Harrow Lane Playing Fields, St
Leonards-on-sea.
HS/OA/17/00901

Recommendation:

Grant Outline Planning Permission

Ward:
Conservation Area:
Listed Building:

ASHDOWN 2018
No
No

Applicant:

HASTINGS BOROUGH COUNCIL per Kember
Loudon Williams Ridgers Barn Bunny Lane Eridge,

Proposal:

Tunbridge Wells. TN3 9HA
Public Consultation
Site Notice:
Press Advertisement:
Letters of Objection:
Petitions of Objection Received:
Letters of Support:
Petitions of Support Received:
Neutral comments received
Application Status:

Yes

Yes - Council Application
22
1
0
0
0
Not delegated - Petition received
Council application on Council owned land

ADDENDUM - Amendments since 12th September 2018 committee
The application was recommended for approval by Councillors subject to a Section 106
(S106) agreement on 12th September 2018.

Page 15

Since the Planning Committee the requirements of the Section 106 agreement have been
altered to include:





removal of £5000 financial contribution as this is dealt with by condition 15 linked to the
Traffic Regulation Order (TRO).
include description towards off-site highway works (secured by a section 278 agreement).
These works would be Bus Stops (northbound and southbound), with clearways shelters,
real time information and seating, ghost right turn lane and suitable pedestrian crossing
point.
amend bullet point 4 to include 'improving and maintaining existing play provision at
Welton Rise play area'.

Thus the new recommendation is amended to read:
A) That the Planning Services Manager be authorised to issue planning permission
upon completion of an agreement under S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act
to secure:









a financial contribution of up to £337,400 towards local highway improvements;
a section 278 agreement for off-site highway works including Bus Stops
(northbound and southbound), with clearways shelters, real time information
and seating, ghost right turn lane and suitable pedestrian crossing point;
a Travel Plan and associated auditing contribution of £6,000;
a financial contribution towards improving and maintaining existing play
provision at Welton Rise play area of £110,600;
the maintenance, management and monitoring of trees, protected species and
wildlife areas;
a financial contributions to libraries of £36,820;
a financial contribution to public rights of way of £3,360;
provision on site of 56 affordable dwellings

These amendments to the S106 are the sole issue to be considered by the Planning
Committee as a resolution to grant permission has already been granted.
The 12 September Planning Committee Report is copied below.

1.

Background

The application was reported to the planning Committee on the 15th August 2018.
Members deferred the determination of the application and requested that additional
information be presented to justify the point of entrance to the site and option test the potential
use a roundabout access. The use of the site for residential use is established by the Local
Plan, only the detail with regards to the access arrangement to be agreed given that this is an
outline application.
The applicant has advised they have considered alternative routes into the site and a mini
roundabout option. Neither is considered acceptable or practical and given that ESCC find
the proposed access arrangements acceptable there is no technical highways reason for
amending it.

Page 16

The Officer Report was taken to the 15th August Planning Committee and is copied below
with the following sections updated:




2.

Access, parking and highways safety
Representations
Ecology, trees and open space.

Summary

The application site is 4.75ha, in the western part of the Borough allocated within the Local
Plan to accommodate a possible net capacity of 140 dwellings. The site is framed by Harrow
Lane to the west and Welton Rise to the south. The site adjoins two identified development
sites, Holmhurst St. Mary to the East and 77 The Ridge to the north.
This is an outline planning application for the provision of up to 140 residential dwellings with
all matters, other than access, reserved.
The proposal has been accompanied by indicative plans and supporting technical
documentation, outlined below. An Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) was not
required as the applicable threshold of 150 residential units and 5ha were not triggered:








Planning Statement
Design and Access Statement
Transport Statement
Flood Risk Assessment and Outline Surface Water Drainage Strategy
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement
Archaeological Site Investigation

Since the application was originally submitted, the indicative layout remains unaltered, further
information has been provided to address comments made with regard to air quality and
impact on Special Areas of Conservation (SAC’s),Archaeology Assessment and additional
information submitted to support Flood Risk Assessment.
As the proposal is in outline form only, the main consideration is the principle of the
development, but to help with that assessment consideration has been given to the impact on
the character and appearance of the area, the standard of the accommodation proposed, the
impact on neighbouring residential amenities, highway safety and parking related matters, the
impact on protected species and biodiversity (including trees), flooding and surface water
drainage issues, air quality, noise and vibration, land contamination, heritage and
archaeology.
Having considered these issues, the responses from objectors and the responses from
statutory and non-statutory consultees, I consider the proposed development conforms to the
development plan and is sustainable development in the context of the NPPF. The
recommendation is that the planning permission be granted subject to conditions and a s106
legal agreement.

3.

The Site and Surrounding Area

Page 17

The application site is 4.75ha, in the western part of the Borough, it is framed by Harrow Lane
to the west. The site adjoins two identified development sites, Holmhurst St.Mary (granted
Outline consent for the development of 208 units) to the East and 777 The Ridge (Outline
application for up to 50 dwellings submitted awaiting determination) to the north.
The application site was formerly used as a recreation ground (football fields), this use ceased
in 2011 and the site has been deemed surplus to recreational use requirement. The loss of
this site as a recreation ground was considered in detail at the Local Plan Inquiry when
considering its allocation as a development site.
As such the site is undeveloped, it enjoys
an elevated position with a slight slope to the south-west. The site is an irregular form
tapering to a point towards the south. Residential development adjoins the site boundary to
the south-east, Fleetwood Close and Welton Rise. To the west, opposite Harrow Lane, is a
complex of buildings associated with Ashdown House, adjoined by an industrial site.
Residential uses front on Harrow Lane further to the north and south.
The primary access point to the site is currently on the north-west corner of the site off Harrow
Lane, this can accommodate vehicular access. Pedestrian access onto the site is also
available from Harrow Lane and The Ridge. The site has an informal and unpaved footpath
running around the perimeter, a public footpath runs to the north and east boundary, providing
excellent connections with the adjoining sites.
The site is currently characterised by an open green space that was the former football pitches
with densely planted hedgerows with mature trees on its boundaries, these have high
ecological value.
The site is allocated for housing in the Hastings Local Plan: Development Management Plan
(DMP) site policy LRA2, site constraints include, ecology, archaeology, flood risk, access and
pedestrian routes.
The site is located in a setting comprising residential, commercial, community facilities and
rural elements. Development in the area is primarily two/three storey in scale, with pitched
roofs.
The nearest bus stop to the application site is located on Harrow Lane, close walking distance
to the site, the buses provide good connections to Hastings and St. Leonards and surrounding
areas.

4.

Proposed development

The outline application, with all matters reserved for future approval except for access, is for a
development of up to 140 residential dwellings. The description of development for the
proposed scheme is:
“The erection of 140 residential units (22 no. 4-bed, 61 no. 3-bed, 36 no. 2-bed, 21 no. 1-bed
units) of which fifty six are ‘affordable homes’, public open space, access and landscaping at
Harrow Lane Playing Fields, St Leonards-on-sea. All matters are reserved for subsequent
determination except for means of access.”
The illustrative masterplan submitted with the application suggested the layout for the scheme
and associated parking and landscape areas. The proposed residential development of the

Page 18

application site for 140 units comprises a mix of dwellings (semi-detached or terraced), flats
over garages and apartments, which are in three blocks – two of which are situated at the
entrance to the site, and one situated at the central arrival junction on the new access road.
The indicative masterplan demonstrates that a development of this scale and associated
infrastructure can be comfortably accommodated on the site with a satisfactory degree of soft
landscaping and openspace. Whilst the masterplan is not being submitted for approval it
provides the basis for which any future reserved matters application should be based.
In addition to the number of residential units, permission will also be sought for the associated
vehicular and pedestrian access; this will be from a new vehicular access point via Harrow
Lane. The impacts of this have been assessed in both highways and ecological terms.
Walking and cycling links have been incorporated into the design in order to improve local
connectivity and preserve the Public Right of Way and access to it on the Site.
The Council’s illustrative design brief for the subject site suggests that the potential access
point could be or close to the existing public footpath route that runs alongside the northern
boundary. The application proposed a new access point further to the south, this will reduce
potential conflict with users of the existing public footpath and provide enhanced spacing with
access to the 777 The Ridge site.
Following liaisons with the East Sussex County Council Highway Authority, the application
proposal provides a ‘ghost island’ right turning filter lane on Harrow Lane to serve the
development and help ensure traffic flow is not restricted. As part of the access design, two
footways of width 2 metres will connect between the site and the existing footways on Harrow
Lane.
In terms of car parking the illustrative masterplan indicates a total of approximately 223
allocated and 68 unallocated car parking spaces. Of the unallocated spaces, approximately
28 spaces would be visitor spaces and 40 would be residents’ spaces.
The proposed scheme will also include the provision of new green space within the site
boundary and extensive boundary landscaping. The potential relationship of the application
site with the development of the two allocated sites to the north and east has been considered
in a combined masterplan.

Previous Site History
Pre Application Forum held 5th October 2016 to present the possible scheme to public and
councillors
No other relevant planning history
National and Local Policies
Hastings Local Plan – The Hastings Planning Strategy (2014)
DS1 - New Housing Development
FA2 - Strategic Policy for Central Area
SC1 - Overall Strategy for Managing Change in a Sustainable Way
SC3 - Promoting Sustainable and Green Design
SC4 - Working Towards Zero Carbon Development
SC7 - Flood Risk
EN1 – Built and Historic Environment

Page 19

EN2 - Green Infrastructure Network
EN3 - Nature Conservation and Improvement of Biodiversity
EN5 - Nature Reserves
EN6 - Local Wildlife Sites
EN7 – Conservation and Enhancement of Landscape
EN8 – Open Spaces – Enhancement Provision and Protection
H1 - Housing Density
H2 - Housing Mix
H3 – Provision of Affordable Housing
CI1 – Infrastructure and Development Contributions
T3 - Sustainable Transport
T4 – Travel Plans
Hastings Local Plan – Development Management Plan (2015)
LP1 - Considering Planning Applications
LP2 – Overall Approach to Site Allocations
LRA2 – Harrow Lane Playing Fields (140 dwellings)
DM1 - Design Principles
DM3 - General Amenity
DM4 - General Access
DM5 - Ground Conditions
DM6 - Pollution and Hazards
HN7 – Green Infrastructure in New Developments
HN8 - Biodiversity and Green Space
Other Policies/Guidance
Sussex Air Quality and Emissions Mitigation Guidance 2013
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Paragraph 11 sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable development and states
that development proposals which accord with the development plan should be approved
without delay. Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that applications for planning permission must
be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise.
Three dimensions of sustainability given in paragraph 8 are to be sought jointly: economic (by
ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and at the right time
to support growth and innovation); social (providing housing, creating high quality environment
with accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to, protecting and enhancing
natural, built and historic environment) whilst paragraph 9 advises that plans and decisions
need to take local circumstances into account, so they respond to the different opportunities
for achieving sustainable development in different areas.
Section 12 of the NPPF sets out the requirement for good design in development. Paragraph
124 states: “The creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the
planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities.”

Paragraph 127 of the NPPF requires that decisions should ensure developments:
 Function well;
 Add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of that development;

Page 20









Are visually attractive in terms of:
 Layout
 Architecture
 Landscaping
Are sympathetic to local character/history whilst not preventing change or innovation;
Maintain a strong sense of place having regard to:
 Building types
 Materials
 Arrangement of streets
Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate number and mix of
development;
Create safe places with a high standard of amenity for future and existing users

Paragraph 130 states permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails
to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the
way that it functions.
Paragraph 130 also seeks to ensure that the quality of an approved development is not
materially diminished between permission and completion through changes to the permitted
scheme.

5.

Consultation Comments

The Local Highway Authority (LHA) - No Objection
The LHA has raised no objection with regard to proposed vehicle access from Harrow Lane,
the indicative layout of the development or the impact on the local highway network subject to
a number of conditions and matters to be secured by a s106 legal agreement towards
accessibility, off-site highways works, pedestrian links and travel plan (Conditions 5-15).
The LHA authority confirmed in emails that the access location was the most suitable on the
Harrow Lane frontage and that the use of a roundabout would not be suitable as it did not
comply with the 'Design Manual for Roads ad Bridges' guidance (August 2007), detrimental
traffic movement and safety impacts would arise from the roundabout option. The proposed
access layout and design is considered suitable to deal with the expected volumes of traffic
generated by the proposed development and passed a vehicle safety audit assessment.
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) - No Objection
LLFA has raised no objection subject to conditions to ensure safe water run off arising from
the development (Conditions 16-19).
Southern Water - No Objection
Southern Water has raised no objection to the development. They have flagged up issues with
capacity in the sewerage network and the water mains and sewers crossing the site, but these
issues and details of the new drainage infrastructure for the site can be secured by condition
(Conditions 16-17).

County Archaeologist - No Objection
The County Archaeologist has raised no objection subject to conditions to secure the
investigation of archaeological interest (Conditions 20-21).

Page 21

Rights of Way Officer – No objection, subject to s106 to improve adjoining public footpaths
(Condition 22).
Environment & Natural Resources Manager - No objection
The Environment & Natural Resources Manager has provided comments combining all of his
team's specialism, which includes ecology, trees, play areas and open space. No objection to
the development has been raised subject to conditions in relation to CEMP:Biodiversity,
Ecological Design Strategy and landscape and Ecological Management Plan (Condition 2328).
Tree Officer – No objection, opportunity for enhanced boundary and landscape planting, to
come forward as part of scheme detail (Condition 29).
Environment Health (EH) - No Objection
EH has provided feedback on the matters in this application relating to air quality, noise and
vibrations, and ground conditions. Conditions to be applied requiring a full assessment of
noise and air impacts of the detail of the proposed scheme at the reserved matters stage.
Phase One Contamination Report provided in response to this, Phase 2 Assessment if
required by condition (Condition 30).
Head of Housing – No objection
Subject to 40% affordable for social rent, contained in s106 legal agreement.
Sports England – Objection
Sports England are not a statutory consultee as grounds not in sports use for more than 5
years. Objection to loss of sports ground.
County Strategic Economic Infrastructure – No objection, subject to contributions
required towards Library (£36,820 and Rights of way £3,360, secured through a s106 legal
agreement).

6. Representations
There has been 23 representations received from 18 different properties. 21 from local
residents, and a representation on behalf of a local resident from the Rt.Hon Amber Rudd MP
and a petition was submitted following the Planning Committee on the 15th August 2018 with
12 signatures. The following concerns were raised:
Objections:







Loss of playing fields, open space, trees and hedges – the site is still actively used for
informal leisure use (dog walkers, exercise classes etc.)
Traffic generation and congestion – particularly along The Ridge and Harrow Lane
Road safety – lack of safe pedestrian crossings on The Ridge and Harrow Road
Air pollution impacts from more cars
Compound loss in quality of living for local people, against overall health strategy for
getting people more active
Quantum of development too high cumulatively in this vicinity

Page 22














Impacts of Bexhill to Hastings Link Road (BHLR) on The Ridge
Impact on the environment
Harm to ecology
Poor design and unimaginative scheme
Lack of social infrastructure, GP, dental and school spaces
Insufficient school places in the area will result in more car trips
Inadequate play space for children and young people
Queensway Gateway not open
Unrealistic housing targets
Holmhurst St Mary is large enough without this site coming forward
Need for a new 'village housing plan' to revitalise village life
Create a 'Land Community Trust' to deliver new more affordable homes

The petition objected to the planning application for the following reason: "In contravention of
paragraph 130 of the NPPF the proposed development does not take the opportunities
available for improving the character
and quality of the area in the way that it functions : namely with regard to highway safety and
parking related matters. Moreover we object on the basis that the development has a
quantifiable negative impact on the local
area, the quantum of development is too high with too many dwellings and that access onto
Harrow Lane has not been designed with sufficient attention to traffic volumes and safety".

7.

Planning Considerations

In determining the application Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004 states:
"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be
made under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise”.
In this instance the main policies of the development plan are listed above.
a) Principle
Policy LP1 of the Hastings Local Plan - Development Management Plan (2015), paragraph
4.3 of the Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy (2014) and paragraph 11 of the NPPF set
out a presumption in favour of sustainable development. The site is within a sustainable
location with reasonable/good access to public transport, shops, services and facilities and as
such the development is considered acceptable in principle subject to other local plan policies.
As explained above this is an outline planning application for the provision of up to 140 new
dwellings. As this is an outline planning application, the main consideration is whether the
principle of the development is acceptable as the applicant has requested that matters of
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are reserved matters and details of these will be
submitted at a later date should outline planning permission be granted. The developer has
requested that access is approved at this stage and a single point of access for vehicle traffic
is shown on the indicative layout plan submitted with the application. The access would utilise
the existing Harrow Lane. The proposal is on a previously undeveloped site and does not
include the demolition of existing buildings.

Page 23

The principle of development on the application site for residential use has been established
through the allocation of the Harrow Lane Playing Fields (Site Ref. LRA2), for residential
development, as set out in Policy LRA2 of the Hastings Local Plan Development Management
Plan (September 2015). The site has been subjected to a rigorous assessment at the Local
Plan Inquiry to prove that its use for sport and recreational use was surplus to requirements
and that it was suitable for the delivery of 140 residential units.
Concerns raised by Sport England and local residents with regards to the recreational value of
the site were considered at the Local Plan Inquiry, the grounds of objection and circumstances
relating to the sites land use designation have not changed since the Inquiry. Sports
England have raised an objection to the planning application due to the loss of recreational
facilities, they are not a statutory consultee as the grounds have not been in sports use for
more than 5 years. The Local Planning Authority are satisfied that the sites designation for
residential use was comprehensively considered at the Local Plan Inquiry and that the loss of
the recreational space is considered acceptable in land use terms.
The proposed development will help meet the housing targets set for the Borough through
Policy DS1 of the Hastings Planning Strategy (February 2014) and contribute to the 5 year
land supply. The application proposal will also make a positive contribution towards the
delivery of high quality homes that widen opportunities for home ownership and create
sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities, based on current and future demographic
trends, as encouraged by the NPPF.
In order to establish whether the principle of development is acceptable, the applicant has
provided an indicative drawing showing the layout of the development. Given the size of the
development and its potential impact, the application has also been accompanied by
supporting technical documents. Between the indicative drawings and the supporting
documents an assessment can be made on the main issues, which include, the impact on
the character and appearance of the area, the standard of the accommodation proposed, the
impact on neighbouring residential amenities, highway safety and parking related matters, the
impact on protected species and biodiversity (including trees), flooding and surface water
drainage issues, air quality, noise and vibration, land contamination, heritage and
archaeology. These considerations will help determine whether the development is
acceptable in principle as well as whether the proposed access is appropriate.
Policy LRA2 – Harrow Lane Playing Fields allocation
As mentioned above the site is allocated for residential development in the Development
Management Plan. This allocation forms part of policy LRA2. This policy is the first
consideration in establishing the principle of developing the site for residential. As the site is
allocated, significant weight can be given to residential development and this is particularly
true given that the Development Management Plan has been recently adopted. This means
that the allocation and the suitability for development can be considered up-to-date.
Development in accordance with policy LRA2 requires a number of policy criteria to be met.
As this is an outline planning application, explicit detail of the policy criteria has not been
provided but where detail is lacking this could form part of any later detailed planning
application or could be secured by imposing a planning condition. Considering this, I consider
that the proposed development is generally in conformity with policy LRA2 but the table below
summarises this in a bit more detail:
Policy LRA3 criteria
a) include 40%
The applicant proposes 40% affordable housing on site, criteria met.

Page 24

affordable housing
b) 2% of new
homes fully
adapted dwellings
for wheelchair
users
c) provide an
Ecological
Constraints and
Opportunities Plan
(ECOP),
incorporate
betterment
measures

To be a condition of any Outline Planning Permission, detail to be
defined in Reserved Matters application (condition 32).

The application does not include a document specifically referenced
as an ECOP but the ecology reports, tree reports and the landscaping
information between them identify the constraints of the site. The
ecological matters have also been considered and are discussed in
more details below. A comprehensive Landscape Framework will
come forward as a Reserved Matters Application, an ECOP will be a
condition.

d) provide new
Landscaping details are listed as reserved matters. That being said
green space and a the indicative plans show plenty of opportunity for new green space
landscape buffer
and landscape buffering. The quality of landscape provision on site is
considered to represent good design and positively contribute to
creating a visually attractive place as advocated by the NPPF.
e) provide an
arboricultural report
explaining how
trees will be
incorporated into
the development

Landscaping and layout are reserved matters but the application has
been accompanied by an arboricultural report and the indicative plans
show how trees can be incorporated within the development. This is
discussed in further detail below but I am satisfied with the impact on
trees. There will be some loss but there is also opportunity for
enhancement which is an acceptable balance.

f) Include Flood
Risk Assessment
(FRA), incorporate
SuDS
g) investigate the
feasibility of district
heating or CHP

FRA submitted and additional information on SUDS included, this has
been approved by necessary Statutory Consultees.

h) contribute to
existing play
facilities
i) include walking
and cycling links

The proposal will include its own informal play areas as well as a s106
agreement contribution to existing play facilities in the area.

j) be supported by a
transport
assessment and
travel plan.
Contributions to
highways
improvements
k) provide
connections to the
sewerage and

The proposal has been accompanied by these documents. The
matters have been considered by the Local Highway Authority, which
is discussed in further detail below, and the recommendations have
been incorporated into the proposal. Conditions and contributions
have been requested by the LHA.

This is not covered within the application but I am satisfied that such
details could be included within any reserved matters application.

These are either shown indicatively or can be secured by condition.
Final details will be included in any reserved matters application
(condition 22).

As this is an outline application, full details of this have not been
provided. Southern Water have also flagged up concerns about
capacity in the network but suggested conditions that would enable

Page 25

water supply
systems

these capacity concerns to be properly addressed (condition 17).

As can be seen from this summary the proposal currently largely demonstrates compliance
with this policy or the matters can be addressed by condition. This compliance offers support
for the development of the site and significant weight is attached to this.
b) Impact on the character of the area
The indicative layout of the application proposal is considered acceptable as the suggested
masterplan addresses the constraints of the site topography and existing landscape features.
Centrally positioned green spaces connect with the existing pathway links, contribute to visual
amenity and views enjoyed from the central and upper parts of the site.
The access road arrives at site level at the western edge of the central green with the south
eastern edge defined by a curving spine road connecting to housing areas. The concept
masterplan aims to create a sense of place through the creation of well-defined public spaces
and quality public realm. The site entrance will be framed by three storey apartment buildings
forming a gateway and leading into the central arrival space which is fronted by distinctive
crescent houses and corner buildings of 2 or 3 storeys. The scale of buildings away from the
central area would reduce to two storeys to minimise their visual impact and the Harrow Lane
frontage west and east of the entrance would be largely screened by enhanced planting.
The green edge that is a key character component of the site will be retained, the impact on
the character of the area is considered acceptable.
The proposed density in this instance is approximately 29.5 dwellings per hectare, Policy H1
of the HPS suggests 30 dwellings per hectare; the proposed development is not an overly
intensive use of the site. The site is currently undeveloped and there are no major
constraints other than edge planting, access, ecology and water run-off that restrict its
development.
Residential properties in the area are a mixture of two-storey dwellings, bungalows and chalet
bungalows and three storey block of flats. Properties are predominantly detached but there
are a number of semi-detached pairs. The proposed development will add to the types and
mix of dwellings on offer by creating family homes and smaller terrace properties that is
suitable for both younger families and those wishing to downsize.
Other concerns have related to the general intensity in activity in the area, including increased
vehicular movements. There have been worries that such increases in activity would change
the local character for the worse. Although the development will increase the local
population and development on the green space it is not accepted that the proposed
residential use would be to the detriment of local character. Whilst the proposal will certainly
change the relationship of the site with existing surrounding development, it has a low density
and is for residential use, it is not considered that an increase in development at the site of the
suggested scale warrants a refusal.
As the full details have not been submitted at this stage, any issues with regard to the size of
the properties, garden provision, issues with the layout and how it impacts on character,
relationship with neighbouring properties, etc. can be addressed at the detailed stage. It could
mean a reduction in unit numbers but as the proposal is for up to 140 units this would be
acceptable. A number of informative notes have been added to guide the design of any

Page 26

reserved matters application that is submitted.
Details of the green and sustainable design in accordance with policies DC3 and DC4 of the
Hastings Planning Strategy can be secured by condition and submitted as part of the detailed
application.
In principle the proposed development is compliant with policy SC1, EN1, EN7, H1 and H2 of
the Hastings Planning Strategy and policies DM1, DM3, and HN9 of the Development
Management Plan, and will not have an adverse impact on local character or neighbouring
amenities and homes will be built to an appropriate standard.

c) Impact on neighbouring residential amenities
The proposed development is suitably distanced from surrounding properties to the south and
east of the application site to cause no harm from loss of light, overshadowing or from being
overly dominant. The main concerns from local residents typically relate to noise and
disturbance and the impacts of overlooking.
With regard to noise and disturbance, as described above it is not considered that the
development will have a significant change in its relationship with the surrounding area.
Development would be well-spaced from existing properties and the existing topography and
natural screening should provide some protection to any increase in day-to-day household
noise.
The nearest residential properties are on Welton Rise, these are separated from the
application site by the mature trees that form an effective boundary. The properties as drawn
on the indicative layout are some 25-30m from the rear elevations of the properties.
In terms of overlooking the indicative layout means that units 62 and 80 could potentially have
no first floor habitable room windows on the side elevations facing existing neighbouring
properties on the east boundaries of the application site.
The distance of properties to the west of the application site across Harrow Lane (20m) to the
boundary of the application site, the rear elevations of unit 24 and 25 are some 40m, the
issues of privacy, overlooking and loss of daylight will not arise.
These distances will ensure that there is no harm from overlooking in planning terms, the
boundary screening will add to the level of protection from overlooking. The orientation of the
proposed properties and height will ensure that overshadowing and loss of daylight will not
result.
Some noise and disturbance during construction is inevitable but this can be minimised by
restricting working hours and the submission of a construction management plan which
should be followed during construction. Both can be secured by conditions (No11 & 24).
It is considered that the proposed development will not result in any harm to neighbouring
residential amenities. It complies with policy SC1 - Overall Strategy for Managing Change in a
Sustainable Way, of the Hastings Planning Strategy, and policy DM3 - General Amenity of the
Development Management Plan.

Page 27

d) Access, parking and highway safety matters
The Local Highway Authority (LHA) have raised no objection, the proposed development is
considered acceptable subject to conditions and a s106 legal agreement to secure the
necessary improvements. In terms of highways capacity and impacts the LHA agrees with
the findings of the Transport Assessment that with the Queensway Gateway Road and
improvements to the Ridge and junction with Harrow Lane that traffic flows arising from this
application and the adjoining developments are anticipated to result in a ‘nil detriment
scenario by the end of the 2028 local plan period’. The travel plan set out measures to
reduce car trips, these include provision of a car clubspace and more proactive measures
such as:
1)
2)
3)

3 months bus travel, with an option to renew for a further 6 months at a
discount
£100 for cycles or accessories
5 supermarket deliveries

The suggested access point and layout is acceptable to ESCC from a highways safety and
traffic impact perspective, its location halfway between the access point to Ashdown House
and the public footpath to the north is also considered beneficial. Alternative access points to
the site were considered including:
1 - From Holmhurst St.Mary site, this was discounted as it placed over capacity on the
approved Eldridge Way access and placed more traffic directly onto The Ridge as well as
through the newly created residential streets.
2 - From Harrow Lane, The option of a shared access with 777 The Ridge at the point of the
existing access was discounted as this was on the line of the existing public right of way that
would require re-diversion, widening of the road and reduction of land available on which to
develop. This would have large costs implications which may well make the development
unviable.
The provision of a mini roundabout was considered by ESCC Highways and their response is
summarised below.
1) The visibility required to achieve a mini roundabout would require significant cutting into the
bank, resulting in large retaining walls fronting Harrow Lane that is likely to detrimentally
impact on the character and appearance of the area but introducing a dominant hard feature
in addition to the road, where previously there was a bank. This is highly likely to be
unacceptable in design terms and not therefore a suitable alternative.
2) Mini roundabouts on a straight length of road such as this would only be appropriate with
traffic calming measures to slow traffic down on Harrow Lane. It is possible however that
those traffic calming measures would interfere with private access points and the bus stop.
3) Traffic flows from the site are not going to be to a level to warrant balance in the flow ratios
required to allow for a mini-roundabout to operate safely (mini-roundabouts need good
deflection or drivers tend to overshoot the junction when you have straight sections (Harrow
Lane).
4) A Mini-roundabout would create difficult turning movement for larger vehicles including
refuse vehicles and fixed base delivery lorries entering and leaving the site
As such the proposed access into the site is considered to be a suitable arrangement and it is
considered that alternative arrangements for access would not provide a better option in
highway safety terms.

Page 28

The pedestrian linkages across and on the edge of the site provide for a permeable site with
links to adjoining residential areas and open spaces.
Emergency vehicles and refuse lorries will have the capacity to enter the site and leave in a
forward gear.
The indicative masterplan indicates that adequate car parking spaces for residents and
visitors can be provided on site so as not to impact access to the site and safely on adjoining
roads. Based on the expected mix of dwellings a total of 223 allocated and 68 unallocated car
parking spaces are indicated, this would include 28 visitor spaces. This is in accordance with
the East Sussex County Council parking standards and is considered acceptable. Covered
cycle parking spaces per unit are to be provided in a safe and convenient location, this is also
acceptable in policy terms. Conditions 5 and 7 to 15 relate to highway matters.

e) Ecology, trees and open space
The planning application has been accompanied by appropriate reports in terms of identifying
baseline ecology conditions on the site and flagging possible negative impacts that may arise
as a result of the development. The reports identify a number of activities on site in relation to
protected species and explains how these can be dealt with. It should be noted that the
proposal is in outline form so exact details of the impact on ecology and any mitigation will be
agreed later but the applicant has provided sufficient information to explain that harm will be
limited and in some cases there will even be benefits and enhancements.
The existing trees on the site are not covered by any Tree Preservation Orders (TPO’s), the
trees are on the periphery of the site and will largely not be impacted by the proposed
development. The detailed design of the proposed scheme provides the opportunity for
improved planting on the site and is supported by the Boroughs Arboriculturist.
The Boroughs Ecologist has raised no objection subject to a number of conditions in relation
to Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP):Biodiversity, Ecological Design
Strategy (EDS) and Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP).
A financial
contribution towards the improvement and maintenance of the play area at Welton Rise
which is in the vicinity of the site is also sought to improve overall play space. Provide a new
and useable open space on site and links to surrounding public footpaths. Conditions 24 to 26
refer.
The site is not designated as open space and is allocated for housing within the adopted Local
Plan which has been subject to an independent examination by a Government appointed
planning inspector.
The site will bring forward its own area of open space with three portions of the site, to the
north, in the centre and to the south, these areas will be connected by attractive pedestrian
routes. The extent to which open space is provided within the site means that the density will
be 29.5dph below 30dph which is recognised as a minimum density for sites and below policy
H1 of the Local Plan which advises developments should be a minimum of 30 dph.
The Local Plan identifies the site as surplus to open space provision requirement but in an
area lacking quality children's play area, as such policy LAR2 requires development to
contribute to existing play facilities in the surrounding area. The proposed scheme would
include a children’s play area and this is secured by condition no. 27.

Page 29

In addition the proposed development at Holmhurst St Marys and 777 The Ridge both have
their own areas of open space and woodland. The applications are subject to their own
individual site assessments, these spaces when delivered will provide amenity open areas for
the enjoyment not only of the new residents within the development but can also be enjoyed
by existing residents in the area. Excellent pedestrian connections across the sites provide
good access to and between the different open spaces.
It is considered therefore there will be suitable quantity and quality of open space provision in
the area.

f)

Flooding and drainage

The application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment that advises of minimal
risks, additional information on infiltration rates and swale design was submitted in response
to comments from the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), ESCC. The LLFA has considered
this information and have raised no objections subject to detail being included within the
reserved matters application for such measures as above ground SuDS and ongoing
management. Conditions are requested to ensure surface water runoff from the
development is managed safely (Conditions 16-19).
Southern Water have noted concerns about capacity in the water supply and sewerage
network but again these matters can be dealt with by condition and the requirement for a
formal application to connect to the public sewerage system is to be included as an
informative (Conditions 16-19 and Informatives 3-8).
The proposed development addresses policy SC7 of the Hastings Planning Strategy.
Condition 16-19 set out the requirements for additional technical information including a
drainage strategy and infrastructure, maintenance and management plan and details of how
flood risk during the construction phase will be managed.
g)

Environmental Health matters

The planning application documents did not include an assessment on air quality, noise and
vibrations. The reserved matters application on the detail of the proposed scheme will be
conditioned to include a requirement for air quality noise and vibration assessment.
A Phase 1 Land Contamination Desk Study Report has been submitted, this identified a ‘low
risk’ of any on site contamination. A Phase 2 site investigation study will be required by
Condition 30.
Conditions to control environmental issues during construction and post development, will
also be applied (Condition 11 and 24).

The proposed development addresses policies DM5 and DM6 of the Development
Management Plan.
h)

Heritage and archaeology

Page 30

The applicant has assessed the heritage of the site, taking into account the sites
archaeological potential and the general historic landscaping.
This information has been considered by the County Archaeologist, who has recommended
conditions to ensure that archaeology is dealt with appropriately during construction.
(Conditions 20-21)
The scheme has considered heritage impacts appropriately and is acceptable in terms of
policy EN1 of the Hastings Planning Strategy and policies HN1 and HN4 of the Development
Management Plan.
i) Screening of Application under Habitats Regulations 2017 - Impact of Development
on Ashdown Forest Special Area Conservation ( SAC)
Hastings Borough Council instructed environmental consultants, Aecom, to undertake an
Ashdown Forest Air Quality Impact Assessment 2018. The purpose of the assessment was to
identify likely significant effects of housing and employment growth in Hastings Borough on
the conservation objectives of Ashdown Forest Special Area of Conservation (SAC) from
2017 to 2033. The assessment took account of all traffic growth expected on roads within
200m of Ashdown Forest SAC/Special Protection Area (SPA), not just in Hastings, but also
other growth areas, particularly surrounding SAC/SPA.
The focus of study was on Ashdown Forest SAC and SPA. Hastings Borough Council has
taken a precautionary judgement regarding total amount of housing and employment growth
to 2033, with the study reflecting a 'worst case' scenario to growth in Hastings from adopted
Local Plan, outstanding planning permissions and proposed development within draft AAP.
The report does not consider air quality implications of growth in Hastings Borough for
Pevensey Levels SAC and Ramsar site and for Lewes Downs SAC. In respect of Pevensey
Levels SAC/Ramsar site the interest feature of this SAC (Anisus vorticulus - aka. a snail) is not
affected by nitrogen from vehicle emissions. Lewes Downs SAC is too far removed to be
affected noting that nitrogen deposition from additional traffic beyond that modelled would
have to be four times that currently expected from all traffic to exceed critical load at this
location.
As such the proposed development is not considered to harm the special conservation
objectives of Ashdown Forest, Pevensey Levels or Lewes Downs Special Areas of
Conservation.
j) Other
The proposed development makes no specific reference to policies SC3 and SC4 of the HPS
and the requirement for new development to be sustainably designed. Green and sustainable
building design measures are secured via appropriate Building Regulations that ensure a
fabric first approach that helps reduce the energy load and carbon footprint of the buildings.
Each property will be required to have an electric vehicle charging point (Condition 31).
This is an allocated housing site and its impacts on infrastructure are considered in the
Borough's Infrastructure Delivery Plan. Matters like road improvements and the impact on

Page 31

social infrastructure can be addressed by the financial contributions required but it is not
considered that the development needs to provide for health or social related services. East
Sussex County Council has commented in relation to contributions towards additional county
council service infrastructure. No additional contribution to schools is requested as these
have existing capacity that can accommodate the additional child school yield generated by
the proposed development.
A financial contribution towards Library and Rights of Way has
been requested. Contributions to mitigate those identified impacts arising from the
development will be included within the s106 Planning Agreement.
Health Care Provision: There is no recommended number of FTE GPs per 1,000 patients per
practice, recognising the differing needs of the registered patients of GP practices. GP
practices plan and utilise their workforce to best meet the needs of their patients. It can be
noted for comparison, that the average number of FTE GPs per 1,000 patients per practice in
England is 0.58. (Source GP Workforce Census published by HSCIC includes information
on ALL types of General Practitioners (including GP Provider (single-handed or partnerships).
Hastings and Rother Clinical Commissioning Group brings together 219 GPs, working in 33
practices, there are approximately 183,000 people living in the catchment area. This equates
to 1.19 doctors per 1.000 patients, double the national average. The High Glades and Silver
Springs medical practice is close to the application site, they have approximately 14,000
registered patients and 7 full-time GP’s, at a ratio of 0.5 doctors per 1000 patients this is below
the national average, although around the average for more densely populated urban area.
GP care is supported by 4 full-time nurses, the patient list remains open.
From this it can be
determined that local residents concerns re-GP access, whilst understood, is not in significant
distress when compared to the national picture.
The local practice confirmed that if demand
increased they have capacity to expand.

8. Affordable Housing and other contributions
The application is for 140 dwellings and as such affordable housing should be provided on site
in accordance with policy H3 of the Hastings Plan. For greenfield sites, such as this, and for
developments of 15 or more dwellings, 40% of the proposed units should be provided as
affordable. This means that 56 of the units should be affordable. The affordable housing will
be secured through a s106 legal agreement.
East Sussex Highways and Contributions Team have also highlighted the following financial
contributions are required to support the application:- Library - £36,820
residents)

(To help accommodate additional demand on services from new

- Rights of Way - £3,360 (Improvements to footpaths 142, 143 and 144, to accommodate
additional foot-traffic and promote more sustainable modes of transit)
Local Equipped Area for Play (LEAP) at Welton Rise - £110,600 (money towards
improvement of facility to accommodate additional demand arising from development)
A s106 legal agreement will also secure the retention and maintenance of open space

Page 32

provided within the site.

9. Evidence of Community Involvement
The applicant engaged in a Pre-Application Forum in October 2016 and responded to local
community concerns. This dialogue with the local community has helped inform the planning
application and masterplan and the comments were included in the Planning Statement.

10. Conclusion
Considering the above discussion the proposed development is considered to be sustainable
development in accordance with the NPPF. It will provide for much needed residential
accommodation and secure benefits such as affordable housing, public open space and
improvements to local play facilities and rights of way. The proposed access to the site is
considered acceptable. These proposals are also considered to comply with or appropriately
address the development plan in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
The Human Rights considerations have been taken into account fully in balancing the
planning issues.

Grant Outline Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:
1.

Approval of the details of the layout, scale and external appearance of the
building(s), and the landscaping of the site (hereinafter called "the reserved
matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing before
any development is commenced.

2.

Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in Condition 1
above, relating to the layout, scale, siting, design and external appearance of
any buildings to be erected, and the landscaping of the site, shall be
submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority and shall be carried out as
approved.

3.

Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.

4.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission, or before the
expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved
matters to be approved, whichever is the later.

5.

The development herby permitted shall be carried out, in terms of access
only, in accordance with the following approved plans: ITP 129-1-01-P2 and

Page 33

ITP 1219-1-02-P2.
No part of the development shall be occupied until such time as the vehicular
access serving the development has been constructed in accordance with
the approved plans (ITP 129-1-01-P2 and ITP 1219-1-02-P2).
6.

No part of the development shall be occupied until provision has been made
within the site to prevent surface water draining onto the public highway, in
accordance with plans and details to be submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority.

7.

The access shall have maximum gradients of 4% (1 in 25 from the channel
line, or for the whole width of the footway/verge whichever is the greater and
11% (1 in 9) thereafter.

8.

No part of the development shall be first occupied until visibility splays of 2.4
metres by 90 metres have been provided at the proposed site vehicular
access onto Harrow Lane in accordance with the approved plans. Once
provided the splays shall thereafter be retained, maintained and kept free of
all obstructions over a height of 600mm.

9.

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until details of the
layout of the access roads and the specification for the construction of the
access which shall include details of footways, surfaces, lighting, parking and
cycle parking, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority and the use hereby permitted shall not commence until the
construction of the road link has been completed in accordance with the
specification to be agreed with the Highway Authority.

10.

No part of the development shall be occupied until the vehicle turning space
has been constructed within the site in accordance with details submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This space shall
thereafter be retained at all times for this use and shall not be obstructed.

11.

No development shall take place, including any ground works or works of
demolition, until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Thereafter the
approved Plan shall be implemented and adhered to in full throughout the
entire construction period. The Plan shall provide details as appropriate but
not be restricted to the following matters,
 the anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during
construction,
 the method of access and egress and routeing of vehicles during
construction,
 the parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors,
 the loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste,
 the storage of plant and materials used in construction of the
development,
 the erection and maintenance of security hoarding,
 the provision and utilisation of wheel washing facilities and other works
required to mitigate the impact of construction upon the public highway

Page 34



(including the provision of temporary Traffic Regulation Orders, traffic
management),
details of public engagement both prior to and during construction
works.

12.

No development shall take place, including demolition, on the site until an
agreed pre commencement condition survey of the surrounding highway
network has been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Any damage caused to the highway as a direct consequence of the
construction traffic shall be rectified at the applicant’s expense.

13.

No part of the development shall be occupied until a Travel Plan has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in
consultation with the Highway Authority. The Travel Plan once approved
shall thereafter be implemented as specified within the approved document.
The Travel Plan shall be completed in accordance with the latest guidance
and good practice documentation as published by the Department for
Transport and/or as advised by the Highway Authority.

14.

Upon the occupation/commencement of use, the Applicant shall implement
the measures incorporated within the approved travel plan. The Applicant
shall thereafter monitor report and subsequently revise the travel plan as
specified within the approved document.

15.

No development shall be commenced until such time as a Traffic Regulation
Order securing the provision of parking restriction on the west side of Harrow
lane opposite the site access has been approved in writing by the County
Council and written confirmation of this approval is made available to the
Local Planning Authority.

16.

(i)

Construction of the development shall not commence until a drainage
strategy that includes details of the proposed means of foul sewerage
and surface water disposal/management, together with an
implementation timetable, have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

(ii) Development shall be carried out in accordance with the details
approved under (i) and no occupation of any of the dwellings or flats
hereby approved shall occur until those works have been completed.
(iii)

No occupation of any of the dwellings or flats hereby approved shall
occur until the Local Planning Authority has confirmed in writing that it is
satisfied, that the necessary drainage infrastructure capacity is now
available to adequately service the development.

(vi)

Prior to occupation of the development evidence (including
photographs) should be submitted showing that the drainage system has
been constructed as per the final agreed detailed drainage designs.

Page 35

17.

(i)

Surface water runoff from the proposed development should be limited to
a maximum of 10.5l/s, which is the rate agreed to by Southern Water for
all rainfall events including those with a 1 in 100 (plus 40%) annual
probability of occurrence. Evidence of this (in the form of hydraulic
calculations) should be submitted with the detailed drainage drawings.
The hydraulic calculations should take into account the connectivity of
the different surface water drainage features.

(ii) The detailed design should also include information on how surface
water flows exceeding the capacity of the surface water drainage
features will be managed safely. This should incorporate measures to
intercept and slow down overland surface water flows through the
woodland south of the development.
(iii)

18.

The detailed design of the attenuation ponds should be informed by
findings of additional groundwater monitoring between autumn and
spring. The design should leave at least 1m unsaturated zone between
the base of the ponds and the highest recorded groundwater level. If
this cannot be achieved, details of measures that will be taken to
manage the impacts of high groundwater on the drainage system should
be provided. Evidence of how impacts of high groundwater on the
structural integrity of the tank will be managed should also be provided.

A maintenance and management plan for the entire drainage system should
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority before any construction
commences on site to ensure the designed system takes into account design
standards of those responsible for maintenance. The management plan
should cover the following:
a) The plan should clearly state who will be responsible for managing
all aspects of the surface water drainage system, including piped drains,
and the appropriate authority should be satisfied with the submitted
details.
b) Evidence that these responsibility arrangements will remain in place
throughout the lifetime of the development should be provided to the Local
Planning Authority.

19.

The applicant should detail measures to manage flood risk, both on and off
the site, during the construction phase.
This may take the form of a
standalone document or incorporated into the Construction Management
Plan for the development.

20.

No development shall take place until the developer has secured the
implementation of a programme of archaeological work, in accordance with a
Written Scheme of Archaeological Investigation which has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

21.

The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the
archaeological site investigation and post investigation assessment (including
provision for analysis, publication and dissemination of results and archive
deposition) has been completed in accordance with the programme set out in
the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under condition [20] to the

Page 36

satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the County
Planning Authority.
22.

Safe access to footpath Hastings 142, 143 and 144 is to be maintained at all
times during and following completion of the development.
Details of
walking and cycle links should be submitted as part of a Reserved Matters
application.

23.

The landscaping details required by condition 1 above (reserved matters)
shall include details of open space and play provision.

24.

No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works,
vegetation clearance) until a Construction Environmental Management Plan
for biodiversity (CEMP: Biodiversity) has be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP: Biodiversity shall include
the following;
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be
provided as a set of method statements).
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity
features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be
present on site to oversee works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works
(ECoW) or similarly competent person.
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP: Biodiversity shall be adhered to and implemented
throughout the construction period strictly in accordance with the approved
details and phasing agreed, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local
planning authority.

25.

No development shall take place until an ecological design strategy (EDS).
The EDS shall include the following:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)
j)

Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed works.
Review of site potential and constraints.
Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) to achieve stated objectives.
Extent and location/area of proposed works on appropriate scale
maps and plans.
Type and source of materials to be used where appropriate, e.g.
native species of local provenance.
Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with
the proposed phasing of development.
Persons responsible for implementing the works.
Details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance.
Details for monitoring and remedial measures.
Details for disposal of any wastes arising from works.

The EDS shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details

Page 37

and all features shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
26.

A landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted
to, and be approved in writing by, the local planning authority prior to
commencement of the development. The content of the LEMP shall
include the following;
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might
influence management.
c) Aims and objectives of management.
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
e) Prescriptions for management actions.
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan
capable of being rolled forward over a five-year period).
g) Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of
the plan.
h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s)
by which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the
developer with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery.
The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that
conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how
contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and
implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning
biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved
plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

27.

No development shall take place until a scheme for the provision of open
space (including children's play area), as part of the development within the
site in accordance with policy EN8 of the Hastings Local Plan and national
guidance on open space provision has been submitted to and agreed by the
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of the laying out
and construction of the open space, a timetable for its provision and
arrangements for its future maintenance. The open space shall then be
provided and maintained in accordance with the approved scheme, unless
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning authority.

28.

No development shall take place until the measures outlined in the submitted
arboricultural report (titles Arboricultural Impacts Assessment and Method
Statement, prepared by PJV Consultancy, dated August 2017) have been
fully implemented, unless:
(i) the programme for such measures is otherwise specified within that
document in which case the works shall be carried out in accordance
with the timescales contained therein or;
(ii) unless the scheme(s), or programme(s) of measures contained within the

Page 38

arboricultural reports is otherwise first varied, by way of prior written
approval from the Local Planning Authority.
29.

The details required by Condition 1 shall include a full and adequate site
investigation and soils report and work shall not proceed until and unless
measures deemed to be necessary by the Local Planning Authority as a
result of such report have been incorporated in the development proposals.

30.

Each individual dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied until a
minimum of one electric vehicle charging point has been installed on the
given building(s) with dedicated off street parking, and shall thereafter be
retained for that purpose.

31.

The details submitted for condition 1 (reserved matters) above shall include
provision of at least 2% of the dwellings to be fully adapted for wheelchair
users.

32.

Before the development hereby approved is occupied provision shall be
made for the ability to connect to fibre-based broadband.

Reasons:
1.

The application is in outline only.

2.

The application is in outline only.

3.

This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of
the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

4.

This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of
the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

5.

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

6.

In the interests of highway safety.

7.

In the interests of road safety.

8.

In the interests of road safety.

9.

To secure satisfactory standards of access for the proposed development.

10.

In the interest of highway safety and for this benefit and convenience of the
public at large.

11.

To the interests of highways safety and the amenities in the area.

12.

In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the area.

13.

To encourage and promote sustainable transport.

Page 39

14.

To encourage and promote sustainable transport.

15.

In the interests of amenity and road safety.

16.

To prevent increased risk of flooding.

17.

To prevent increased risk of flooding.

18.

To prevent increased risk of flooding.

19.

To prevent increased risk of flooding.

20.

To ensure that the archaeological and historical interest of the site is
safeguarded and recorded to comply with the National Planning Policy
Framework.

21.

To ensure that the archaeological and historical interest of the site is
safeguarded and recorded to comply with the National Planning Policy
Framework.

22.

To maintain Public Rights of Way.

23.

To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the character
and amenity of the area.

24.

To protect features of recognised nature conservation importance.

25.

To protect features of recognised nature conservation importance of the site
and in the interests of the amenity of the neighbouring residential occupiers.

26.

To protect and enhance the ecological value of the site.

27.

To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the character
and amenity of the area.

28.

In the interests of the health of the trees and the visual amenity of the area.

29.

To ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

30.

To ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

31.

To comply with condition LRA1 of the Hastings Local Plan, Development
Management Plan.

32.

To ensure the development complies with policy SC1 of the Hastings Local
Plan: The Hastings Planning Strategy.

Notes to the Applicant
1.

Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result in

Page 40

enforcement action without further warning.
2.

Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

3.

The applicant is advised that the 300 mm diameter surface water sewer
requires a clearance of 3 metres either side of the sewer to protect it from
construction works and allow for future access for maintenance. No
development or new tree planting should be located within 3 metres either
side of the centreline of the public sewer.

4.

The applicant is advised that the 200 mm diameter water trunk main requires
a clearance of 6 metres either side of the water trunk main to protect it from
construction works and allow for future access for maintenance.

5.

The applicant is advised that no development or new tree planting should be
located within 6 metres either side of the centreline of the water trunk main
without consent of Southern Water.
All existing infrastructure, including protective coatings and cathodic
protection, should be protected during the course of construction works. No
new soakaways should be located within 5m of a public sewer and water
main.

6.

The applicant is advised that noncompliance with Sewers for Adoption
standards will preclude future adoption of the foul and surface water
sewerage network on site. The design of drainage should ensure that no
groundwater or land drainage is to enter public sewers.

7.

The applicant is advised that due to changes in legislation that came in to
force on 1st October 2011 regarding the future ownership of sewers it is
possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the above
property. Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction works, an
investigation of the sewer will be required to ascertain its condition, the
number of properties served, and potential means of access before any
further works commence on site.
The applicant is advised to discuss the matter further with Southern Water,
Sparrowgrove House Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW
(Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk”.

8.

The applicant is advised that a formal application for connection to the water
supply is required in order to service this development. Please contact
Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne,
Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk

9.

The applicant is advised that all side elevations facing access roads should
be designed to a high standard and avoid blank facades and large expanse of
wall.

10.

The applicant is advised that the gateway 'key' buildings located either side of
the junction into the site from Harrow Lane shall incorporate a design that
better addresses its corner location than currently shown on illustrative plans

Page 41

and elevations. This amended design shall form part of the reserved matters
application.
11.

The applicant is advised that rear parking courts should be enclosed by brick
walls and this should be shown within any subsequent Reserved Matters
application.

12.

The applicant is advised that parking spaces to the front of garages should
have a depth of 6m. Any Reserved Matters application should incorporate
this into the design.

13.

The applicant is advised that they must ensure the proposed works, hereby
approved, do not contravene laws protecting wildlife including the
Countryside and Wildlife Act 1981. Where the applicant is in doubt they
should contact Natural England on wildlife@naturalengland.org.uk
Telephone 020 802 61089 or Environment and Natural Resources on
parks@hastings.gov.uk Telephone 01424 451107 prior to commencement of
any works.

14.

The applicant should contact the Sussex Police Architect Liaison Officer at
the Police Station, Bohemia Road, Hastings to discuss the "Secured by
Design" principles for new developments.

15.

No site clearance or tree or hedge removal shall be carried out on site
between the 1st March and 31st July inclusive in any year, unless otherwise
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

16.

Nothing in this permission shall be construed as giving approval to the details
shown on the plans accompanying the application hereby approved. Such
plans have been treated as being indicative only.

17.

Incentives for residents encourage them to rethink journeys from the very
start of locating in a new neighbourhood to be adopted within the travel plan
to be resubmitted with the reserved matters applications, to include:
1) 3 months of bus travel with option to renew for a further 6 months with
discount
2) £100 for cycles or accessories
3) 5 supermarket deliveries
4) Car club vehicle dedicated space within the development
5) Other incentives should include as suggested in the residents’ information
pack plus scheduled cycle training and Bike doctor visits.

_____________________________________________________________________

Officer to Contact
Mr R Temple, Telephone 01424 783254

Background Papers

Page 42

Application No: HS/OA/17/00901 including all letters and documents

Page 43

This page is intentionally left blank

39

Agenda
Item
5b rights [2019]. OS [100021328]
© Crown Copyright
and database

±

34

28

69.5m

23

22

14

SPRINGFIELD ROAD

65.3m
53

59.9m

59

60

63

10

65

16

7

2

CLINTON CRES
CENT

2

1

COMBERMERE ROAD

The Coach House

8

LB

SPRINGFIE

14

Builders

10

13

Y
LD VALLE

12

9

1

17

ST LEONARDS GREEN

24

5

Land to the rear of
5-7 Combermere Road
St Leonards-on-sea
TN38 0RR

Date: May 2019
Scale: 1:1,250

Application No. HS/FA/18/00825

El Sub
Sta

37

8

CO
MB

E

1

House

3

2

1 2

4

6

28

4

0

10

20

30

40
Meters

Erection of detached three storey house, including basement and
formation of vehicular access onto Clinton Crescent

Assistant Director Housing & Built Environment
Hastings Borough Council,
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451090
email: planning@hastings.gov.uk
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Page 45

This page is intentionally left blank

AGENDA ITEM NO: 5 (b)
Report to:

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting:

06 June 2019

Report from:

Assistant Director of Housing and Built Environment

Application Address:

Application No:

Land to the rear of 5-7 Combermere Road, St
Leonards-on-sea, TN38 0RR
Erection of detached three storey house,
including basement and formation of vehicular
access onto Clinton Crescent.
HS/FA/18/00825

Recommendation:

Grant Full Planning Permission

Ward:
Conservation Area:
Listed Building:

GENSING 2018
Yes - Springfield Road
No

Applicant:

Mrs Pithouse per CLM Planning Limited 14 Magpie
Close Bexhill on Sea East Sussex TN39 4EU

Proposal:

Public Consultation
Site Notice:
Press Advertisement:
Letters of Objection:
Petitions of Objection Received:
Letters of Support:
Petitions of Support Received:
Neutral comments received
Application Status:

Yes

Yes - Conservation Area
20
1
0
0
0
Not delegated - Petition received

1. Site and surrounding area
The site comprises an area of rear garden of 7 Combermere Road. The proposed site
entrance is located in Clinton Crescent, adjacent to no.2 Clinton Crescent. 7 Combermere
Road is situated on the corner of Combermere Road and Clinton Crescent. The property is
within the Springfield Road Conservation Area.
7 Combermere Road is a substantial four storey semi-detached property, built at the turn of
20th Century. The rear garden of no 7 is 25m in length, which is where the proposed dwelling
is to be sited.

Page 47

The garden space runs alongside 2 Clinton Crescent and the rear of 5 and 7 Combermere
Road, and backing onto rear gardens of properties in Springfield Road.
Constraints
Springfield Road Conservation Area
SSSI Impact Risk Zone

2. Proposed development
Erection of detached three bedroom, 3 storey house, including basement and formation of
vehicular access onto Clinton Crescent.
The proposal includes bay windows to the front elevation and a cat slope roof to the east side
elevation (longer on this side), with two obscured rooflights. The main entrance will be at
ground level, although due to the sloping levels within the streetscene the entrance is at a
lower level to that of the adjacent property at no 2 Clinton Crescent. Access will be created
for a driveway and parking for two cars by installing timber sliding gates within the existing
brick wall fronting Clinton Crescent.
Materials
External wall: Brickwork to the external finish, with clay tile hanging to front elevation gables
and bay windows.
Roof: Slate tiles.
Windows to be white aluminum.

Doors to be timber.

Vehicular access and hard standing to be permeable block paving.
The application is supported by the following documents:
Arboricultural report dated July 2018
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal dated July 2018
Suds Report
Planning, Design, Access and Heritage Statement dated Nov 2018
Relevant planning history
Application No. HS/57/00511
Description
Formation of bathroom and conversion to two living units
Decision
Permission Without Conditions on 10/09/57
Application No. HS/FA/85/00630
Description
Formation of garages at ground floor level
Decision
Permission with conditions on 29/11/85
Application No. HS/FA/87/00338
Description
Erection of dwelling
Decision
Refused on 24/07/87
Application No. HS/OA/88/00313
Description
Erection of detached house with integral garage
Decision
Outline Application Refused on 20/06/88

Page 48

Application No. HS/FA/89/00146
Description
Conversion of dwelling to form 2 x 2 bed and 2 x 1 bed flats.
Decision
Permission with conditions on 31/07/89
Application No. HS/FA/91/00346
Description
Conversion of dwelling to form one two bed & one three bed
self- contained flats and other alterations
Decision
Permission with conditions on 17/12/91
Application No. HS/FA/89/00270
Description
Erection of four garages
Decision
Permission with conditions on 01/04/92
Application No. HS/FA/02/00146
Description
Installation of upvc windows into the rear elevation of flat 1,
consisting of the lounge bay window & bedrooms
Decision
Permission with conditions on 03/05/02
National and Local Policies
Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy 2014
DS1 New Housing Development
FA2 Strategic Policy for Central Area
SC1 Overall Strategy for Managing Change in a Sustainable Way
SC3 Promoting Sustainable and Green Design
EN1 Built and Historic Environment
H1 Housing Density
H2 Housing Mix
T3 Sustainable Transport
Hastings Local Plan – Development Management Plan 2015
LP1 Considering planning applications
DM1 Design Principles
DM3 General Amenity
DM4 General Access
DM5 Ground Conditions
HN1 Development Affecting the Significance and Setting of Designated Heritage Assets
(including Conservation Areas)
HN2 Changing Doors, Windows and Roofs in Conservation Areas
HN3 Demolition involving Heritage Assets
HN4 Development affecting Heritage Assets with Archaeological and Historic Interest or
Potential Interest
HN8 Biodiversity and Green Space
Other policies/guidance
Sussex Air Quality and Emissions Mitigation Guidance 2013
SPDs: Parking Provision in New Developments (2013)
Department for Communities and Local Government – Technical housing standards –
nationally described space standard (March 2015)

Page 49

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Paragraph 11 sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable development and states
that development proposals which accord with the Development Plan should be approved
without delay.
Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. Three dimensions of sustainability given in paragraph 8 are to be sought jointly:
economic (by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and
at the right time to support growth and innovation); social (providing housing, creating high
quality environment with accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to,
protecting and enhancing natural, built and historic environment) whilst paragraph 9 advises
that plans and decisions need to take local circumstances into account, so they respond to the
different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different areas.
Section 12 of the NPPF sets out the requirement for good design in development. Paragraph
124 states: "The creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the
planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities."
Paragraph 127 of the NPPF requires that decisions should ensure developments:
 Function well;
 Add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of that development;
 Are visually attractive in terms of:
 Layout
 Architecture
 Landscaping
 Are sympathetic to local character/history whilst not preventing change or innovation;
 Maintain a strong sense of place having regard to:
 Building types
 Materials
 Arrangement of streets
 Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate number and mix of
development;
 Create safe places with a high standard of amenity for future and existing users
Paragraph 130 states permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails
to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the
way that it functions.
Paragraph 130 also seeks to ensure that the quality of an approved development is not
materially diminished between permission and completion through changes to the permitted
scheme.

3. Consultation comments
Highways - no objections subject to conditions 4,5, 6 & 7. The trips generated by a new 3
bed dwelling would be small and would not have a severe impact on the local highway.

Page 50

Conservation Officer -

no objection to the revised scheme subject to condition (10)

The proposal is in character and is suited to a conservation area.
Ecology Officer -

no objections subject to condition (9)

No protected species will be adversely impacted but provides a cautionary approach to
safeguarding any protected reptile species that may be present in the back garden.
Arboricultural Officer - no objections subject to conditions (11 & 12)
Trees lost as consequence of development are all low grade trees, their loss can be
mitigated through a robust planting scheme.
Waste

- no objection with note 6

Southern water - no objection with standard conditions 8(i), (ii), (iii) and note 3.
East Sussex Flood Risk Assessment team - no objection with conditions and in
association with Southern Water.

4. Representations
20 letters of objection have been received from 18 different properties, following the display
of a site notice. These raise the following concerns:





Insufficient space to accommodate a detached dwelling.
Not in keeping with the streetscene and character of the Conservation Area.
Loss of light to no 2 Clinton Crescent.
Loss of on street parking

Petition signed by 30 people received.






This raises the following concerns

Insufficient space to accommodate a detached dwelling
Not in keeping with the streetscene and character of the Conservation Area
Loss of light to no 2 Clinton Crescent
Loss of on street parking
Removal of Victorian brick wall to accommodate vehicular access

5. Determining issues
The main considerations in determination of this application are land use, design, neighbour
amenity, future living conditions, highways safety and parking, ecology and trees.
a) Principle
The site is in a sustainable location and the application is therefore in accordance with policy
LP1 Hastings Local Plan - Development Management (2015) in this respect and acceptable in
principle subject to other local plan policies.

Page 51

b) Layout
The proposed new dwelling comprises a three bed, three storey, detached property with
parking to the front of the property for two cars. The new property is to be accessed from a
new vehicular access from Clinton Crescent, by removing a section of the brick wall of the
front boundary and installing timber sliding gates.
The ground floor consists of games/storage room, utility room and bedroom with en-suite
The 1st floor consists of Family/dining room, sitting room and kitchen
The 2nd floor consists of 2 bedroom, family bathroom and en-suite to bedroom 1
Internal Floor space:
The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has produced Technical
Guidance for Space Standards (TGSS) in order to achieve a good living standard for future
users of proposed development. This document states that the minimum internal floor area for
a 3 bedroom, three storey unit is 90-108m². The floor area for the dwelling is calculated at
185.8m². Having assessed the individual bedrooms, both meet the respective room sizes and
are considered acceptable. As a result it is considered that the development would provide an
acceptable level of internal living accommodation, in accordance with national space
standards.
External Amenity Space:
Point (g) of Policy DM3 of the Hastings Development Management Plan requires appropriate
levels of private external space to be provided, especially for larger homes designed for family
use (dwellings with two or more bedrooms). In respect of family dwellings the Council would
therefore expect to see the provision of private garden space (normally at the rear), of at least
10 metres in length. The garden for the proposed dwelling ranges from (5 - 6.4m front garden)
and a rear garden area of approx 12.9m in width and between 8.6-8.9m in length. Around
the sides of property goes up to 22.5m in length from front to back. Adequate gardens space
is therefore provided in accordance with Policy DM3.
c) Impact on character and appearance of conservation area
The proposed dwelling house has been amended under drawing 1809/04D to be designed
with a traditional form and appearance with brick to the main external walls and clay hung tiles
to the front gable end and bays. Some contemporary features are included, such as a cat
slope roof. The location has a varied character and the dwelling would complement the
existing streetscene and character of the Conservation Area, with similar form and materials
to the local vernacular. The cat slope roof softens the side elevation adjacent to no 7,
removing a stark presence of a gable end forming a dominant feature within the streetscene.
The Conservation Officer raises no objection to the design which is in keeping with the
Conservation Area and surrounding properties. Policy DM1 of the Hastings Development
Management Plan is therefore complied with in that the proposal respects local character and
will not detrimentally affect the streetscene.
d) Loss of existing use
The National Planning Policy Framework excludes land in built-up areas such as private
residential gardens from the definition of previously developed land, mainly because urban
gardens require greater protection as the nature of its location indicates it as at more of a
premium. Private gardens play an important role in providing good living standards and
external amenity space in urban areas and redevelopment can reduce private outdoor
amenity space.

Page 52

The proposal would result in the loss of residential garden space for the residential property of
7 Combermere Road.
Paragraph 70 of the NPPF states Local Planning Authorities should
consider the case for setting out policies to resist inappropriate development of residential
gardens, for example where development would cause harm to the local area. And paragraph
122 states that decisions should support development that makes efficient use of land, taking
into account the desirability of maintaining an area’s prevailing character and setting
(including residential gardens).
e) Proposed residential use
Previous history on this site relates to two applications that were refused for a detached
dwelling and garage, as listed above under HS/FA/87/00338 and HS/OA/88/00313.
The main reasons for refusal were insufficient space to accommodate a dwelling in keeping
with the surrounding area and results in unsatisfactory form of development to be detrimental
to the amenities. It should be noted that the previous refused proposal was slightly larger in
foot print and positioned further back which would have resulted in insufficient amenity space.
These reasons for refusal are considered to have been adequately addressed in this proposal
as sufficient external space can be provided and there is adequate separation between
properties to avoid a cramped appearance in the streetscene. The proposed dwelling has
been designed to have a active frontage by removing the integral garage and introducing 2
parking spaces to the front. Although a section measuring 3.9m of the front wall is to be
removed and sliding timber gates installed, this is a similar feature to a property opposite and
is considered acceptable.
f) Impact on neighbouring residential amenities
Policy DM3 of Hastings Development Management Plan requires new development to avoid
any adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties. This proposal relates to the
redevelopment of garden land and there are neighbouring residential gardens abutting the
application site.
The principle amenity issue relates to the scale of the house, when considered in the context
of the adjacent property at No 2 Clinton Crescent. The rear windows would afford views
towards the long rear gardens of the properties fronting Springfield Road. As the rear section
of the adjoining gardens are already overlooked by neighbouring first floor rear windows, it is
not considered that the proposal would result in an unacceptable impact to neighbouring
amenity that would warrant a reason for refusal.
Potential impact on 2 Clinton Crescent
There are a number of windows in the flank elevation of 2 Clifton Crescent, the majority of
which are obscure glazed or smaller subservient windows of the house. The main building
sits forward by approx 1.5m, however due to the projecting bay of no.2, this is not an
unacceptable difference. The bays on both properties are in line with each other and the
proposed dwelling will not cause adverse harm in terms of overshadowing or loss of light.
The only window proposed in the west side elevation of the new dwelling is a ground floor
kitchen window, separated from No 2 by a 1.7m boundary wall and a distance of 3.5m.
Therefore, this is not considered to impact upon the privacy of no 2. In addition, the
proposed dwelling will sit at a slightly lower level than 2 Clinton Crescent.
The two rooflights proposed in the cat slope roof on the east side elevation are to be fixed and
obscure glazed, limiting potential overlooking.. There is a 2m timber fence proposed on the
west side elevation, with no ground floor windows proposed. This is considered sufficient to

Page 53

protect the privacy of no's 5 and 7 Combermere Road.
Due to the boundary wall being 2m to the rear side of 2 Clinton Crescent, the rear terrace area
will not be overlooking onto side elevation windows of 2 Clinton Crescent and not result in a
loss of privacy.
g) Impact on Landscape and Ecology
The application site comprises a managed section of private garden with limited ecological
value and, subject to provision of ecological enhancement in accordance with the NPPF, no
objections are raised on ecology grounds. The applicant has submitted a Preliminary Ecology
Appraisal Report by The Mayhew Consultancy Ltd (dated May 2018) which concludes that no
additional surveys are considered to be necessary for this development and recommends
appropriate mitigation measures and provides suggestions with regards to possible increase
in biodiversity post development. The Environmental and Natural Resources Manager has
raised no objection to this proposal subject to a condition and advisory note. Condition 9 and
note 5
h) Trees
Six individual trees would be directly lost as a result of the scheme. The trees are not
protected by a Tree Preservation Order but are within the Springfield conservation area.
Eleven individual trees have been classed as C Grade. BS5837 considers that C grade trees
are of low quality with an estimated remaining life expectancy of at least 10 years.
One individual tree has been classed as U Grade. BS5837 considers that U grade trees are
those in such a condition that they cannot be realistically retained in the context of the current
land use for longer than 10 years.
Trees to be lost:
T4 – Laurel, T5 – Thorn, T6 & T7 – Cypress, T8 & T9 – Apple
These trees will either be beneath the footprint of the proposed new dwelling, or so close to it
that they would be unlikely to survive the construction process.
These are all unexceptional C Grade trees providing little visual amenity outside the confines
of the site. The Borough Arboriculturist has raised no objection subject to a soft landscaping
condition and tree protection conditions 11 and 12. As such, their removal is considered
acceptable within the context of the proposed development.
i) Highway safety/parking
Trips generated by the scheme will be small in number, and the Highways Authority are
confident this increase can be accommodated in this location.
A new vehicular access will be created within the existing wall in Clinton Crescent. A section of
the wall is to be removed, 3.9m, and a sliding gate will be installed.
The Highways Authority have raised no objection to the proposal subject to conditions 4; 5(i),
(ii) (iii); 6 .
Two parking spaces have been proposed within the curtilage of the dwelling house. An
integral garage was removed from the proposal after negotiations with the Planning Officer.
This is on the basis that it is more likely that a garage would be used for other purposes and
the tandem parking layout previously proposed may increase the likelihood of lower utilisation
and over spill parking on-street. The Highways Authority have commented that the new plan
without the garage is preferred and the required parking has been provided on site, there is no
requirement for an on-street parking survey to be carried out.

Page 54

Cycling store - No details of a cycling store have been submitted as part of the application.
condition will be added requesting a plan showing storage for 2 cycles. Condition 7

A

j) Refuse storage
Bin storage has been provided directly behind the sliding gates. Waste raise no objection to
the proposal. An advisory note will be added to ensure bins are presented on the pavement
on collection day. Note 6
k) Air Quality and Emissions
Having regard to guidance contained within 'Air Quality and Emission Mitigation' 2013
produced by Sussex Air Quality Partnership, the proposed development will not exceed
statutory guidelines for airborne pollutants and Environmental Health Officers have no
objection in this respect. No external lighting is proposed and residential amenities are not
harmfully affected. The development will not give rise to ground or surface water pollutions,
and the development is therefore in accordance with Policy DM6 of the Hastings Development
Management Plan (2015).
l) Environmental Impact Assessment
The National Planning Practice Guidance (Paragraph: 017 Reference ID: 4-017-20170728)
states that "Projects which are described in the first column of Schedule 2 but which do not
exceed the relevant thresholds, or meet the criteria in the second column of the Schedule, or
are not at least partly in a sensitive area, are not Schedule 2 development."
This development is not within a sensitive area as defined by Regulation 2 (1) of the Town and
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 and does not
exceed the thresholds of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental
Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.

6. Conclusion
For the reasons set out above the development is considered to be
sustainable
development. While there will be some loss of garden land, both No.7 Combermere and the
proposed new dwelling would have good garden provision. There will be no unacceptable
harm to neighbour amenity and there are no highway safety issues. The proposed parking
arrangements meet the Highway Authority requirements, subject to conditions, and there are
no ecology concerns. The proposed new dwelling will make efficient use of this currently
under-used plot of garden land and will add a new family sized 3-bedroom dwelling built to
modern standards to the Hastings housing stock and I recommend this proposal for approval,
subject conditions.
These proposals comply with the Development Plan in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which states:
"If regard is to be had to the Development Plan for the purpose of any determination to be
made under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise”.
The Human Rights considerations have been taken into account fully in balancing the
planning issues.

Page 55

7. Recommendation

Grant Full Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans:
1809/02, 1809/03, 1809/04 REV E and 1809/05

3.

With the exception of internal works the building works required to carry out
the development allowed by this permission must only be carried out within
the following times:08.00 - 18.00 Monday to Friday
08.00 - 13.00 on Saturdays
No working on Sundays or Public Holidays.

4.

The car parking spaces shown on the approved plan shall be provided prior
to the occupation of the development hereby permitted and thereafter shall
not be used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles.

5.

i.

No part of the development shall be occupied until such time as the
vehicular access has been constructed in accordance with plans and
details submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

ii. The access shall have maximum gradients of 4% (1 in 25) / 2.5% (1 in 40)
from the channel line, or for the whole width of the footway/verge
whichever is the greater and 11% (1 in 9) thereafter.
iii. No part of the development shall be occupied until provision has been
made within the site in accordance with plans and details to be submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, to prevent surface water
draining onto the public highway.
6.

No part of the development shall be occupied until covered and secure cycle
parking spaces have been provided in accordance with plans and details
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
area[s] shall thereafter be retained for that use and shall not be used other
than for the parking of cycles.

7.

(i)

Construction of the development shall not commence until a detailed
drainage layout showing the proposed means of foul sewerage and
surface water disposal/management have been submitted to and

Page 56

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
(ii) Development shall then be carried out in accordance with the details
approved under (i) and no occupation of any of the dwellings or flats
hereby approved shall occur until those works have been completed.
and
(iii)

8.

No occupation of any of the dwellings or flats hereby approved shall
occur until the Local Planning Authority has confirmed in writing that it is
satisfied, that the necessary drainage infrastructure capacity is now
available to adequately service the development, which should include
evidence of agreement in principle from the asset owner/organisation

No development shall take place until the measures outlined in the submitted
ecological statements and reports by Meyhew Consultancy dated 7 July
2018, have been fully implemented, unless:
(i) the programme for such measures is otherwise specified within that
document (for example with regard to measures related to monitoring), in
which case the works shall be carried out in accordance with the
timescales contained therein or;
(ii) unless the scheme(s), or programme(s) of measures contained within the
ecological statements and reports is otherwise first varied, by way of
prior written approval from the Local Planning Authority.

9.

Samples and details of the materials to be used in the construction of the
external surfaces of the proposed dwelling hereby permitted have been
submitted to or made available on site and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.






10.

Provision of samples of the roof covering. (ridges, hips, and tiles)
Sample of Hung tiles to be used on the bays and gable ends.
Details of all windows and doors on the building and the main gate to the
site.
Details of chimney pot
Slate tile sample

All planting seeding or turfing comprised in the approved soft landscaping
scheme shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the
development, or with the written agreement of the Local Planning Authority, in
the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of any
buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner.
Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased
shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and
species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any
variation.

Page 57

11.

No development shall take place until temporary protective fences to
safeguard the trees and/or hedges to be retained on the site have been
erected in accordance with the current BS5837:2012: Trees in relation to
design, demolition and construction, standards and to the satisfaction of the
Local Planning Authority. All such fences shall be kept in a sound, upright
and complete condition until the development has been completed and/or the
Local Planning Authority confirm in writing that the works have been
sufficiently completed for the fencing to be removed.

12.

Prior to works above ground, details of appropriate climate change mitigation
and adaptation measures as required by policy SC3 of the Hastings Local
Plan, The Hastings Planning Strategy 2011-2028 should be submitted and
approved by the Local Planning Authority.

13.

Before the development hereby approved is occupied provision shall be
made for the ability to connect to fibre-based broadband.

Reasons:
1.

This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2.

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3.

To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residents.

4.

To ensure an adequate level of off-street parking to serve the development.

5.

In the interests of road safety

6.

To provide alternative travel options to the use of the car in accordance with
current sustainable transport policies.

7.

To prevent increased risk of flooding.

8.

To ensure that the measures considered necessary as part of the ecological
impact assessment are carried out as specified.

9.

In the interests of the visual amenity of the area.

10.

To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the visual
amenity.

11.

To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the visual
amenity.

12.

To ensure the development complies with Policy SC3 of the Hastings Local
Plan: The Hastings Planning Strategy.

Page 58

13.

To ensure the development complies with Policy SC1 of the Hastings Local
Plan: The Hastings Planning Strategy.

Notes to the Applicant
1.

Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result in
enforcement action without further warning.

2.

Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

3.

A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required
in order to service this development, please contact Southern Water,
Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW
(Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk.

4.

Consideration should be given to the provision of a domestic sprinkler
system.

5.

The applicant is advised that they must ensure the proposed works, hereby
approved, do not contravene laws protecting wildlife including the
Countryside and Wildlife Act 1981. Where the applicant is in doubt they
should contact Natural England on wildlife@naturalengland.org.uk
Telephone 020 802 61089 or Environment and Natural Resources on
parks@hastings.gov.uk Telephone 01424 451107 prior to commencement of
any works.

6.

The bins must be presented on the highway on scheduled collection days.

_____________________________________________________________________

Officer to Contact
Mrs M Botting, Telephone 01424 783252

Background Papers
Application No: HS/FA/18/00825 including all letters and documents

Page 59

This page is intentionally left blank

±

9
38

0
38

5
39

3
40
7
40

FB

Agenda
Item
6a rights [2019]. OS [100021328]
© Crown Copyright
and database
2
39

3.3m

8
39

7
41

ta

9
40

7

40

3.4m
24
17

18

LR

445

D
OA
449

Warehouse

S
AM
TE

457

13

2
42

IL
XH
BE

36

1

S
ub

34
1
41
to

33

S
El

37

410

3
41

RD

Works

2

Y
WA
AM
1

6

Pumping Station

the
rhy
lve
u
B

ast
Co

al L

ink

11

31.

75

Groyne

MP

0

Land to the Rear of
419 to 447 Bexhill Road
St Leonards-on-sea
TN38 8AR

Date: May 2019
Scale: 1:1,250

Application No. HS/OA/19/00153

10

20

30

40
Meters

Rock and Sand

Outline application (seeking approval of access) for the reconfiguration
of the car park, the erection of 16 residential units and proposed flood
risk mitigation measures.

Assistant Director Housing & Built Environment
Hastings Borough Council,
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451090
email: planning@hastings.gov.uk
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

AGENDA ITEM NO: 6 (a)
Report to:

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting:

06 June 2019

Report from:

Assistant Director of Housing and Built Environment

Application Address:

Application No:

Land to the Rear of 419 to 447 Bexhill Road, St
Leonards-on-sea, TN38 8AR
Outline application (seeking approval of
access) for the reconfiguration of the car park,
the erection of 16 residential units and
proposed flood risk mitigation measures.
HS/OA/19/00153

Recommendation:

Grant Outline Planning Permission

Ward:
Conservation Area:
Listed Building:

WEST ST LEONARDS 2018
No
No

Applicant:

Hastings Borough Council per Kember Loudon
Williams Ltd Ridgers Barn Bunny Lane Eridge, Nr.
Tunbridge Wells, Kent. TN3 9HA

Proposal:

Public Consultation
Site Notice:
Press Advertisement:
Letters of Objection:
Petitions of Objection Received:
Letters of Support:
Petitions of Support Received:
Neutral comments received
Application Status:

Yes

Yes - General Interest
9
0
0
0
0
Not delegated - 5 or more letters of objection
received
Council application on Council owned land

1. Site and surrounding area
The site is situated to the south side of the A259 (Bexhill Road), between Hastings and St
Leonards-on-Sea (West St Leonards Ward) and has an area of 0.735 hectares.
The site is made up of two distinct areas - one directly adjacent to Bexhill Road which
currently consists of a car-parking / hard standing area. The other area, which is the main
body of the site is undeveloped and contains low level vegetation, is situated between the rear

Page 63

gardens of the Bexhill Road properties to the north and the railway embankment to the south.
The site is bound to the south by fencing separating it from the train line, beyond which is
Bulverhythe Coastal Path (part of the National Cycle Network Route 2) and then the beach /
seafront.
To the east of the site is an industrial area. There are residential properties to the north west
(Amsterdam Way) and Southern Water's pumping station to the south west which is adjacent
to but not within the site.
The current access to the car parking area is from Bexhill Road, between nos. 445 and 435
Bexhill Road.
The site smoothly rises to the rear of the houses with variations of up to 1.2m; existing ground
levels are 3m to 4.2m AOD (above ordnance datum). The site is level where the car park is
located.
Constraints















Archaeological notification area to the south
Combe Valley Countryside Park is immediately to the south
National Cycle Route 2 (Bulverhythe Coastal Path) to the south
Local Wildlife Site to the south
Seafront Spatial Area
Flooding surface water 1 in 100
Flooding surface water 1 in 1000
Flooding Groundwater
Within the 2km buffer of High Pressure Pipeline
Pevensey Cuckmere Water levels Board
Network Rail Land Ownership
Network Rail Land Ownership 10m buffer
Within 250m buffer of Historic Landfill Site
Flood Zone 3a Environment Agency

2. Proposed development
This is an outline application with all matters reserved except for access, for the
reconfiguration of the car park to provide 31 spaces and 16 residential units. Access would be
directly off the Bexhill Road, between residential properties nos. 435 and 445. A total of 33
parking spaces will be provided for the residential development, just over two spaces per unit.
The application proposes 7 affordable units.
The indicative mix of dwellings and tenure is as follows:
Market Housing (9 units)
2 x 2 bed units
3 x 3 bed units
4 x 4 bed units

Social Rented Housing (7 units)

Page 64

4 x 1 bed flats
2 x 2 bed houses
1 x 3 bed house
The indicative plans show the dwellings would be located to the main body of the site (south
east section), with rear gardens of the houses closest to the shore extending towards, but not
as far as, the railway land. The north west section would be reinstated as car parking, and
access to the dwellings would also be gained through this section.
The indicative plans show the layout consisting of a row of houses on each side of the street
separated by the road, running east-west, with the access road roughly perpendicular (north –
south).
The indicative plans show buildings as 2-storey with pitched roofs. The external finishing
materials have not been specified.
The indicative plans show on the south side 4 no pairs of semi-detached (8 units). On the
north, there would be 2 pairs of semi-detached (one to each end) and two pairs of
maisonettes, therefore a total of 16 units.
Rear gardens are shown on the indicative plans the south of the southern dwellings, and the
north of the northern dwellings.
Easements/pipe works exist along the south side of the main body of the site. The southern
row of buildings would be built forward of the pipes. One submerged pipe would run across
the rear gardens of the dwellings, and one would run outside of, to the south of the gardens,
between the rear boundaries of the gardens and the embankment. This area would be kept
free for the easements. Access to this area would be to the west of unit 16.
A public open space has been designed as a landscaped area between the housing street
and the parking area. Greenspace/landscaping will also form the buffer between the dwellings
and the railway land.
The land levels will be raised to 4.1m AOD. As such the ground floor as proposed will be 1.1m
above the lowest ground floor level of the site. The extent to which the land level increases
changes given that the land levels vary at this point.
The application is supported by the following documents:









Contamination Report
Flood risk assessment
Design and Access Statement
Ecological Appraisal Report
Heritage Report
Planning Statement
Transport Statement
Drainage Strategy and SUDS Plan

Relevant planning history
HS/OA/17/01071 Outline application seeking approval of access for the reconfiguration of
the car park and erection of 16 residential units and means of access
Withdrawn October 2018
HS/FA/88/00236 Temporary use of land for siting of prefabricated storage and

Page 65

accommodation buildings. Granted 01/06/1988
HS/OA/82/00022 Erection of a warehouse, trailer park, car park and access road. Refused
05/05/1982
HS/FA/82/00641 Erection of control room for valves on sewers and long sea outfall for
discharge of sewage. Granted 15/12/1982
HS/OA/75/0038

Redevelopment by the erection of 119 dwellings. Refused 17/09/1975

HS/64/00415

Erection of ready mixed concrete plant, office and messroom. Refused
09/06/1964

HS/OA/60/00467 Use of land for light industrial purposes. Refused 26/07/1960
HS/OA/59/01103 Erection of Machine joinery Workshops and Timber Stores. Withdrawn
31/12/1959
National and local policies
Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy 2014
Policy DS1 - New Housing Development
Policy FA1 - Strategic Policy for Western Area
Policy FA6 - Strategic Policy for The Seafront
Policy SC1 - Overall Strategy for Managing Change in a Sustainable Way
Policy SC3 - Promoting Sustainable and Green Design
Policy SC4 - Working Towards Zero Carbon Development
Policy SC7 - Flood Risk
Policy EN1 - Built and Historic Environment
Policy EN3 - Nature Conservation and Improvement of Biodiversity
Policy H1 - Housing Density
Policy H2 - Housing Mix
Policy H3 - Provision of Affordable Housing
Policy T3 - Sustainable Transport
Hastings Local Plan – Development Management Plan 2015
Policy LP1 - Considering planning applications
Policy DM1 - Design Principles
Policy DM3 - General Amenity
Policy DM4 - General Access
Policy DM5 - Ground Conditions
Policy DM6 - Pollution and Hazards
Policy HN8 - Biodiversity and Green Space
Other policies/guidance
Sussex Air Quality and Emissions Mitigation Guidance 2013
Technical housing standards - nationally described space standard, March 2015, Department
for Communities and Local Government
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Page 66

Paragraph 11 sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable development and states
that development proposals which accord with the Development Plan should be approved
without delay.
Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. Three dimensions of sustainability given in paragraph 8 are to be sought jointly:
economic (by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and
at the right time to support growth and innovation); social (providing housing, creating high
quality environment with accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to,
protecting and enhancing natural, built and historic environment) whilst paragraph 9 advises
that plans and decisions need to take local circumstances into account, so they respond to the
different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different areas.
Section 12 of the NPPF sets out the requirement for good design in development. Paragraph
124 states: "The creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the
planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities."
Paragraph 127 of the NPPF requires that decisions should ensure developments:
 Function well;
 Add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of that development;
 Are visually attractive in terms of:
 Layout
 Architecture
 Landscaping
 Are sympathetic to local character/history whilst not preventing change or innovation;
 Maintain a strong sense of place having regard to:
 Building types
 Materials
 Arrangement of streets
 Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate number and mix of
development;
 Create safe places with a high standard of amenity for future and existing users
Paragraph 130 states permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails
to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the
way that it functions.
Paragraph 130 also seeks to ensure that the quality of an approved development is not
materially diminished between permission and completion through changes to the permitted
scheme.
Paragraph 155 states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be
avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk (whether existing or future).
Where development is necessary in such areas, the development should be made safe for its
lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere.
Paragraph 163 requires Local Planning Authorities to ensure that flood risk is not increased
elsewhere. Where appropriate, applications should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk
assessment. Development should only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where, in the
light of this assessment (and the sequential and exception tests, as applicable) it can be
demonstrated that:

Page 67

a) within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk,
unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different location;
b) the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient;
c) it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that this would
be inappropriate;
d) any residual risk can be safely managed; and
e) safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an agreed
emergency plan.

3. Consultation comments
Hastings Borough Council (Waste) - no objection
No specific comments raised
Hastings Borough Council (Housing) - support
Support the application on the basis that it provides over 40% affordable housing to help meet
local housing need.(Section 106 agreement)
Hastings Borough Council (Environmental Health) - no objection subject to conditions
Require conditions relating to further investigation in terms of land contamination, a
Construction Management Plan and control of working hours (Conditions 19-23)
East Sussex County Council (Highways) - no objection subject to conditions
Do not consider that the trips generated will have a significant impact on the highway network.
Will require a Travel Plan at detailed design stage. (Condition 11)
East Sussex County Council (S106) - require contributions
Require contribution to library services as a result of the development (S106 Agreement)
East Sussex County Council (Archaeology) - no comment received
Whilst no comment was received for this application, no objection was raised to the previous
application as no significant below ground archeological remains are likely to be affected. This
comment would still be relevant given the similarities of this application to the previous one.
Natural England - no comment
Refer to standing advice in relation to ancient woodland, veteran trees and the natural
environment as a whole.
Southern Water - no objection subject to conditions
Consider the revised drainage strategy drawing to be acceptable.
Pevensey and Cuckmere Water Level Management Board and East Sussex County Council
(SUDs) - no objection subject to conditions
Satisfied with the submitted drainage strategy, subject to the imposition of conditions and
further detail at the reserved matters stage (conditions 13-18)
Environment Agency - no objection subject to conditions
Require a condition to ensure the implementation of the recommendations of the Flood Risk
Assessment (condition 13)
Network Rail - no comment received
Whilst no comment received, the previous notes to the applicant will still apply for the current
application given their similarities (note 6).

Page 68

4. Representations
Following the display of a site notice, 9 letters of representation have been received, from 9
different properties. These raise the following issues:









Flood risk to properties
Loss of parking
construction noise
Access problems to site
Increased traffic generation
Overdevelopment
Loss of open space
Pressure on utilities

5. Determining issues
This is a re-submission of an application refused against officer recommendation at Planning
Committee in October 2018 which was withdrawn by the applicant before the decision notice
was issued. Further information has been submitted in February 2019 in support of the
current application in relation to flood risk and drainage issues to address the concerns raised
by residents and councillors at that time. As was the case in the previous application, the
main issues to be considered are:










The principle of the proposed development
Layout and Design
Character and Appearance
The impact on neighbouring residential amenities
Future residential amenities
Highway safety /parking /access
Provision of affordable housing and contributions
Impacts on ecology
Flooding

a) Principle
This application is outline and requests approval for access only. Therefore matters of scale,
appearance, layout and landscaping are reserved and not relevant to the determination of the
application.
Policy LP1 of the Hastings Local Plan - Development Management (DMP) (2015), paragraph
4.3 of the Hastings Local Plan - Planning Strategy (PS) (2014) and paragraph 8 of the NPPF
set out a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
Whilst not allocated in the Local Plan for housing, the site is within a sustainable location with
reasonable access to public transport (nearest bus stop less than 25m from the site entrance),
shops, services and facilities and as such the development is considered acceptable in
principle subject to other local plan policies. The site is within the urban area and the
development would provide much needed affordable and market housing, and assist in
meeting the Council's housing land supply as a windfall site. The character of the locality is
primarily residential with nearby commercial uses, and as such the principle of development is
acceptable subject to other Local Plan Policies.

Page 69

b) Layout and design
At this stage the layout and design are indicative. However, the submitted layout and design
are appropriate and represent a good use of the site, demonstrating it can accommodate this
level of development at reserved matters stage. It is noted the layout, to an extent, is dictated
by the Southern Water easements and sewers.
The design of the dwellings, although indicative, would not be at odds with the immediate
locality. The scale also relates to the immediate locality (2-storey) and the appearance of the
dwellings is considered to be appropriate in this location.
The new dwellings would be appropriately spaced and not overly cramped with good sized
gardens. There is suitable open/public amenity space available, which will be accommodated
at reserved matters stage. Therefore, it is considered the development is capable of
accommodating the level of units proposed, whilst still respecting local character, in
accordance with Policy DM1 of the Development Management Plan 2015.
c) Impact on character and appearance of area
It is important to note that plans are indicative and the following provides general comment
only.
The proposed residential development would not be at odds with the established character of
the area. The dwellings would be behind the dwellings on Bexhill Road and separated by rear
gardens. Although the site is not overly prominent, it would be visible by the public along the
coastal path and cycle route to the south. The scale of the dwellings within a wider landscaped
area would be similar to the dwellings in the immediate locality (predominantly 2 storey) and
as such it is not considered they would be overly prominent or out of character. Thus it is
considered a development could be brought forward at reserved matters stage which would
meet the aims of Policy DM1 of the DMP 2015.
d) Impact on neighbouring residential amenities
A number of the letters of representation raised the noise impact as a result of the dwellings.
Due to the site's location within the urban area, and as with any such residential development
on this site there is little to suggest there would be any significant adverse impact on the
residential amenities of existing dwellings in the locality. Environmental Health and Building
Control Regulations would also address any noise issues arising from residential properties.
Furthermore, conditions (Nos 23 and 26) will be imposed controlling building times and
requiring a Construction Management Plan (CMP) to be submitted prior to commencement of
works on site.
Due to the indicative position of the dwellings and the distance to the adjacent properties to
the north on Bexhill Road (over 35m from potential rear building lines of proposed dwellings to
the rear building lines of existing dwellings); it is not considered there would be a significant
detrimental impact by way of overshadowing, loss of privacy, or loss of light to existing
properties. Thus at a later reserved matters stage it is considered the development could be
accommodated without a significant detrimental impact on residential amenities in compliance
with DMP Policy DM3 a).

e) Future residential amenities

Page 70

DCLG guidance, 'Technical housing standards - nationally described space standard'
provides a minimum standard for internal floorspace that must be applied to new residential
development.
The indicative plans show all the dwellings appear to accord with the nationally described
standards as follows:





The maisonette would be 1 bedroom 2 persons, and would be 58 sqm
The 2 bed unit would equate to a 2 bed 4 person unit and would be 70 sq m as required
The 3 bed units would equate to a 3 bed, 5 person unit and would be 93 sq m as required
The 4 bed unit would equate to a 6 person unit and would be 106 sq m as required.

It is noted that at this stage these measurements are indicative, however at this outline stage
there are no issues of concern regarding internal living space or providing an adequate
standard of living accommodation.
The proposal includes indicative private rear gardens in excess of 10m and shared green
space to the centre of the site. These are considered to be in accordance with the
requirements of Policy DM3 of the Development Management Plan 2015 to secure an
acceptable living environment for future residents.
f) Ecology
Policy HN8 of the Development Management Plan states that development should result in no
net loss of biodiversity or designated green space as defined on the Policies Map.
The application is supported by an ecological assessment report which outlines how wildlife
will be protected during and after the development. The Council's Environment and Natural
Resources Manager did not object on ecology grounds to the previous application subject to
the imposition of a condition to ensure this ecology report is followed during construction. The
site layout has not altered since the earlier application, and the ecology reports are still up to
date and relevant. As such, the recommendations within are still appropriate and the same
condition is considered reasonable and necessary and will be included as part of the
recommendation (condition 24). As such the development is considered to comply with
Hastings PS 2014 Policy HN8 and is acceptable in terms of impact on biodiversity and
ecology.
g) Air quality, emissions and land contamination
Having regard to guidance contained within 'Air Quality and Emission Mitigation' 2013
produced by Sussex Air Quality Partnership, the proposed development will not exceed
statutory guidelines for airborne pollutants and Environmental Health Officers have no
objection in this respect. A pre-commencement Construction Environmental Management
Plan (CEMP) which includes external lighting is proposed and residential amenities will be
protected by this.
The site is located within a 250m buffer zone of a historic landfill site which could mean it
includes contaminated land. As such the Council's Environmental Health Team has
recommended pre-commencement conditions (Nos 19-23) covering land investigation, risk
assessment and a remediation scheme. The conditions are considered to be reasonable,
relevant and necessary and will be imposed. As such the development would comply with
Development Management Plan Policy DM5 b) with regards to contaminated land.
The development is not considered to give rise to ground or surface water pollution as a pre-

Page 71

commencement condition is attached which requires details of surface and foul water
drainage (condition 12) and the above conditions regarding contaminated land. The
development is therefore in accordance with Policy DM6 of the Hastings DMP (2015).
h) Access, highway safety and parking
This application, and the recently refused and subsequently withdrawn application have been
accompanied by various supporting documents, including a Transport Statement and a Road
Safety Audit. Overall, it is considered that the expected increase in trips to the site as a
result of the proposed development would not have a severe impact on the local highway
network. The design of the proposed access is in line with the East Sussex County Council's
standards, though the bus cage immediately west of the access should be relocated
westwards to reduce the impact this would have on the visibility for vehicles wishing to exit the
site. These works will be secured by a s278 agreement for highway works as part of the
proposed Section 106 Agreement
The site is considered suitably accessible by both public transport and non-motorised modes.
A Travel Plan will however, be required at detailed design stage, which is proposed to be
secured by condition (condition 11).
Trip generation and impact
The TRICS site selection criteria, trip rates and trip calculations have been reviewed and are
considered robust. This results in a total of 65 one-way vehicle movements (i.e. 32 arrivals
and 33 departures) per day, and a maximum of seven one-way vehicle movements in any one
hour (during the morning peak period from 08:00 to 09:00).
No details are provided
regarding current car parking activity to support the assumed net vehicular trip generation. It
is nevertheless accepted that the overall number of trips generated by the proposed
development during peak periods, being no more than seven one-way movements in either
the morning or evening peak, would have no significant impact on the operation of the local
highway network.
A Stage 1 Road Safety Audit was previously undertaken on the site, which did not raise any
concerns regarding the use of the proposed access for a larger volume of trips. It is therefore
considered that the proposed access is suitable for the size of development in question.
Vehicular access
The proposed vehicle access would serve the existing car parking areas as well as the new
residential development.
The required driver visibility sightlines at this location should be a minimum of 2.4m x 43m
being within a 30mph speed limit to accord with Manual for Streets. It has been determined
that the visibility standard would be achievable to a ‘worst case’ position of an eastbound
overtaking vehicle within the central reserve on Bexhill Road. However, the bus cage, which is
part of the proposed bus corridor improvement works, would require relocating westwards to
avoid encroachment on the visibility splay. This will be secured through a s278 agreement
with East Sussex County Council for the design and completion of these highway works set
out in the proposed Section 106 Agreement.
The proposals include a swept path for an 11.2m length refuse vehicle turning in and out of
the site access which demonstrates that the proposed access arrangement for refuse lorries
and collection is suitable.

Page 72

Public transport accessibility
The proposed development has good access to the nearest bus routes as explained in the
developer’s transport statement. This comprises routes 98 (half hourly from Monday to
Saturday and hourly on Sundays) and 99 (every 20 minutes from Monday to Saturday and
hourly Sundays). Both routes connect with National Rail services.
The bus corridor improvements being undertaken by the Highway Authority will include the
introduction of 24-hour bus stop clearway restrictions covering both bus stops, and improved
bus stop facilities. Any amendments to the highway as part of this application should therefore
be undertaken at the cost of the developer through a S278 agreement and should be
addressed at reserved matters stage.
Non-motorised accessibility
The site proposal includes a footway link on the east side of the access road to Bexhill Road,
and there is good cycle infrastructure in close proximity. Internal footway provision would be
secured in the reserved matters application.
i) Environmental Impact Assessment
The National Planning Practice Guidance (Paragraph: 017 Reference ID: 4-017-20170728)
states that "Projects which are described in the first column of Schedule 2 but which do not
exceed the relevant thresholds, or meet the criteria in the second column of the Schedule, or
are not at least partly in a sensitive area, are not Schedule 2 development."
This development is not within a sensitive area as defined by Regulation 2 (1) of the Town and
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 and does not
exceed the thresholds of schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) Regulations 2017.
j) Screening of application under Habitats Regulations 2017 - impact of development on
Ashdown Forest Special Area Conservation ( SAC)
The Council undertook an Air Quality Impact Assessment in 2018. The purpose of the
assessment was to identify likely significant effects of planned housing and employment
growth in Hastings Borough on the conservation objectives of Ashdown Forest Special Area of
Conservation (SAC) from 2017 to 2033. The assessment took account of the traffic growth
expected on roads within the vicinity of the Ashdown Forest SAC/Special Protection Area
(SPA), not just arising from development within Hastings, but also, compliant with the
requirement of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, in combination
with the anticipated growth arising from the development plans of other neighbouring
authorities.
The focus of the Assessment was on Ashdown Forest SAC and SPA.
It was not considered necessary to consider air quality implications of growth in Hastings
Borough on the Pevensey Levels SAC and Ramsar site or the Lewes Downs SAC. In respect
of Pevensey Levels SAC/Ramsar site the interest feature of this SAC (Anisus vorticulus - aka.
a snail) is not affected by nitrogen from vehicle emissions. Lewes Downs SAC is too far
removed to be affected. Nitrogen deposition from additional traffic beyond that modelled
would have to be four times that currently expected from all traffic to exceed critical load at this
location.
The Council has modelled the expected growth in Hastings to 2033 including the Local Plan,
existing planning permissions and demonstrated that development will not result in an

Page 73

adverse effect on the integrity of Ashdown Forest either alone or in combination with other
plans or projects. As such the proposed development is considered to be within the
allowances made within the strategic modelling and is not considered to harm the special
conservation objectives of Ashdown Forest, Pevensey Levels or Lewes Downs Special Areas
of Conservation.
k) Affordable housing and other contributions
Hastings Planning Strategy (HPS) (2014) Policy H3: Provision of Affordable Housing, sets out
the criteria for the provision of affordable housing on Greenfield Land. On Greenfield sites
such as this, a 40% provision of affordable housing is required. This equates to 6.4 units. In
this instance the scheme proposes 7 affordable units, which is above the policy requirement.
The level of affordable housing is to be secured through a section 106 agreement if the
application is granted approval.
East Sussex Country Council has requested a financial contribution of £4208 towards library
services which will also be secured through the proposed section 106 agreement. No other
infrastructure and financial contributions have been requested. It should also be noted that
there is sufficient capacity in existing early years, primary and secondary school provision to
accommodate the additional children that would be generated by the development.
l) Sustainable construction
No information is provided to show how the proposed development would comply with
Hastings Planning Strategy Policies SC3 and SC4 which promote sustainable and green
design and reduce the carbon footprint. However, this application is outline, for access, only
and such matters would be dealt with in a reserved matters application. Condition 25 requires
such details to be submitted at reserved matters stage. Furthermore, the development will be
required to meet building regulations should it be constructed to meet the low carbon levels
within the Code for Sustainable Homes.
m) Flooding and drainage
Flood risk
Since the refusal of permission against officer recommendation in respect of HS/OA/17/01071
in October 2018, the applicant has undertaken further assessment of flooding and drainage
issues to overcome residents and Planning Committee concerns. Technical reports have all
been updated (Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy) and further evidence has been
provided to demonstrate that there will be no adverse impacts to neighbouring properties or
the surrounding area as a result of the proposed development.
The site is located within flood zone 3a and is at high risk of flooding from fluvial and coastal
sources. Planning Policy at both the national and local level states that inappropriate
development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided where possible, but if it is
necessary, it should be appropriately flood resistant and resilient incorporate sustainable
drainage systems, and ensure that any residual risk can be safely managed. A sequential and
exception test should also be undertaken for the development of such sites.
Since the 2018 proposal, the land profile has been slightly altered and a new swale for flood
risk management has been included to provide further protection. The supporting Flood Risk
Assessment explains that the main flood risk to this site is coastal and as a result the land
profile will change to protect against tidal wave overtopping. The application has been
amended so that the levels throughout the development are strategically raised, to allow the

Page 74

ground floor of each of the houses to remain safely above the design flood level as agreed
with the Environment Agency and provide a natural flood defence. Ground floor levels will be
set no lower than 4.100m AOD, and the external levels outside of the building will be between
0.15 - 0.3m below this level. An additional shallow holding swale is also proposed behind the
garden fences in the area of open land to the south of the site to allow water to dissipate
quickly into the ground. This design philosophy was developed in consultation with the
Environment Agency to ensure that it is robust for the 1 in 200 year + climate change
allowance.
The Flood Risk Assessment explains that the Combe Haven watercourse may also pose a
fluvial risk but due to the coastal flooding issues the site is being assessed against the 1 in
200 year event + CC, rather than the 1 in 100 year event + CC normally used for fluvial risk,
the assessment is therefore deemed adequate for both situations.
The submitted updated Flood Risk Assessment includes details required by National and
Local Planning Policy in respect of a sequential and exception test to determine the suitability
of site selection when flooding is an issue. These tests has been undertaken in accordance
with Nation Planning Policy and confirm the following:
1. The search for alternative sites in areas at a lower risk of flooding have not resulted in
suitable sites being available (review of 29 sites)
2. That the development will provide wider sustainability benefits to the community
3. The development will be safe for its life time without increasing flood risk elsewhere
The proposed development will generate a number of sustainability benefits. In particular, the
delivery of additional new private and affordable housing, in an area that is environmentally
constrained and suffers from high housing need, is a significant sustainability benefit that
outweighs any potential harm caused by a sensibly designed residential scheme. In terms of
economic benefits, the development will create jobs during the construction phase.
Furthermore, the site is in a sustainable location and will develop under utilised land within an
established residential area.
In order to ensure that the development is safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk
elsewhere, the proposal incorporates the following measures:
 All sleeping accommodation will be at first floor level;
 Remaining living accommodation at a raised level of 300mm above the design flood level;
 Ground floor slab no less than 4.1m AOD;
 The new proposals for the dwelling will comprise concrete suspended ground floors with
appropriate voids/vents for any transmission of flood water passing through to be detailed
in architect drawings;
 General flood resilience such as full port non-return valves and electrical circuitry installed
at a minimum of 900mm above the ground floor slab.
Condition 15 will also ensure that properties will sign up to the Environment Agency Flood
Warning service.
Surface water
Surface water is proposed to be managed through a drainage attenuation tank, permeable
paving and the infiltration swale at the southern boundary, to cater for any potential tidal spray.
Other individual SUDs measures include (but will not necessarily be limited to):


Manual or automatic covers for air bricks installed to prevent ingress of water into the
cavity wall.

Page 75






Full port non-return valves should be installed in the ground floor toilets to prevent back
flow into the property.
Property owner should consider installing external flood resilience doors or portable door
barriers.
Sleeping accommodation at the 1st floor level, with any remaining living accommodation at
a raised level, minimum 300mm above the design flood level.
Concrete suspended ground floors with appropriate voids/vents for any transmission of
flood water passing through, or for the purposes of dissipating any groundwater rising,
preventing any seepage through the floor slab.

The swale will enable water to be retained at the rear of the site, away from the dwellings and
will be allowed to naturally soak away. The remaining surface water is proposed to be
managed through the connection to the existing sewerage system. Both East Sussex
County Council (SUDs) and the Pevensey and Cuckmere Water Level Management Board
and Southern Water have not objected to the application subject to conditions (nos. 13-18)
being imposed for details of how surface water run off can be managed on site as to not cause
flooding. A drainage strategy has been submitted to satisfactorily demonstrate that surface
water can be safely managed on site.
Condition 12 will also ensure details of the adequate foul and surface water sewerage
disposal have been submitted to the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of
development.
It should be noted that the Reserved Matters stage will ensure that additional detail and flood
mitigation measures are incorporated into the proposal. The applicant has confirmed that at
this stage, the site would be fully engineered and detailed to align with all conditions imposed
on the development, which would be discharged in consultation with the East Sussex County
Council and the Environment Agency. Any flood mitigation that is not detailed as part of the
Civil Engineering design package would be picked up in the architectural detailing and
specification. The consultation responses from the LLFA and EA on this application have
agreed the principles of the design and suggested appropriate conditions that will secure the
required detail.
Overall, following multiple submissions regarding flooding and drainage, it is considered that
with the inclusion of the above conditions and dependant on reserved matters details, that the
development would be safe for its lifetime, protecting people and property from flooding
without increasing flood risk elsewhere. It would also provide wider sustainability benefits to
the community in compliance with paragraph 155-16 of the NPPF and Policy SC7 of the
Hastings Planning Strategy.

6. Local finance considerations
East Sussex County Council would receive a payment towards library facilities should the
application be recommended for approval subject to the S106 agreement. These contributions
are material to the recommendation of the application.
The development would be subject to the New Homes Bonus scheme. Under the scheme the
Government matches the council tax raised from new homes for the first six years. The
Council then works with the community to decide how to spend the extra funding. Although a
clear incentive to promoting development, this payment is not considered material to the
application.

7. Evidence of community involvement

Page 76

A public consultation exercise was undertaken by the agents in October 2017 for a scheme
materially the same as the current proposal. Surrounding neighbouring dwellings were sent
leaflets detailing the scheme. Six responses were received and included mixed feedback. No
consultation has since been undertaken.

8. Conclusion
Considering the above discussion the proposed development is considered to be sustainable
development in accordance with the NPPF and in compliance with relevant policies of the
Hastings Development Management Plan (2015) and Hastings Planning Strategy (2014). It
will provide for much needed residential accommodation and secure a benefit of affordable
housing and at this outline stage has demonstrated safe access onto the public highway and
protection from flood risk. Furthermore, through indicative plans it has been demonstrated that
the layout for 16 dwellings can be accommodated at reserved matters stage in compliance
with relevant policies and guidance.
The proposal complies with the Development Plan in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which states:
"If regard is to be had to the Development Plan for the purpose of any determination to be
made under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise".
The Human Rights considerations have been taken into account fully in balancing the
planning issues.

9. Recommendation
A) That the Planning Services Manager be authorised to issue planning permission
upon completion of an agreement under S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act to
secure:




a financial contribution towards libraries (£4208)
seven affordable housing units (indicated as 4 x 1 bed flats, 2 x 2 bed houses 1 x 3
bed house)
S278 Agreement for highway works to include right turn lane, bus cage relocation
and alterations to the access

unless it has been conclusively shown that the development would not be viable and it
would still be acceptable in planning terms without the identified development
contributions. In the event that the Agreement is not completed by 6 December 2019
that permission be refused on the grounds that the application does not comply with
the relevant policies (policies H3 and CI1) of the Hastings Local Plan, The Hastings
Planning Strategy 2011-2028 or the Hastings Local Plan, Development Management
Plan unless an extension of time has been agreed in writing by the Planning Services
Manager in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of the Planning Committee.
B) Subject to the above
Grant Outline Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:

Page 77

1.

Approval of the details of the layout, scale and external appearance of the
building(s) and the soft and hard landscaping of the site (hereinafter called
"the reserved matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in
writing before any development is commenced.

2.

Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in Condition 1
above, relating to the layout, scale, external appearance of any buildings to
be erected and the soft and hard landscaping of the site, shall be submitted in
writing to the Local Planning Authority and shall be carried out as approved.

3.

Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.

4.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission, or before the
expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved
matters to be approved, whichever is the later.

5.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in, in terms of access
only, in accordance with the following approved plans:
1611/P/001, 1611/P/002,
1611/P/101, 1611/P/104/B

1611/P/003/B,

1611/P/102/A,

1611/P/103,

6.

No development shall commence until the vehicular access serving the
development has been constructed in accordance with details to be
submitted and approved in relation to condition 1 (reserved matters) above.

7.

No part of the development shall be occupied until the road(s), footways and
parking areas serving the development have been constructed, surfaced,
drained and lit in accordance with plans and details submitted and approved
by the Local Planning Authority in relation to condition 1 (reserved matters)
above. The parking areas shall thereafter be retained for that use and shall
not be used other than for the parking of motor vehicles.

8.

The development shall not be occupied until a turning space for vehicles has
been provided and constructed in accordance with details submitted and
approved in relation to condition 1 (reserved matters) above. The turning
space shall thereafter be retained for that use and shall not be used for any
other purpose.

9.

Prior to demolition or construction works commencing on site a Construction
Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) shall be submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority. This
shall include the size of vehicles, wheel cleaning facilities, contractor parking
and compound for plant/machinery and materials clear of the public highway.
(Given the restrictions of the access hours of delivery/collection should avoid
peak traffic flow times).

10.

The development shall not be occupied until cycle and car parking areas
have been provided in accordance with the details which have been

Page 78

submitted to and approved in relation to condition 1 (reserved matters)
above. The areas shall thereafter be retained for that use and shall not be
used other than for the parking of cycles or motor vehicles as relevant.
11.

The details required by condition 1 shall include a Travel Plan Statement to
be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This shall be
completed in accordance with the latest guidance and good practice
documentation as published by the Department for Transport.

12.

(i)

Construction of the development shall not commence until details of the
proposed means of foul sewerage and surface water
disposal/management have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority.

(ii) Development shall then be carried out in accordance with the details
approved under (i) and no occupation of any of the dwellings or flats
hereby approved shall occur until those works have been completed.
(iii)

13.

No occupation of any of the dwellings or flats hereby approved shall
occur until the Local Planning Authority has confirmed in writing that it is
satisfied, that the necessary drainage infrastructure capacity is now
available to adequately service the development.

The development permitted by this planning permission shall only be carried
out in accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (February 2019)
and the following mitigation measures detailed within the FRA section 7,
critically:
1. All sleeping accommodation will be at first floor level
2. Remaining living accommodation at a raised level of 300mm
(minimum) above the design flood level
3. Ground floor slab no less than 4.1m AOD
4. General flood resilience such as full port non-return valves and
electrical circuitry installed at a minimum of 900mm above the ground
floor slab.
5. The new proposals for the dwelling will comprise concrete suspended
ground floors with appropriate voids/vents for any transmission of flood
water passing through, to be detailed in the architectural drawings.
6. Sign up to the Environment Agency Flood warning service
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and
subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements
embodied within the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently
be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.

14.

Surface water runoff from the proposed development should be limited 3.2 l/s
for rainfall events including those with a 1 in 100 (plus 40%) annual
probability of occurrence. Evidence of this (in the form hydraulic calculations)
should be submitted with the detailed drainage drawings. The hydraulic
calculations should take into account the connectivity of the different surface

Page 79

water drainage features. This should include evidence that Southern Water
has capacity to accept the proposed surface water discharge into its network.
The detailed drainage design should include information on how surface
water flows exceeding the capacity of the surface water drainage features will
be managed safely.
The infiltration swale must be carried forward to
detailed design and implementation.
15.

Evidence that Southern Water agrees to the proposed surface water
discharge rate should be submitted and approved in relation to a reserved
matters application required by conditions 1 and 2.

16.

A maintenance and management plan for the entire drainage system should
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority before any construction
commences on site. This plan should clearly state who will be responsible for
managing all aspects of the surface water drainage system, including piped
drains, and the appropriate authority should be satisfied with the submitted
details. Evidence that these responsibility arrangements will remain in place
throughout the lifetime of the development should be provided to within the
maintenance and management plan.

17.

Prior to commencement of development on site, the applicant should submit
to the Local Planning Authority for approval, measures to manage flood risk,
on the site, during the construction phase.

18.

Prior to occupation of the development, evidence (including photographs)
should be submitted showing that the drainage system has been constructed
as per the final agreed detailed drainage designs submitted as part of
condition 11.

19.

Prior to commencement of development a Site Characterisation investigation
and risk assessment, must be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority in accordance with a scheme to assess the nature
and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates within
the site. The investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by
competent persons. The report of the findings must include:
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:
 human health
 property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops,
livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes
 adjoining land
 groundwaters and surface waters
 ecological systems
 archaeological sites and ancient monuments
(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s)
This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment
Agency’s “Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination,
CLR 11”

20.

Submission of Remediation Scheme - Prior to commencement of
development a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition

Page 80

suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human
health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical
environment must be submitted in writing to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works
and site management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will
not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental
protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land after
remediation.
21.

Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme - The approved
remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
commencement of development other than that required to carry out
remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written notification of
commencement of the remediation scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation
scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the
remediation carried out must be produced, and is subject to the approval in
writing of the Local Planning Authority.

22.

Reporting of unexpected contamination - In the event that contamination is
found at any time when carrying out the approved development that was not
previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local
Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken
in accordance with the requirements of condition 18, and where remediation
is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the
requirements of condition 19, which is subject to the approval in writing of the
Local Planning Authority.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation
scheme a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the
approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with
condition 20.
Long-term monitoring and maintenance - A monitoring and maintenance
scheme to include monitoring the long-term effectiveness of the proposed
remediation over a period of years, and the provision of reports on the same,
must be prepared, both of which are subject to the approval in writing of the
Local Planning Authority.
Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme and when the
remediation objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the
effectiveness of the monitoring and maintenance carried out must be
produced, and submitted to the Local Planning Authority.
This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment
Agency’s “Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination,
CLR 11”

Page 81

Before the development hereby permitted commences the applicant must
either:
a) Investigate the site for landfill gas to the satisfaction of the Local Planning
Authority (LPA), to ascertain whether gas protection measures are required.
Where measures are required, the details shall be submitted to, and
approved by, the LPA.
or
b) The applicant shall install gas protection measures as a precautionary
measure without first investigating the site. The details of these measures
shall be submitted to, and approved by, the LPA.
In either circumstance all required measures shall be installed before the
development is first occupied and a building surveyors certification that the
work has been done will need to be supplied to the LPA.
23.

No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The approved
CEMP shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The CEMP
shall provide for:
a. An indicative programme for carrying out of the works
b. The arrangements for public consultation and liaison during the
construction works
c. Measures to minimise the noise (including vibration) generated by the
construction process to include hours of work, proposed method of piling
for foundations, the careful selection of plant and machinery and use of
noise mitigation barrier(s)
d. Details of any flood lighting, including location, height, type and direction
of light sources and intensity of illumination
e. The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
f. Loading and unloading of plant and materials
g. Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
h. The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate
i.

Wheel washing facilities

j.

Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction

k.
A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and
construction works
24.

All ecological measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance with
the details contained in the ecological assessment report by the Ash
Partnership dated December 2017 as already submitted with the planning

Page 82

application and agreed in principle with the Local Planning Authority prior to
determination.
25.

Details of sustainable construction shall be submitted as part of a reserved
matters application in relation to condition 1 (reserved matters).

26.

With the exception of internal works the building works required to carry out
the development allowed by this permission must only be carried out within
the following times:08.00 - 18.00 Monday to Friday
08.00 - 13.00 on Saturdays
No working on Sundays or Public Holidays.

27.

The details required by condition 1 shall include details of location of bin
storage and collection. A system must also be included for bin collection so
that future residents must present their bins to receive their scheduled
collection and that would be presented on the highway (front path) of the
access road to the estate adjacent to the public car park within the site.

Reasons:
1.

The application is in outline only.

2.

The application is in outline only.

3.

This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of
the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

4.

This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of
the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

5.

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

6.

In the interests of road safety.

7.

To secure satisfactory standards of access for the proposed development.

8.

To ensure the safety of persons and vehicles entering and leaving the access
and proceeding along the highway.

9.

In the interests of highway safety and for the benefit and convenience of the
public at large.

10.

In order that the development site is accessible by non car modes and to
meet the objectives of sustainable development.

11.

To encourage and promote sustainable transport.

12.

To prevent increased risk of flooding.

Page 83

13.

In line with section 9 of the Planning Practice Guidance to the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) for Flood Risk and Coastal Change to
prevent flooding elsewhere and reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed
development and future occupants.

14.

To prevent increased risk of flooding.

15.

To prevent increased risk of flooding.

16.

To prevent increased risk of flooding.

17.

To prevent increased risk of flooding during construction.

18.

To prevent increased risk of flooding.

19.

To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours
and other offsite receptors.

20.

To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours
and other offsite receptors.

21.

To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours
and other offsite receptors.

22.

To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours
and other offsite receptors.

23.

To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residential amenities during the
construction of the development.

24.

To prevent harm to protected species.

25.

To ensure environmentally sustainable and green development to comply
with Hastings Planning Strategy (2014) policies SC3 and SC4.

26.

To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residents.

27.

To provide waste storage and collection facilities for the residents of the
estate.

Page 84

Notes to the Applicant
1.

Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result in
enforcement action without further warning.

2.

Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.

3.

A formal application for connection to the public foul sewerage system is
required in order to service this development, please contact Southern Water:
Developer Services, Southern Water, Southern House, Sparrowgrove,
Otterbourne, Hampshire, SO21 2SW. Tel: 0330 303 0119. E-mail:
developerservices@southernwater.co.uk.

4.

This permission is the subject of an obligation under Section 106 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

5.

The developer's attention is drawn to the committee report and the
consultation responses received as part of the application. Both include
comments which will be necessary to take on board when developing a
detailed submission.

6.

The Developer must ensure that their proposal, both during construction and
after completion of works on site, does not:









encroach onto Network Rail land
affect the safety, operation or integrity of the company's railway and its
infrastructure
undermine its support zone
damage the company's infrastructure
place additional load on cuttings
adversely affect any railway land or structure
over-sail or encroach upon the air-space of any Network Rail land
cause to obstruct or interfere with any works or proposed works or
Network Rail development both now and in the future

The developer should comply with the following comments and requirements
for the safe operation of the railway and the protection of Network Rail's
adjoining land.
Future maintenance
The development must ensure any future maintenance can be conducted
solely on the applicant's land. The applicant must ensure that any
construction and any subsequent maintenance can be carried out to any
proposed buildings or structures without adversely affecting the safety of, or
encroaching upon Network Rail's adjacent land and air-space, and therefore
all/any building should be situated at least 2 metres (3m for overhead lines
and third rail) from Network Rail's boundary.
The reason for the 2m (3m for overhead lines and third rail) stand off
requirement is to allow for construction and future maintenance of a building

Page 85

and without requirement for access to the operational railway environment
which may not necessarily be granted or if granted subject to railway site
safety requirements and special provisions with all associated railway costs
charged to the applicant. Any less than 2m (3m for overhead lines and
third rail) and there is a strong possibility that the applicant (and any future
resident) will need to utilise Network Rail land and air-space to facilitate
works. The applicant / resident would need to receive approval for such works
from Network Rail Asset Protection, the applicant / resident would need to
submit the request at least 20 weeks before any works were due to
commence on site and they would be liable for all costs (e.g. all possession
costs, all site safety costs, all asset protection presence costs). However,
Network Rail is not required to grant permission for any third party access to
its land. No structure/building should be built hard-against Network Rail's
boundary as in this case there is an even higher probability of access to
Network Rail land being required to undertake any construction /
maintenance works. Equally any structure/building erected hard against the
boundary with Network Rail will impact adversely upon our maintenance
teams' ability to maintain our boundary fencing and boundary treatments.
Drainage
Storm/surface water must not be discharged onto Network Rail's property or
into Network Rail's culverts or drains except by agreement with Network Rail.
Suitable drainage or other works must be provided and maintained by the
Developer to prevent surface water flows or run-off onto Network Rail's
property. Proper provision must be made to accept and continue drainage
discharging from Network Rail's property; full details to be submitted for
approval to Network Rail Asset Protection. Suitable foul drainage must be
provided separate from Network Rail's existing drainage. Soakaways, as a
means of storm/surface water disposal must not be constructed near/within
10-20 metres of Network Rail's boundary or at any point which could
adversely affect the stability of Network Rail's property. After the completion
and occupation of the development, any new or exacerbated problems
attributable to the new development shall be investigated and remedied at the
applicants' expense.
Plant & materials
All operations, including the use of cranes or other mechanical plant working
adjacent to Network Rail's property, must at all times be carried out in a 'fail
safe' manner such that in the event of mishandling, collapse or failure, no
plant or materials are capable of falling within 3.0m of the boundary with
Network Rail.
Scaffolding
Any scaffold which is to be constructed within 10 metres of the railway
boundary fence must be erected in such a manner that at no time will any
poles over-sail the railway and protective netting around such scaffold must
be installed. The applicant/applicant's contractor must consider if they can
undertake the works and associated scaffold/access for working at height
within the footprint of their property boundary.
Piling
Where vibro-compaction/displacement piling plant is to be used in
development, details of the use of such machinery and a method statement
should be submitted for approval to Network Rail Asset Protection prior to the

Page 86

commencement of works and the works shall only be carried out in
accordance with the approved method statement.
Fencing
In view of the nature of the development, it is essential that the developer
provide (at their own expense) and thereafter maintain a substantial, trespass
proof fence along the development side of the existing boundary fence, to a
minimum height of 1.8 metres. The 1.8m fencing should be adjacent to the
railway boundary and the developer/applicant should make provision for its
future maintenance and renewal without encroachment upon Network Rail
land. Network Rail's existing fencing / wall must not be removed or damaged
and at no point either during construction or after works are completed on site
should the foundations of the fencing or wall or any embankment therein, be
damaged, undermined or compromised in any way. Any vegetation on
Network Rail land and within Network Rail's boundary must also not be
disturbed. Any fencing installed by the applicant must not prevent Network
Rail from maintaining its own fencing/boundary treatment.
Lighting
Any lighting associated with the development (including vehicle lights) must
not interfere with the sighting of signalling apparatus and/or train drivers
vision on approaching trains. The location and colour of lights must not give
rise to the potential for confusion with the signalling arrangements on the
railway. The developers should obtain Network Rail's approval of their
detailed proposals regarding lighting.
Noise and vibration
The potential for any noise/ vibration impacts caused by the proximity
between the proposed development and any existing railway must be
assessed in the context of the National Planning Policy Framework which
hold relevant national guidance information. The current level of usage may
be subject to change at any time without notification including increased
frequency of trains, night time train running and heavy freight trains.
Vehicle incursion
Where a proposal calls for hard standing area / parking of vehicles area near
the boundary with the operational railway, Network Rail would recommend
the installation of a highways approved vehicle incursion barrier or high kerbs
to prevent vehicles accidentally driving or rolling onto the railway or damaging
lineside fencing.
Network Rail strongly recommends the developer contacts Network Rail
Asset
Protection
London
South
East
at
AssetProtectionsussex@networkrail.co.uk prior to any works commencing on
site, and also to agree an Asset Protection Agreement with us to enable
approval of detailed works. More information can also be obtained from our
website at www.networkrail.co.uk/aspx/1538.aspx.
7.

Conflicts between the bus cage and the proposed access to Bexhill Road are
outstanding, which could impact on the westbound visibility at the access.
This must be addressed by moving the bus cage westwards as part of a
reserved matters application.
Given the status of the bus corridor project, it is considered that any works

Page 87

including the proposed double yellow lines, right turn pocket and amended
bus stops would be the responsibility of the applicant and would need to be
agreed with East Sussex County Council on 01273 48225
8.

The applicant is advised that the access roads must be able withstand the
weight of a 26 ton vehicle and a system must be in place to prevent car
parking at the front of the estate entrance to prevent overcrowding of vehicles
which could block the entrance and prevent refuse collections.

9.

The applicant is required to enter into a formal easement agreement with
Southern Water, to protect the foul water rising mains crossing the site.
Please note no structures/building or foundation works will be permitted
within the easement strips areas. Southern Water will require 24 hours a day,
7 days a week access to the land to maintain our critical apparatus.

10.

The applicant is advised to contact the Transport Development Control Team
(01273 482254) to commence the process associated with the proposed
Traffic Regulation Order. The applicant would be responsible for meeting all
costs associated with this process, which is a minimum of £5000. The
applicant should note that the outcome of this process cannot be guaranteed
as it is open to public objection.

_____________________________________________________________________

Officer to Contact
Mrs S Wood, Telephone 01424 783329

Background Papers
Application No: HS/OA/19/00153 including all letters and documents

Page 88

Agenda
Item
6b rights [2019]. OS [100021328]
© Crown Copyright
and database
EN
SW
AY

CF

10

25

14

QU
E

12

Path (um)

Y
AUGUSTUS WA

±

99.8m

2
16

11

DR
HA

20

Co
nq
ue
ro

14

1

8

16

5

17

7

Sub Sta

NS

h
Pat

El

N
IA

11

CP

Posts

GD

15

r In
du
str

ial
Es
tat
e

CR

6

1

INU
S

1

3

CAR

5

GAR

DEN

S

6

TUS
AUGUS

3
25

Pond

85

0

79

19 Moorhurst Road
St Leonards-on-sea
TN38 9NB

Date: May 2019
Scale: 1:1,250

Application No. HS/FA/18/00924

86

10

20

30

40
Meters

Change of use from B1 (light industrial) to a B2 use
as a welding business

Assistant Director Housing & Built Environment
Hastings Borough Council,
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451090
email: planning@hastings.gov.uk
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Page 89

This page is intentionally left blank

AGENDA ITEM NO: 6 (b)
Report to:

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting:

06 June 2019

Report from:

Assistant Director of Housing and Built Environment

Application Address:

Application No:

19 Moorhurst Road, St Leonards-on-sea, TN38
9NB
Change of use from B1 (light industrial) to a B2
use as a welding business.
HS/FA/18/00924

Recommendation:

Grant Full Planning Permission

Ward:
Conservation Area:
Listed Building:

HOLLINGTON 2018
Yes - NO
No

Applicant:

Booth Welding Ltd per GRF Planning Flat1 30
Collington Avenue Bexhill on Sea TN39 3NE

Proposal:

Public Consultation
Site Notice:
Press Advertisement:
Letters of Objection:
Petitions of Objection Received:
Letters of Support:
Petitions of Support Received:
Neutral comments received
Application Status:

Yes

No
8
0
0
0
0
Not delegated - 5 or more letters of objection
received

1. Site and Surrounding Area
The site comprises a small unit No.19 on the Conquest Industrial Estate situated at the top of
Moorhurst Road to the north of the Castleham Industrial Estate. The estate lies adjacent to
Queensway and backs onto residential dwellings along Augustus Way. Planning permission
was granted in 1982 for light industrial units subject to a planning condition that no process
shall be carried on and no machinery shall be installed or used which causes detriment to the
amenities of the area.
The application unit is one of a row of 4 units. It measures some 110sqm gross floor space.
The units are single-storey and utilitarian in character, with brick elevations and a have a low
pitch corrugated roof. The application unit has a front access door, a window and a full length
workshop door. There is a skip situated by the front entrance of the application unit No.19 for

Page 91

waste. The units are set in a large industrial area with car parking space and vehicle access at
the front of the units. There is no rear access to the application unit.
Constraints
Castleham Industrial Estate
SSSI Impact Risk Zone (does not exceed threshold)
Low Pressure Pipeline SGN

2. Proposed development
This application seeks retrospective permission for the change of use of unit No.19 from B1
(light industrial) use to B2 (general industrial) use as a welding business.
The business provides precision engineering services / specialist welding services and
employs 4 people. The equipment used comprises 3 tig welders, 1 Colchester lathe, 1
machine centre and 1 screw compressor. Metal waste is stored in a skip outside the front of
the premises.
Hours of work are given as 7am to 5pm Monday to Friday with some Saturday working
between 7am and 1pm.
The application is supported by the following documents:



Design and Access Statement
Site Waste Management Plan

Relevant Planning History
HS/FA/81/00741 Erection of six blocks of light industrial unit factories, each comprising 4
units.
Granted

17.03.1982

National and Local Policies
Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy (2014)
Policy FA1 - Strategic Policy for Western Area
Policy SC1 - Overall Strategy for Managing Change in a Sustainable Way
Policy SC4 - Working Towards Zero Carbon Development
Policy E1 - Existing Employment Land and Premises
Policy E2 - Skills and Access to Jobs
Hastings Local Plan – Development Management Plan (2015)
Policy LP1 - Considering planning applications
Policy DM3 - General Amenity
Policy DM4 - General Access
Policy DM6 – Pollution and Hazards
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Paragraph 11 sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable development and states
that development proposals which accord with the Development Plan should be approved
without delay.

Page 92

Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. Three dimensions of sustainability given in paragraph 8 are to be sought jointly:
economic (by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and
at the right time to support growth and innovation); social (providing housing, creating high
quality environment with accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to,
protecting and enhancing natural, built and historic environment) whilst paragraph 9 advises
that plans and decisions need to take local circumstances into account, so they respond to the
different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different areas.
Section 12 of the NPPF sets out the requirement for good design in development. Paragraph
124 states: "The creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the
planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities."
Paragraph 127 of the NPPF requires that decisions should ensure developments:
 Function well;
 Add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of that development;
 Are visually attractive in terms of:
 Layout
 Architecture
 Landscaping
 Are sympathetic to local character/history whilst not preventing change or innovation;
 Maintain a strong sense of place having regard to:
 Building types
 Materials
 Arrangement of streets
 Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate number and mix of
development;
 Create safe places with a high standard of amenity for future and existing users
Paragraph 130 states permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails
to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the
way that it functions.
Paragraph 130 also seeks to ensure that the quality of an approved development is not
materially diminished between permission and completion through changes to the permitted
scheme.
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)
When is noise relevant to planning? - Paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 30-001-20140306
Noise needs to be considered when new developments may create additional noise and when
new developments would be sensitive to the prevailing acoustic environment. When preparing
local or neighbourhood plans, or taking decisions about new development, there may also be
opportunities to consider improvements to the acoustic environment.

3. Consultations comments

Page 93

Environmental Health - Noise - No objection, subject to noise mitigation conditions (No.1
& 3)

4. Representations
In respect of this application a site notice was displayed. 8 representations received from 8
different properties were received.
The concerns within these letters include:







Noise nuisance to neighbouring dwellings on Augustus Way
Complaint of noise nuisance since May 2018
Units should be used in the manner that they were originally intended (light industrial)
Setting a precedent for B2 use on the industrial estate, intensifying noise nuisance to
neighbouring residents.
Health and Safety - previous fire on site
Anti-social hours of operation

5. Determining Issues
The main planning issues in determining this application are the principle of the development,
whether the change of use to B2 general industrial is acceptable in this light industrial unit
estate, impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties, pollution and hazards.
It should be acknowledged that when the units were originally granted planning permission in
1982, this was subject to conditions. Condition 10 of the 1982 permission states that 'No
process shall be carried on and no machinery shall be installed or used which causes
detriment to the amenities of the area by reason of noise, vibration, smell, fumes, smoke, soot,
ash, dust or grit'. Despite this condition, planning law requires that applications for planning
permission be determined in accordance with the Development Plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise, with each application must be assessed on its on merits.
a) Principle
The site is located within an established industrial estate and as such, the principle of
industrial use is acceptable, subject to other local plan policies.
b) Proposed change of use
The application site is located within the small Conqueror industrial estate that falls within the
wider established Castleham industrial estate. Policy E1 of the Hastings Planning Strategy
2014 clearly sets out that B1, B2 and B8 uses (or any other use of a similar character) are
appropriate in these locations.
The existing use of the site is classified as B1 (Business) by the Town and Country Planning
(Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended). This is further defined as for the use of any of the
following purposes:




office (other than financial and professional services
research and development of products or processes, or
for any industrial process.

The proposed use falls within a B2 use class, defined as 'general industrial' by the Town and
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) as a use for the carrying on of an
industrial process other than the one falling within class B1. Paragraph 3 of the Order also

Page 94

states that "where land on a single site or on adjacent sites used as parts of a single
undertaking is used for purposes consisting of or including purposes falling within classes B1
and B2 in the Schedule, those classes may be treated as a single class in considering the use
of that land for the purposes of this Order, so long as the area used for a purpose falling within
class B2 is not substantially increased as a result.
The proposed change of use does not deviate from Local Plan Policy (E1 of the Hastings
Planning Strategy) in that it seeks to maintain an active employment use on an established
estate. Castleham is a dedicated employment area that has been in use since the late 70's.
It's boundaries are defined by tree cover, public pathways and space between the edge of the
units and the tree lined boundaries. The residential estate to the east received outline
planning permission in the early 1980's and as such, was built following the establishment of
the estate.
Many objections have been received stating that a B2 use is not appropriate in this location,
and would set a precedent for future changes of use along similar lines. It has also been
claimed that given the proximity of the residential properties in Augustus Way and surrounding
areas, B1 uses should only be carried out, based on the definition in the Use Classes Order
which states that "B1 uses may be carried out in a residential area without detriment to the
amenity of that area by reason of noise, vibration, smell, fumes, smoke, soot, ash, dust or
grit".
The application site is not considered to be located within a residential area, but within the
boundaries of an established employment estate. All "B" uses are therefore, considered
appropriate in this location, and would be in accordance with Local Plan policy.
The definition in the Use Classes Order stated above, which considers the suitability of
employment uses in residential areas, is aimed towards, and applied in, residential streets
where residential properties form the majority of the buildings. It cannot be applied in these
circumstances. Policy E1 clearly supports B2 uses within the Castleham estate, and given the
defined boundaries and the established employment uses in the immediate vicinity, a B2 use
is appropriate in this location, subject to the other considerations throughout the remainder of
this report.
c) Impact on the character of the area
Policy DM1 of the Hastings Development Management Plan states that all proposals must
reach a good standard of design, which includes efficient use of resources, and shows
appreciation of the surrounding neighbourhood's historic context, street patterns, plot layouts
and boundaries, block sizes and scale, height, massing and materials as well as good
performance against nationally recognised best practice guidance on sustainability, urban
design and place-making, architectural quality and distinctiveness.
There would be no external alterations to the existing unit that would impact on the character
and appearance of the surrounding area.
d) Impact on Neighbouring Residential Amenities/ pollution and hazards
To the East of the site are the properties in Augustus Way. These properties range in distance
from 37-54 metres from the application site with a dense line of trees and natural screening
along the shared boundary with the site. These trees are protected by a Tree Preservation
Order (TPO 4, A3).
Policy DM6 of the Hastings Development Management Plan (2015) states that; In order to
protect human health and water quality planning permission will only be granted for
development providing:

Page 95

a) external lighting proposals avoid unnecessary light pollution beyond the specific area
intended to be lit;
b) the level of airborne pollutants caused by the proposed development does not exceed
statutory guidelines, unless appropriate mitigation measures are agreed;
c) noise and odour that is detrimental to neighbouring and/or local amenity is kept to a
practical minimum; appropriate means of assessment may be required;
d) appropriate pollution control measures are incorporated where necessary to protect the
quality of both ground and surface waters;
This Policy goes on to state that, applicants will be required to supply convincing supporting
evidence (from a relevant and suitably qualified professional) that any actual or potential
pollution can be overcome through appropriate remedial, preventative or precautionary
measures. For an application involving the use or storage of hazardous substances, a
separate consent has to be sought from the Hazardous Substances Authority.
As stated above, several letters of objection have been received in relation to levels of noise
arising from the new use, which has been operating since May 2018. In support of the
application a Plant Noise Assessment (February 2019) carried out by Anderson Acoustics has
been submitted. This report focuses on the use operating from the premises along with the
use of a skip outside the unit, as this is a main point of concern raised by local residents.
The report identifies states that no further mitigation measures are required in relation to
operations within the building. However, further mitigation measures have been
recommended to reduce the impact of noise when the metal waste skip is loaded. It has been
advised that a mobile barrier with a height of 2m, be placed at no further than 1m from the
metal waste skip. This barrier should be constructed with a surface density of no less than
15kg/m2 to ensure noise transfer through barrier is negligible.
The application has also been assessed by the Council's Environmental Health Department
who have advised that the use is acceptable, subject to conditions (No.1 & 3).
Taking the above in to account, it is considered that B2 use sought as part of this permission
is acceptable, subject to conditions to mitigate noise levels arising from the use. The proposal
therefore complies with the aims of Policy DM6 as quoted above in respect of protecting
residential amenity.

6. Conclusion
Taking the above into account, while it is acknowledged that there are concerns from local
residents in relation to noise, it has been demonstrated that this is a suitable location to
accommodate a B2 use without causing harm to local residential amenity, subject to mitigation
conditions. It is therefore considered that the proposal complies with the Development Plan in
accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which
states:
"If regard is to be had to the Development Plan for the purpose of any determination to be
made under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise”.
The Human Rights considerations have been taken into account fully in balancing the
planning issues.

7. Recommendation

Page 96

Grant Full Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:
1.

Within three months of the date of this permission evidence is to be submitted
to the Local Planning Authority that the required 2 metre high mobile barrier,
constructed with a surface density of no less than 15kg/m2, has been
provided on site. The mobile barrier is to then be used on site thereafter.

2.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order
revoking and re-enacting that order with or without modification), the
premises shall only be used as a welding business (Class B2) and no other
use as defined within Schedule 2, Part 3, Classes B2 or B8 shall be carried
out on the site.

3.

The premises shall not be used except between the following hours:07.00 - 17.00 - Monday - Friday,
07.00 - 13.00 - Saturdays,
Not at all on Sundays or Bank Holidays.

4.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans:
Site Plan, Block Plan, Floorplan, Plant Noise Assessment (February 2019).

Reasons:
1.

To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residents.

2.

To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residents.

3.

To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residents.

4.

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

Notes to the Applicant
1.

Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result in
enforcement action without further warning.

2.

Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

_____________________________________________________________________

Page 97

Officer to Contact
Mrs E Meppem, Telephone 01424 783288

Background Papers
Application No: HS/FA/18/00924 including all letters and documents

Page 98

6
4

10
1

MAP

83
6

9

T
EIGH

17

LE H

8

±

El Sub Sta

Agenda
Item
6c rights [2019]. OS [100021328]
© Crown Copyright
and database

S

(PH)

123.2m

The Harrow

TI O
NR

14

b
814

1
82

JUN
C

15

816

8
82

OAD

82
5

826

82
7

E

4a
81

TH
E

6
80

813

817

NO

RTH

12

4
81

DG
RI

5
81

82
3

xch
a

LB

nge

220 2
22

pho
ne
E

PO

HARR

El Sub Sta

Hall

128.3m

0

10

2

The Hollies

3

213

O W LA

NE

599

SED
L

Tele

219

ESC
O

221

MBE

RO

AD

811

817 The Ridge
St Leonards-on-sea
TN37 7PX

Date: May 2019
Scale: 1:1,250

Application No. HS/FA/19/00179

20

30

40
Meters

Conversion into two dwellings and alterations including dormer
extensions to front and rear

Assistant Director Housing & Built Environment
Hastings Borough Council,
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451090
email: planning@hastings.gov.uk
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Page 99

This page is intentionally left blank

AGENDA ITEM NO: 6 (c)
Report to:

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting:

06 June 2019

Report from:

Assistant Director of Housing and Built Environment

Application Address:

817 The Ridge, St Leonards-on-sea, TN37 7PX

Proposal:
Application No:

Conversion into two dwellings and alterations
including dormer extensions to front and rear
HS/FA/19/00179

Recommendation:

Grant Full Planning Permission

Ward:
Conservation Area:
Listed Building:

ASHDOWN 2018
No
No

Applicant:

Mrs Connolly per Pump House Designs Pump
House Yard The Green SEDLESCOMBE, East
Sussex. TN33 0QA

Public Consultation
Site Notice:
Press Advertisement:
Letters of Objection:
Petitions of Objection Received:
Letters of Support:
Petitions of Support Received:
Neutral comments received
Application Status:

Yes

No
0
0
0
0
0
Not delegated Application by serving employee in restricted post.

1. Site and surrounding area
817 The Ridge is set back approximately 45m from the highway with an access driveway
which runs southwards between 815 and 821 The Ridge. The existing dwelling is of a chalet
bungalow style with the front and rear facing dormer windows, set at a lower level than the
main road. The garden areas to the rear of 815-817 are extensive and in the process of
being developed for housing. The rear boundary of the application site adjoins the
Dunelm/Pets at Home stores fronting Sedlescombe Road North, again at a lower level than
the application site (although the upper floors of the building are clearly visible).

Page 101

817 The Ridge is a chalet bungalow style detached dwelling with rooms in the roof. The
property has previously been extended to create an annexe to the side along with box
dormers to the front and rear roof slopes.
The area has a varied character being defined by a mixture of uses and different size
buildings including a two storey shop, two storey public house, bungalows, detached
properties and two storey terraced house, as well as the retail park to the rear.
Constraints
 Area affected by surface water flooding (1 in 100 and 1 in 1000)
 2km buffer zone of SGN high pressure pipeline
 SGN low pressure pipeline
 SSSI Impact Risk Zone

2. Proposed development
This application seeks permission for the subdivision of an existing, large detached dwelling to
two, semi-detached dwellings, one three bed and one four bed. As part of the development it
is proposed to erect two dormers to the front elevation and two dormers to the rear. These
dormers will extend the existing box dormers on site.
For ease, hereafter the units will be referred to as Unit L for the left hand unit and Unit R for
the right hand unit.
Unit L Dimensions:
Total floor area - 119.29m²
Bedroom 1 - 12m²
Bedroom 2 -12m²
Bedroom 3 - 9.95m²
Bedroom 4 - 8m²
Unit R Dimensions:
Total floor area - 121.4m²
Bedroom 1 - 11.2m²
Bedroom 2 -11.22m²
Bedroom 3 - 8.5m²
The application is supported by the following documents:
 Design and Access Statement
 Site Waste Management Plan
Relevant planning history
HS/FA/18/00062 Variation of condition 2 - (Approved plans) and condition 5 - (alignment of
the parking area for plot 3 and 817A, and the spaces to the rear; turning
space, and an additional parking space for visitors) of Planning
Permission HS/FA/16/00790 - Amendments to internal layout & design
changes - GRANTED - 05.04.2018
HS/FA/15/00237 Erection of 3 dwellings - GRANTED - 3 June 2015
HS/FA/12/00772 Erection of two detached houses - GRANTED -

5 December 2012

HS/FA/08/00818 Renewal of planning approval HS/FA/06/00004 - GRANTED - 16
February 2009

Page 102

HS/OA/06/00986 Demolition of existing dwellings and outbuildings and redevelopment of
site including road junction improvements, new site access road, 7 x
dwellings and associated off road parking - WITHDRAWN - 15
December 2014
HS/FA/06/00004 Erection of single dwelling - GRANTED - 6 March 2006
HS/FA/05/00617 Erection of single dwelling - REFUSED - 29 April 2005
HS/FA/05/00532 Erection of singe dwelling - WITHDRAWN - 5 August 2005
National and local policies
Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy 2014
Policy DS1 - New Housing Development
Policy FA1 - Strategic Policy for Western Area
Policy SC1 - Overall Strategy for Managing Change in a Sustainable Way
Policy SC7 - Flood Risk
Policy H1 - Housing Density
Policy H2 - Housing Mix
Hastings Local Plan – Development Management Plan 2015
Policy LP1 - Considering planning applications
Policy DM1 - Design Principles
Policy DM3 - General Amenity
Policy DM4 - General Access
Policy DM5 - Ground Conditions
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Paragraph 11 sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable development and states
that development proposals which accord with the Development Plan should be approved
without delay.
Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. Three dimensions of sustainability given in paragraph 8 are to be sought jointly:
economic (by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and
at the right time to support growth and innovation); social (providing housing, creating high
quality environment with accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to,
protecting and enhancing natural, built and historic environment) whilst paragraph 9 advises
that plans and decisions need to take local circumstances into account, so they respond to the
different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different areas.
Section 12 of the NPPF sets out the requirement for good design in development. Paragraph
124 states: "The creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the
planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities."
Paragraph 127 of the NPPF requires that decisions should ensure developments:
 Function well;
 Add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of that development;
 Are visually attractive in terms of:
 Layout
 Architecture

Page 103







 Landscaping
Are sympathetic to local character/history whilst not preventing change or innovation;
Maintain a strong sense of place having regard to:
 Building types
 Materials
 Arrangement of streets
Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate number and mix of
development;
Create safe places with a high standard of amenity for future and existing users

Paragraph 130 states permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails
to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the
way that it functions.
Paragraph 130 also seeks to ensure that the quality of an approved development is not
materially diminished between permission and completion through changes to the permitted
scheme.
Other Guidance:
Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard - DLCG - March 2015

3. Consultation comments
County Highways - No objection, subject to conditions (No.5, 6)
Refuse and Waste - No objection
County Flood Risk Authority - No objection

4. Representations
In respect of this application a site notice was displayed at the front of the site. No responses
were received.

5. Determining issues
a) Principle
The site is in a sustainable location and the application is therefore in accordance with policy
LP1 Hastings Local Plan - Development Management (2015) in this respect and acceptable in
principle subject to other local plan policies.
b) Impact on character and appearance of the area
Policy DM1 of the Hastings DM Plan requires that all proposals must reach a good standard of
design, which include efficient use of resources, and takes into account, amongst other things,
protecting and enhancing local character and shows a appreciation of the surrounding
neighbourhood's historic context, street patterns, plot layouts and boundaries, block sizes and
scale, height, massing and materials.
This area of The Ridge is, in the majority, of non-uniform properties made up of a mixture of
building types or varying sizes, heights and designs. It is considered that the conversion will
not change the general character of the area, merely result in an additional unit within the
existing building fabric. The proposed external alterations, namely the introduction of further
box dormers are also considered a sympathetic addition as they retain the chalet style
character of the property. Taking these factors in to account, it is considered that the proposed

Page 104

development is acceptable and meets the aims of the above quoted policy.
c) Loss of existing use
Policy DS1 of Hastings Planning Strategy states that in order to protect the existing stock of
family-sized housing, existing homes should remain as dwellings unless they are unsuitable
for residential use or would be replaced with new residential development. The existing
premises property could easily accommodate a single family, however, due to the overall
scale of the premises being much larger than the average family home, the proposal will still
result in a four bed house along with a further three bed house. Taking this in to account, while
the loss of such a large single family unit is unfortunate, due to the resultant gain of two good
sized units, the loss of a single family dwelling is acceptable in this instance.
Policy H2 of the Hastings Planning Strategy states that planning permission will be granted for
residential development that delivers a balanced mix of housing both within each site, and
across Hastings as a whole. The application proposes to provide a good level of
accommodation and contributes to the overall mix of property types within the surrounding
area.
Taking the above in to account, it is considered that the subdivision of the premises, is
acceptable and meets the aims of the Hastings Development Management Plan and the
Hastings Planning Strategy in respect of housing policies.
d) Impact on neighbouring residential amenities
Policy DM3 of the Hastings Development Management Plan states that in order to achieve a
good living standard for future users of proposed development and its neighbours it should be
demonstrated that amenity has been considered and appropriate solutions have been
incorporated into schemes
It is considered that the occupation of the premises as two units would not be dissimilar to
occupation by a large single family in terms of movements to and from the site and potential
levels of noise. As a result of this, it is considered the proposed use is in keeping with the
residential character of the area and would not have an unacceptable impact on the amenities
of the neighbouring residents.
With regards to the external alterations, the proposed dormer windows are to be located on
the front and rear of the property. The dormers in the rear will face towards the side elevation
of one of the newly erected properties, approved under HS/FA/18/00062, approximately 18
metres away. While the new dormers would result in additional windows at first floor level
facing towards these properties, it is considered that, due to the separation distance along
with the existing levels of fenestration in the rear roof slope, the new dormers would not alter
the relationship between the properties in a detrimental manner.
Similarly, the dormers in the front elevation will face towards No. 815 The Ridge. This property
is over 25 metres from the application property, in an elevated position to the site. As a result
of this, it is considered that the additional dormers would not have a detrimental impact on the
amenities of the residents at No.815.
Taking the above in to account, it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable
and complies with the requirements of Policy DM3 of the Hastings Development Management
Plan, in terms of considering amenity.

Page 105

e) Future residential amenities
Internal:
The proposal has been assessed against the technical housing standards as produced by the
Department for Communities and Local Government. The minimum floor space requirements
for new residential units within this document are as follows;



2 storey, three bedroom unit (Unit R) - 90 - 108m²
2 storey, four bedroom unit (Unit L) - 103 - 130m²

The proposed dwellings at 121.4m² (Unit R) and 119.29m² (Unit L) meet the minimum
requirements respectively and as such are considered acceptable.
The bedrooms within the units have also been assessed and all are large enough to meet the
7.5m² for a single room and those shown as doubles on the proposed plan also meet the
minimum of 11.5m² required for double bedrooms. It should be noted that the smallest room in
Unit R on the first floor is too small to be occupied as a bedroom and as such is to be used as
a study.
External:
Each of the properties are to have a garden to the rear in excess of 17 metres in length. It is
considered that this is acceptable and would ensure adequate external amenity space for
future residents.
Taking the above in to account, it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable
and would provide an acceptable level of accommodation for future residents. The proposal
therefore meets the aims of Policy DM3 of the Hastings Development Management Plan 2015
which requires a minimum of 10 metres of rear garden length.
f) Highway safety/parking
Access:
The proposed dwellings are to be accessed via an existing drive leading from The Ridge to
No.815 and the new development to the rear. The County Highways Authority has reviewed
the proposal and has advised that the access is acceptable and the visibility splay and sight
line in both directions is satisfactory.
Parking Provision:
The ESCC Car Parking Demand Calculator Tool indicates that to serve the two units, a total of
5 on-site parking spaces are required. The existing areas of hardstanding are to be extended
to provide 5 spaces and as such, the parking provision is acceptable.
The County Highways Officer has however noted that the alignment of the 3 spaces fronting
units 817 & 817B would require drivers to make more than one movement to turn. Given the
length of the drive and that access is onto the A2100 it is unlikely that drivers would reverse
to/from The Ridge, but if there is not adequate space residents may choose to park on the
access road. As a result of this, it is suggested that a condition (No.6) be imposed to secure
the final parking arrangement within the site to ensure accessible and functional parking to
serve the new dwellings.
Cycle Parking:
ESCC parking standards requires 2 cycle spaces per dwelling. Cycle parking details have not
been provided however, this is a matter than can be resolved as part of a planning condition
(No.5)

Page 106

Taking the above in to account is it considered that the proposed development would not have
an unacceptable impact on the existing highway network in terms of parking or public safety.
g) Refuse Storage
Refuse and recycling stations have been provided around the site, in easily accessible
locations for future residents. These locations are acceptable and are within a satisfactory
distance to the highway to allow for ease of collection. It is however suggested that a condition
be imposed to ensure that these storage areas are provided and retained thereafter.
h) Drainage
This application seeks permission for the conversion of an existing dwelling to two units. No
drainage details have been provided in relation to drainage provision for the two units,
however, there is an established connection on site as a result of the existing dwelling. While
the lack of any proposed drainage details is unfortunate, it is considered that, due to the
established connections on site, refusal of the proposal would not be justified on this ground.
The County Flood Risk Authority have requested multiple conditions in relation to drainage,
however, as there is an established connection on site, with no ground works or additional
connections proposed it is not considered that these conditions are necessary in this instance.
There will be no increase in surface water given that this is a conversion of an existing
property. As such, surface water drainage solution is not needed to be considered.
i) Site constraints
SSSI IRZ: The scale of development does not fall within the threshold for consultation with
Natural England and as such it is not considered that there will be any impact on SSSIs.

6. Conclusion
The proposed conversion is appropriate in this location and will provide a further family home
in the town, it is considered that the development is therefore acceptable complies with the
Development Plan in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 which states:
"If regard is to be had to the Development Plan for the purpose of any determination to be
made under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise”.
The Human Rights considerations have been taken into account fully in balancing the
planning issues.

7. Recommendation
Grant Full Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans:
4178/19/LBP, 4178/19/3, 4178/19/1-A & 4178/19/EX/A

3.

The materials to be used in the external alterations and extensions hereby

Page 107

permitted shall match those used in the existing building.
4.

With the exception of internal works the building works required to carry out
the development allowed by this permission must only be carried out within
the following times:08.00 - 18.00 Monday to Friday
08.00 - 13.00 on Saturdays
No working on Sundays or Public Holidays.

5.

Prior to completion of the conversion hereby permitted, details of the required
cycle storage units are to be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The storage provision is to then be installed on site
in accordance with the approved details, prior to occupation of the units.

6.

Prior to completion of the conversion hereby permitted, the final arrangement
of the proposed parking area is to be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. These details shall include the following;




The final layout, taking in to account the comments from the County
Highways Authority
The hard landscaping materials proposed
The method for dealing with surface water run-off

The development shall then be completed in accordance with the approved
details.
Reasons:
1.

This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2.

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3.

To ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

4.

To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residents.

5.

To ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

6.

To ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

Notes to the Applicant
1.

Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result in
enforcement action without further warning.

2.

Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Page 108

3.

A formal application for connection to the public foul sewerage system is
required in order to service this development, please contact Southern Water:
Developer Services, Southern Water, Southern House, Sparrowgrove,
Otterbourne, Hampshire, SO21 2SW. Tel: 0330 303 0119. E-mail:
developerservices@southernwater.co.uk.

4.

The maximum gradient of the private drive should not exceed 1 in 9.

5.

The applicant is reminded that the study within the right hand unit, at first floor
level is too small to be occupied as a bedroom.

_____________________________________________________________________

Officer to Contact
Mrs E Meppem, Telephone 01424 783288

Background Papers
Application No: HS/FA/19/00179 including all letters and documents

Page 109

This page is intentionally left blank

39

19

1a

TCBs
1

Shelter

EN
S
12

10
9
York
7 6
WEL
Build
ings
LING

18 to 21

HAR

3

TCBs

TCB
17 16

TON

PLA
CE

14

8

6

4

47

Square

Wellington
Baptist Church

ARD E
N

S

5

4

TCB

13

1

9

Thrift

11

8

1 to 7

Subway

5

6

CE
PLA

18 19

PEL
HAM
STR
EET

7

PLA
CE

OLD

House

El Sub Sta

42

17

ST
RE 9 1
11
2 ET
3

13

YORK
G

16

Robertson Street

Court

El Sub Sta

24

(PH)

Homedane House

The Carlisle

8

1 to 43
The Queen's Apartments

29
20

38

Cinema

6

AD

15 1
4 13

1 to 3

SS
EL
L

20
82
07

RO

21
12
10

LB

2

PH
54 to 56 58 59 60 61

4

QU
E

21
2

4
5 6
Bank Buildin
gs

1

Shelter
27b

5

O
ALBERT R

27

29

3

31

6

8

4

PH

PH

33

27 a

Hall

7

3

26

35

Central

3

RU

PH

El Sub Sta

PH

1

The Turret

2

37

37

14

4

Town Hall

5a

Exchange

Hastings

PH
57

1
Que 1 9 7
ens
Aven
ue

ET

6a 7 8

Telephone

ST
RE

36

20
5
Ri
sin
g
Bo
lla
rd

DL
E

Shelter

5

El Sub Sta

1

AD

MI
D

1

El Sub Sta

25
b

15
16
17

3

22

25
a

4

Shelters

41

Queens Square

13
a

±

6

26
27

Agenda
Item
6d rights [2019]. OS [100021328]
© Crown Copyright
and database

9

DENM
y
Subwa

12-13 York Buildings
Wellington Place
Hastings
TN34 1NY

Date: May 2019
Scale: 1:1,250

Application No. HS/CD/18/00487

P
ARK

LAC E

0

10

20

30

40
Meters

Discharge of condition 4 (external windows and door details) of
Planning Permission HS/FA/16/00660

Assistant Director Housing & Built Environment
Hastings Borough Council,
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451090
email: planning@hastings.gov.uk
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Page 111

This page is intentionally left blank

AGENDA ITEM NO: 6 (d)
Report to:

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting:

06 June 2019

Report from:

Assistant Director of Housing and Built Environment

Application Address:

12-13 York Buildings, Wellington Place,
Hastings, TN34 1NY
Discharge of condition 4 (external windows and
door details) of Planning Permission
HS/FA/16/00660
HS/CD/18/00487

Proposal:
Application No:
Recommendation:
Ward:
Conservation Area:
Listed Building:

CASTLE 2018
Yes - Hastings Town Centre
Grade II

Applicant:

Hastings Borough Council per Mackellar Schwerdt
Architects The Old Library Albion Street Lewes
BN7 2ND

Public Consultation
Site Notice:
Press Advertisement:
Letters of Objection:
Petitions of Objection Received:
Letters of Support:
Petitions of Support Received:
Neutral comments received
Application Status:

No
No
0
0
0
0
0
Not delegated Council application on Council owned land

1. Site and surrounding area
12-13 York Buildings is a large, late-Georgian Grade II listed building, with distinctive black
mathematical tiles to the upper floors of the building frontage. The ground floor frontage of the
building is a shop unit occupied by Millets. The rear of the building faces onto York Gardens.
The building sits within the Hastings Town Centre Conservation Area.
The immediate area is made up of a mixture of buildings with commercial uses at ground floor
level, with residential and offices above.

Page 113

Listing
Early C19. Painted mathematical tiles. Hipped tiled roof. 4 storeys. 4 windows. 2 segmental
bowed bay windows of 3 light sashes with glazing bars, each from the 1st to the 3rd floors,
originally curved, but flat sashes have now been substituted for the original curved sashes,
though the glazing bars have been retained. On each floor 2 centre sashes with glazing bars,
1st floor tall. Small paired brackets to eaves soffit. Ground floor very large modern shop front
with large fascia up to 1st floor bays.
Nos 11, 12, 13 and 14 form a group, of which Nos 11 and 14 are of local interest only.
Constraints





Flooding Groundwater
Flooding surface Water 1 in 1000
Flood Zone 2
Archaeological Notification area

2. Proposed development
The application proposes to discharge condition 4 (external windows and door details) of
Planning Permission HS/FA/16/00660 (Alteration works to ground floor stair and to three
upper storeys of existing building and conversion into six flats for residential accommodation)
Condition 4 states:
"No works shall commence until the following details have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority
a) external windows and doors
Works shall be carried out in accordance with the details approved and no occupation of any
building approved shall occur until those works have been completed"

The application is supported by the following documents:


Planning Statement

Relevant planning history
HS/CD/18/00487 Discharge of condition 4 (external windows and door details) of Planning
Permission HS/FA/16/00660
Not yet determined
HS/FA/16/00660 Alteration works to ground floor stair and to three upper storeys of
existing building and conversion into six flats for residential
accommodation (Application HS/LB/16/00661 also applies)
Permission with conditions on 20/01/17

Page 114

HS/LB/16/00661 Alteration works to ground floor stair and to three upper storeys of
existing building and conversion into six flats for residential
accommodation (Application HS/FA/16/00660 also applies)
Listed Building Consent with Conditions on 20/01/17
HS/LB/13/00172 Structural repairs to front elevation and maintenance repairs to external
areas
Listed Building Consent with Conditions on 03/05/13
HS/FA/03/00171 ALTERATIONS TO FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD FLOORS TO FORM
5 FLATS
Permission with conditions on 19/06/03
HS/LB/03/00170 ALTERATIONS TO FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD FLOORS TO FORM
5 FLATS
Listed Building Consent with Conditions on 19/06/03
HS/FA/01/00789 ALTERATIONS TO SHOPFRONT AND REAR ELEVATIONS
Permission with conditions on 31/01/02
HS/LB/01/00680 INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL ALTERATIONS TO REAR OF BUILDING
AT BASEMENT, GROUND AND FIRST FLOORS. ALTERATIONS TO
SHOPFRONT ENTRANCE DOORS
Listed Building Consent with Conditions on 31/01/02
HS/FA/00/00015 CHANGE OF USE OF BASEMENT, GROUND AND FIRST FLOORS
FROM A1 AND OFFICES TO A3 FOOD AND DRINK
Permission with conditions on 02/03/00

National and Local Policies
Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy 2014
Policy FA2 - Strategic Policy for Central Area
Policy FA3 - Strategy for Hastings Town Centre
Policy EN1 - Built and Historic Environment
Policy SC1 - Overall Strategy for Managing Change in a Sustainable Way
Hastings Local Plan – Development Management Plan 2015
Policy LP1 - Considering planning applications
Policy DM1 - Design Principles
Policy DM3 - General Amenity
Policy HN1 - Development Affecting the Significance and Setting of Designated Heritage
Assets

Page 115

Policy HN2 - Changing Doors, Windows and Roofs in Conservation Areas
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Paragraph 11 sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable development and states
that development proposals which accord with the Development Plan should be approved
without delay.
Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. Three dimensions of sustainability given in paragraph 8 are to be sought jointly:
economic (by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and
at the right time to support growth and innovation); social (providing housing, creating high
quality environment with accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to,
protecting and enhancing natural, built and historic environment) whilst paragraph 9 advises
that plans and decisions need to take local circumstances into account, so they respond to the
different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different areas.
Section 12 of the NPPF sets out the requirement for good design in development. Paragraph
124 states: "The creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the
planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities."
Paragraph 127 of the NPPF requires that decisions should ensure developments:
 Function well;
 Add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of that development;
 Are visually attractive in terms of:
 Layout
 Architecture
 Landscaping
 Are sympathetic to local character/history whilst not preventing change or innovation;
 Maintain a strong sense of place having regard to:
 Building types
 Materials
 Arrangement of streets
 Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate number and mix of
development;
 Create safe places with a high standard of amenity for future and existing users
Paragraph 130 states permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails
to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the
way that it functions.
Paragraph 130 also seeks to ensure that the quality of an approved development is not
materially diminished between permission and completion through changes to the permitted
scheme.

3. Consultation comments

Page 116

Hastings Borough Council (Conservation Officer) - no objection
The Conservation Officer has been heavily involved in the assessment of the plans submitted
to discharge these conditions, and is satisfied that the amended drawings meet the
requirements for the condition to be partially discharged, subject to further detail at a later
date. This will not inhibit works starting on site.

4. Representations
Comments are not invited on discharge of condition applications.

5. Determining issues
The main issue to be considered in the determination of this application is the impact of the
works on the character and appearance of the area, given the listed status of the building and
the site's location in a conservation area.
a) Principle
The site is in a sustainable location and the application is therefore in accordance with Policy
LP1 Hastings Local Plan - Development Management (2015) in this respect and acceptable in
principle subject to other local plan policies.
b) Impact on character and appearance of the area and Hastings Town Centre Conservation
Area
The front of the building was restored, some years ago, with grant aid, which was used to
restore the mathematical tiles. However, the building interior and rear elevation are still in a
poor condition. There are structural problems running down through the building, many doors
and floors are crooked, the upper floors of the building have been severely affected by damp
ingress, the wall, floor and ceiling finishes are generally in a poor condition. The upper floors
of the building have been vacant for many years and are slowly deteriorating. It is therefore
vital to the long-term survival of the listed building that the deterioration of the building is
arrested, and that a new use is found for the upper floors.
Listed building consent (HS/LB/16/00661) and planning permission (HS/FA/16/00660) were
granted in January 2017 for the conversion of the upper floors of the listed building into 6 selfcontained flats. This current application seeks to discharge condition 4 (details of windows
and external doors) on the planning application HS/FA/16/00660. This is the only condition
that needs to be discharged on this consent.
Condition 4 states:
"No works shall commence until the following details have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority
a) external windows and doors
Works shall be carried out in accordance with the details approved and no occupation of any
building approved shall occur until those works have been completed"
The final plans received are successful in achieving the conversion whilst retaining enough of

Page 117

the essential character of the building. The proposed new external doors to the rear elevation
are a significant improvement over the current modern doors, and so they will enhance the
street scene in this part of the Conservation Area. The new windows are high up the building
and not easily visible from ground floor level. The proposed new timber, slender-section
casement windows to the second floor are an improvement over the existing relatively
modern, Crittal-type windows, and much more in keeping with the character of the building.
However, joinery details relating to the new windows remain outstanding. These will need to
be approved at a later stage to allow for a full survey of the existing window and fanlight
characteristics, prior to fixing on the details for the new joinery. It is reasonable for the final
agreement to the joinery details of the upper floor fenestration to be deferred until full
information regarding the condition and detailed design of the existing windows and fanlight.
In principle however (and despite of the outstanding information required) the proposals will
enhance the character and appearance of York Gardens and the surrounding Hastings Town
Centre Conservation Area. The details submitted comply with the requirements of the NPPF in
terms of the need to conserve heritage assets. The details submitted are also in accordance
with the requirements of adopted local plan policies EN1 and HN1.
c) Environmental Impact Assessment
The National Planning Practice Guidance (Paragraph: 017 Reference ID: 4-017-20170728)
states that "Projects which are described in the first column of Schedule 2 but which do not
exceed the relevant thresholds, or meet the criteria in the second column of the Schedule, or
are not at least partly in a sensitive area, are not Schedule 2 development."
This development is not within a sensitive area as defined by Regulation 2 (1) of the Town and
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 and does not
exceed the thresholds of schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) Regulations 2017.

6. Conclusion
The submitted details are of sufficient quality to allow the commencement of works. However ,
further joinery details relating to the new windows will need to be submitted following a full
survey of the exiting window and fanlight characteristics to determine their condition, prior to
deciding on the details for the new joinery. In this instance therefore, condition 4 can be
partly discharged, and the proposals comply with the Development Plan in accordance with
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which states:
"If regard is to be had to the Development Plan for the purpose of any determination to be
made under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise”.
The Human Rights considerations have been taken into account fully in balancing the
planning issues.

7. Recommendation

Page 118

Condition 4 of planning permission HS/FA/16/00660 can be partly discharged. Joinery
details for the new windows remain outstanding.

_____________________________________________________________________

Officer to Contact
Mrs S Wood, Telephone 01424 783329

Background Papers
Application No: HS/CD/18/00487 including all letters and documents

Page 119

This page is intentionally left blank

39

27

Shelter
27b

RO

Robertson Street
1a

TCBs
1

Shelter

29
20

19

EN
S
12

18 to 21

HAR

3

TCBs

8

42

17

6

4

6

47

SS
EL
L

YORK
G

10

9

7 6
York
WEL
Build
ings
LING
TON
PLA
CE
TCB

17 16

14

Square

Wellington
Baptist Church

ARD E
N

S

5

4

TCB

13

1

9

Thrift

11

8

1 to 7

Subway

5

6

CE
PLA

18

PEL
HAM
STR
EET

7

PLA
CE

OLD

House

El Sub Sta

Castle

El Sub Sta

24

(PH)

Homedane House

The Carlisle

8

1 to 43
The Queen's Apartments

RU

Cinema

5

AD

15 1
4 13

1 to 3

ST
RE 9 1
11
3
2 ET

13

20
82
07

21
12
10

QU
E

21
2

4
5 6
Bank Buildin
gs

2

PH
54 to 56 58 59 60 61

4

LB

3

1

6

8

16

27 a

29

7

O
ALBERT R

PH

31

3

4

26

PH

33

Central

Hall

PH

1

The Turret

3

25

35

38

14

PH

El Sub Sta

5a

4

Town Hall

1
Que 1 9 7
ens
Aven
ue

Exchange

Hastings

PH
57

20
5
Ri
sin
g
Bo
lla
rd

ET

2

Shelter

37

37

36

6a 7 8

Telephone

ST
RE

Shelter

5

El Sub Sta

DL
E

1

AD

MI
D

1

El Sub Sta

25
b

15
16
17

3

22

25
a

4

Shelters

41

Queens Square

13
a

±

6

26
27

Agenda
Item
6e rights [2019]. OS [100021328]
© Crown Copyright
and database

9

DENM
y
Subwa

12-13 York Buildings
Wellington Place
Hastings
TN34 1NY

LAC E

0

10

20

30

40
Meters

Discharge of conditions 3 (methodology statement) and 4 (details of balustrades,
proposals of staircase, surfacing works, installation of ventilations, smoke vent and
other additional structural work as required. Details of new floor boards and window
and door joinery details and schedule.) of Listed Building consent HS/LB/16/00661

Date: May 2019
Scale: 1:1,250

P
ARK

Application No. HS/CD/18/00490

Assistant Director Housing & Built Environment
Hastings Borough Council,
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451090
email: planning@hastings.gov.uk
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Page 121

This page is intentionally left blank

AGENDA ITEM NO: 6 (e)
Report to:

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting:

06 June 2019

Report from:

Assistant Director of Housing and Built Environment

Application Address:

12-13 York Buildings, Wellington Place,
Hastings, TN34 1NY
Discharge of conditions 3 (methodology
statement) and 4 (details of balustrades,
proposals of staircase, surfacing works,
installation of ventilations, smoke vent and any
other additional structural work as required.
Details of new floor boards and window and
door joinery details and schedule.) of Listed
Building consent HS/LB/16/00661
HS/CD/18/00490

Proposal:

Application No:
Recommendation:
Ward:
Conservation Area:
Listed Building:

CASTLE 2018
Yes - Hastings Town Centre
Grade II

Applicant:

Hastings Borough Council per Mackellar Schwerdt
Architects The Old Library Albion Street Lewes
BN7 2ND

Public Consultation
Site Notice:
Press Advertisement:
Letters of Objection:
Petitions of Objection Received:
Letters of Support:
Petitions of Support Received:
Neutral comments received
Application Status:

No
No
0
0
0
0
0
Not delegated Council application on Council owned land

1. Site and surrounding area
12-13 York Buildings is a large, late-Georgian Grade II listed building, with distinctive black
mathematical tiles to the upper floors of the building frontage. The ground floor frontage of the
building is a shop unit occupied by Millets. The rear of the building faces onto York Gardens.

Page 123

The building sits within the Hastings Town Centre Conservation Area.
The immediate area is made up of a mixture of buildings with commercial uses at ground floor
level, with residential and offices above.
Listing
Early C19. Painted mathematical tiles. Hipped tiled roof. 4 storeys. 4 windows. 2 segmental
bowed bay windows of 3 light sashes with glazing bars, each from the 1st to the 3rd floors,
originally curved, but flat sashes have now been substituted for the original curved sashes,
though the glazing bars have been retained. On each floor 2 centre sashes with glazing bars,
1st floor tall. Small paired brackets to eaves soffit. Ground floor very large modern shop front
with large fascia up to 1st floor bays.
Nos 11, 12, 13 and 14 form a group, of which Nos 11 and 14 are of local interest only.

2. Proposed development
This application proposed to discharge conditions 3 (methodology statement) and 4 (details of
balustrades, proposals of staircase, surfacing works, installation of ventilations, smoke vent
and any other additional structural work as required. Details of new floor boards and window
and door joinery details and schedule.) of Listed Building consent HS/LB/16/00661 (alteration
works to ground floor stair and to three upper storeys of existing building and conversion into
six flats for residential accommodation)
Condition 3 states:
"Prior to the commencement of the works, a methodology statement outlining the proposals
for the protection of the original architectural features of the listed building, through the
construction phase, shall be submitted to the Council for prior approval. This methodology
statement shall include details of the proposed physical protection measures to limit any
damage to the original internal features and also details of a proposed safe storage area
where original features (such as internal doors, skirting boards and floor boards) that need to
be temporarily removed in order facilitate the works can be safely stored, for re-fitting later
during the construction phases. All original architectural items removed must be clearly
labelled to ensure that they can be returned to their original or agreed alternative site, as
appropriate."
Condition 4 states:
"No works shall commence until the following details have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority:
a) Full details of the proposed new metal balustrade to the lower levels of the main entrance
staircase. Details to include an elevation of a section of the proposed balustrade at 1:10
scale and larger scale details, including sections of the handrail, newels, balusters (if any)
and rail profiles at a suggested scale of 1:2.
b) Full joinery details for any new windows and internal or external doors, including the
frames, architraves and fanlights. Elevational details shall be provided at 1:10 scale, along
with 1:2 or full size horizontal and vertical cross-sections through each door or window type
c) A door and window schedule to detail the following :

Page 124

 confirmation of the locations where relocated or spare original doors are to be re-used,
 details of any door closures or upgrading of the door fabric required to meet fire safety
standards
 full details of all other door or window furniture proposed (including samples)
 full details of the proposed reinstated roof light to Room F7 (if any re-construction is
necessary).
d) Full details of the proposals to enclose the eastern staircase shall be provided, including
full drawn information, in section and plan, explaining how the proposed partitions will be
fixed in place in relation to the original staircase, details of any points of intersection or
fixing to the original staircase, or to adjacent walls, floors or ceilings, and any modification
required to the staircase to enable the partitions to go in. A mitigation statement shall be
provided to explain what measures have been taken to limit the harm to the staircase
through these partitioning works. For clarification, it is a requirement that the eastern
staircase shall be partitioned off in such a way that no part of the original staircase shall be
cut into or damaged to achieve the partitioning and that all works are fully reversible
without harming the original stair.
e) Full details of any additional works to the listed building, required to meet the Building
Regulations standards, where these do not form part of the current detailed proposals.
This includes any additional fire safety works or proposed improvements to the acoustic
performance between the individual flats and between the flats and the ground floor shop.
f) Full details of any additional structural works to the listed building that do not form part of
the current proposals but that are necessary to achieve the conversion.
g) Full details of the proposed making good of wall, floor and ceiling surfaces, and to the
staircase, following on from the approved structural interventions in the building.
h) Full details of any new external flues, bathroom and kitchen extracts (including roof
terminals), intercoms, security lights, etc. that will be visible on the exterior of the building.
This information to include the proposed locations, size, appearance, materials and
finishes.
a) Full details of the proposed smoke vent at the top of the staircase, including internal and
external elevations, section details, and the proposed materials and finishes. The works
shall be carried out in accordance with the details approved under this condition.
b) Full details of all new floor boards including species, width and depth.
The application is supported by the following documents:



Methodology statement
Planning statement

Relevant planning history
HS/CD/18/00487 Discharge of condition 4 (external windows and door details) of Planning
Permission HS/FA/16/00660
Not yet determined
HS/FA/16/00660 Alteration works to ground floor stair and to three upper storeys of
existing building and conversion into six flats for residential

Page 125

accommodation (Application HS/LB/16/00661 also applies)
Permission with conditions on 20/01/17
HS/LB/16/00661 Alteration works to ground floor stair and to three upper storeys of
existing building and conversion into six flats for residential
accommodation (Application HS/FA/16/00660 also applies)
Listed Building Consent with Conditions on 20/01/17
HS/LB/13/00172 Structural repairs to front elevation and maintenance repairs to external
areas
Listed Building Consent with Conditions on 03/05/13
HS/FA/03/00171 ALTERATIONS TO FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD FLOORS TO FORM
5 FLATS
Permission with conditions on 19/06/03
HS/LB/03/00170 ALTERATIONS TO FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD FLOORS TO FORM
5 FLATS
Listed Building Consent with Conditions on 19/06/03
HS/FA/01/00789 ALTERATIONS TO SHOPFRONT AND REAR ELEVATIONS
Permission with conditions on 31/01/02
HS/LB/01/00680 INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL ALTERATIONS TO REAR OF BUILDING
AT BASEMENT, GROUND AND FIRST FLOORS. ALTERATIONS TO
SHOPFRONT ENTRANCE DOORS
Listed Building Consent with Conditions on 31/01/02
HS/FA/00/00015 CHANGE OF USE OF BASEMENT, GROUND AND FIRST FLOORS
FROM A1 AND OFFICES TO A3 FOOD AND DRINK
Permission with conditions on 02/03/00
National and Local Policies
Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy 2014
Policy EN1 - Built and Historic Environment
Hastings Local Plan – Development Management Plan 2015
Policy HN1 - Development Affecting the Significance and Setting of Designated Heritage
Assets (including Conservation Areas)
Policy HN2 - Changing Doors, Windows and Roofs in Conservation Areas
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Page 126

Section 12 of the NPPF sets out the requirement for good design in development. Paragraph
124 states: "The creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the
planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities."
Paragraph 127 of the NPPF requires that decisions should ensure developments:
 Function well;
 Add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of that development;
 Are visually attractive in terms of:
 Layout
 Architecture
 Landscaping
 Are sympathetic to local character/history whilst not preventing change or innovation;
 Maintain a strong sense of place having regard to:
 Building types
 Materials
 Arrangement of streets
 Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate number and mix of
development;
 Create safe places with a high standard of amenity for future and existing users
Paragraph 130 states permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails
to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the
way that it functions.
Paragraph 130 also seeks to ensure that the quality of an approved development is not
materially diminished between permission and completion through changes to the permitted
scheme.
Paragraph 189 (of Section 16. "Conserving and enhancing the historic environment") states:
"In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an applicant to describe
the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their
setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets' importance and no more than
is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance. As a
minimum the relevant historic environment record should have been consulted and the
heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where necessary. Where a site on
which development is proposed includes, or has the potential to include, heritage assets with
archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require developers to submit an
appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation."
Paragraph 190 states: "Local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular
significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by
development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence
and any necessary expertise. They should take this into account when considering the impact
of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise any conflict between the heritage
asset's conservation and any aspect of the proposal."
Paragraph 192 states: "In determining applications, Local Planning Authorities should take
account of:
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

Page 127

b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable
communities including their economic vitality; and
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and
distinctiveness."
Paragraph 193 states: When considering the impact of a proposed development on the
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than
substantial harm to its significance.
Paragraph 194 states: "Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset
(from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear
and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of:
a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, should be exceptional;
b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected wreck sites,
registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and
gardens, and World Heritage Sites, should be wholly exceptional."
Paragraph 196 states: "Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm
to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the
public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use."
Paragraph 200 states: "Local Planning Authorities should look for opportunities for new
development within Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites, and within the setting of
heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those
elements of the setting that make a positive contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its
significance) should be treated favourably."

3. Consultation comments
Hastings Borough Council (Conservation) - No objection
The Conservation Officer has been heavily involved in the assessment of the plans submitted
to discharge these conditions, and is satisfied that the amended drawings meet the
requirements for the conditions to be partially discharged.

4. Representations
Comments are not invited on discharge of condition applications.

5. Determining issues
In determining listed building applications consideration needs to be given to matters of
heritage. Permission will be given for those schemes that show a full understanding of the
significance of the asset and convincingly demonstrate how their chosen design sustains and
enhances the significance of any heritage assets affected.
It is therefore important to determine how the proposed works will affect the significance and
setting of this Grade II listed building, as well as the impact on the surrounding conservation

Page 128

area.
a) Heritage
The front of the building was restored, some years ago, with grant aid, which was used to
restore the mathematical tiles. However, the building interior and rear elevation are still in a
poor condition.
There are structural problems running down through the building, many doors and floors are
crooked, the upper floors of the building have been severely affected by damp ingress, the
wall, floor and ceiling finishes are generally in a poor condition. The upper floors of the
building have been vacant for many years and are slowly deteriorating. It is therefore vital to
the long-term survival of the listed building that the deterioration of the building is arrested,
and that a new use is found for the upper floors.
Listed building consent (HS/LB/16/00661) was granted in January 2017 for the conversion of
the upper floors of the listed building into 6 self-contained flats. This current application seeks
to discharge the majority of the conditions relating to that consent. A process of negotiation
has taken place regarding the detail of the proposed works to convert the listed building. The
building was previously 2 houses, and converting it into 6 self-contained flats brings with it
extensive internal alterations, particularly to protect residents from the risk of the spread of
fire. As the building is also in a poor physical state, wide ranging structural repairs and
improvements to the fabric of the building are required in order to make it habitable. The
challenge has been to design these changes in such a way that the historic character of the
listed building still survives.
It is considered that the current amended scheme will be successful in achieving the
conversion whilst retaining enough of the essential character of the building. The scheme as
recommended for approval will secure the structural stability of the buildings and deliver
significant restoration works to room interiors. There have had to be compromises in some
areas to meet the fire safety standards, but this has been achieved in a way that is least
damaging to building character. The scheme will secure the long term survival of this
prominent town centre building. Securing the use of the upper floors is the best way to ensure
that the building will be maintained in the long-term.
Specific comments in relation to each conditions are set out below:
Condition 3 (methodology statement)
The submitted methodology statement for the protection and repair of Architectural features
during the works (Mackellar Schwerdt Architects, MSA/8971/J-K), provides for the protection
of original features in so far as it relates to:









Internal doors.
Door frames.
Skirtings.
Architraves.
Existing windows.
Floorboards
Staircases.
Existing fire surrounds.

Page 129



Plaster and Plaster cornices.

However, further details will need to be agreed with an appointed contractor once works have
started on site - the information given in the statement provides a set of principles only, and
therefore, further to the location of the safe storage areas and proposals regarding the
protection of original features during construction works. This will not prevent a start on site,
providing that no stripping out of architectural features in undertaken prior to full discharge of
this condition.
Condition 4 (details of balustrades, proposals of staircase, surfacing works, installation
of ventilations, smoke vent and any other additional structural work as required. Details
of new floor boards and window and door joinery details and schedule)
4a) Metal balustrade to entrance staircase
The original access stair to the first floor had already been replaced with a modern steel
staircase as part of an earlier conversion of the building. The proposed balustrade details,
whilst modern, are relatively slender and elegant and are considered to be appropriate for use
on the modern part of the rear access stair. This element of the condition can therefore be
discharged (drawing 150).
4b) Joinery details
Amended plans were requested as some of the joinery details as originally submitted were not
considered to be appropriate for this historic building. These have subsequently been
agreed that some minor joinery details can be approved, at a later stage during the
development. This is to allow full survey of the existing door and window characteristics, prior
to fixing on the details for the new joinery.
Otherwise the submitted joinery details, and all ironmongery details are acceptable.
Condition 4(b) can be part-discharged. The outstanding details relate to:




Windows TW05 and TW10
Fanlight
Detail of internal door architrave profiles

Details of the new third floor windows will be confirmed, once access to the original windows is
available to carry out a full condition and detailed design survey of the existing windows. The
final designs will be agreed following the site inspection of the original windows. This is a
reasonable approach to ensure that the detailed designs are historically accurate.
Overall, it is considered that the architect has worked hard to minimise any harm to original
features and, on balance, it is considered that the scheme will conserve the heritage asset.
The works comply with the requirements of the NPPF in terms of the need to conserve
heritage assets, in so far as the condition can be discharged at this point. The works are also
in accordance with the requirements of adopted Local Plan policies EN1 and HN1.
4c) Door and window schedule
Information is satisfactory to discharge this element of the condition, in accordance with

Page 130

drawing 8933/141A.
4d) Eastern staircase enclosure details
Proposals acceptable. The fabric of the original staircase will not be harmed through the
proposed free-standing partitioning off of the stairway. The works will be fully reversible
should the opportunity arise to bring the staircase back into use in the future. Drawings 152,
153 and 154 are therefore approved and this element of the condition can be discharged.
4e) Works required to comply with the Building Regulations
Proposals for upgrading the floors to improve fire protection are confirmed as acceptable as
they will be generally contained within the floor voids and will not disrupt the original lath and
plaster ceilings or floor boards. In the stair halls a suspended ceiling is being proposed to
accommodate the building services. This is considered to be an acceptable solution for
keeping the service pipes relatively hidden and discrete. Proposals for providing sound
insulation between flats will result in a minimal 18mm build up above the retained floor board
level, and the proposed insulation will be made of natural, breathable materials such as wood
fibre board and lime plaster, which is acceptable.
Details of the sprinkler system remain outstanding. The specification of the sprinkler system
is quite technical and will need to be carried out by a specialist sub-contractor. It is too early
in the project for this element of the proposals to be specified in detail so the architect has
asked that this item be dealt with at a later stage, once the sub-contractor is on board.
Condition 4(e) can therefore, be part discharged.
4f) Additional structural works
The proposed structural works are appropriate to the listed building. They will secure the
long-term stability of the structure without harming the special interest of the listed building.
Condition 4(f) can be discharged.
4g) Details of making good
The interior of the building is in a poor physical state of repair. There is extensive damp
penetration and structural movement which have caused damage to internal linings. The
proposed remedial works aim to repair the damage and restore many of the original wall, floor
and ceiling finishes.
Proposed remedial works to the existing historic wall linings, floors and ceilings are
acceptable.
Condition 4(g) can be discharged.
4h) Flues, intercoms, security lights etc
There are no security lights proposed as part of this application. The proposed intercom unit
and extract vents are acceptable. The intercom system should however, be flush mounted to
the existing wall. In terms of the kitchen extract ducts, they will be sited on an internal valley

Page 131

that is not easily visible from the street, and are therefore acceptable. The boiler flue
terminal positions are all on the rear elevation, and as such, are now considered acceptable.
This element of the condition can now be discharged.
4i) Smoke vent details
The proposed vent sits flush to the roof and it will be sited on an internal roof slope, so as to be
less visible. The proposed vent and the details shown on drawing 8933-123 are confirmed as
acceptable, and this element of the condition can therefore be discharged.
4j) Details of new floor boards
The planning statement (revision A) sets out that the boards proposed are a close match to
the original boards. This element of the condition can therefore be discharged (document
MSA/8733 dated 23/04/19)

8. Conclusion
The proposed works to the listed building are considered acceptable and will not cause harm
to the significance and setting of the listed building or the wider conservation area. The
proposal therefore complies with the Development Plan in accordance with Section 18 of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.
The Human Rights considerations have been taken into account fully in balancing the
planning issues.

9. Recommendation
Condition 3 can be partially discharged, subject to further detail on the location of the
safe storage areas and proposals regarding the protection of original features during
construction works.
Condtion 4 can be partically discharged, as follows:
4(a) - discharged
4(b) - partially discharged, subject to additional window, fanlight and architrave profile
details
4(c) - discharged
4(d) - discharged
4(e) - partially discharged, subject to details of the sprinkler system
4(f) - discharged
4(g) - discharged
4(h) - discharged
4(i) - discharged
4(j) - discharged

Page 132

____________________________________________________________________

Officer to Contact
Mrs S Wood, Telephone 01424 783329

Background Papers
Application No: HS/CD/18/00490 including all letters and documents

Page 133

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Agenda Item:

Report to:

Planning Committee

Date:

06 June 2019

Report from:

Planning Services Manager

Title of report:

PLANNING APPEALS & DELEGATED DECISIONS

Purpose of report:

To inform the Planning Committee of any planning appeals that
have been lodged, of any decisions received from the Planning
Inspectorate and the number of delegated decisions made
between 18/04/2019 to 22/05/2019

Recommendations:

That the report be noted

The following appeals have been received:
Address/
Application
Number
Mill Farm, Mill
Lane, Hastings,
TN35 5DP

Proposal

PSM’s
Rec.

Proposed extensions
and improvements to
dwelling, including
addition of balcony
HS/FA/18/00952 and new parking &
turning area with
retaining wall.
Garages
Demolition of existing
Wellington Mews garages and erection
(Rear of 79/82
of 2 No. 2 bedroom
Queens Road),
dwellings with parking
Formerly known under.
as 18-20
Wellington
Mews,
Hastings, TN34
1QJ

Where the
decision was
made

Type of
Appeal

Refuse
planning
permission

Delegated

Planning

Refuse
planning
permission

Delegated

Planning

HS/FA/18/01060

Page 135

The following appeals have been allowed:
Nothing to report
The following appeals have been dismissed:
Address/
Application
Number

Proposal

PSM’s
Rec.

2 Cambridge
Road, Hastings,
TN34 1DJ

Change of use of
upper ground floor
from B1 (Office) to C3
(Flat)

Refuse
planning
permission

Delegated

Planning

Erection of fence
(retrospective)

Refuse
planning
permission

Delegated

Planning

Variation of conditions
5 (hard landscaping)
and 7 (soft
landscaping) of
Planning Permission
HS/FA/13/00006
(Creation of additional
3 flats to the
approved 8 flats
within the former
public house, The
Malvern,
incorporating the
extension granted
permission under
reference
HS/FA/10/00882)
Proposed first floor
side extension

Refuse
planning
permission

Delegated

Planning

Refuse
planning
permission

Delegated

Planning

HS/FA/18/00512
The Malvern,
Malvern Way,
Hastings, TN34
3PX
HS/FA/18/00161
The Malvern,
Malvern Way,
Hastings, TN34
3PX
HS/FA/18/00160

35 Heron Close,
St Leonards-onsea, TN38 8DX
HS/FA/18/01089

Page 136

Where the
decision was
made

Type of
Appeal

Type of Delegated Decision
Granted Permission
General PD (Approval)
Raise no Objection
Refused Permission
Prior Approval Approved
Self Certificate - Permitted
Total

Number of Decisions
66
1
1
8
2
1
79

Background Papers:
Various correspondences with Planning Inspectorate
Report written by:
Courtney Dade – Tel: (01424) 783268
Email: planning@hastings.gov.uk

Page 137

This page is intentionally left blank

